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This is a children’s painting rich in Chinese cultural elements that is full of imagination and creativity. The
painting depicts several of China’s landmark buildings, such as the Oriental Pearl Tower in Shanghai,
the Canton Tower in Guangzhou and the Bank of China Tower in Hong Kong, as well as a lively Chinese
dragon or Loong soaring in the sky. There are two children wearing traditional costumes, one holding
the national flag and the other the regional flag of Hong Kong, standing on a pathway decorated
with lanterns showing the warm atmosphere of Chinese festivals. The whole painting is bright and
colorful with a thoughtful composition and layout, and reflects the children’s passion and pride for their
motherland.

“Using the paintbrush as a tool to depict cultural heritage”

The Loong is the symbol of the Chinese nation. It has a vibrant and majestic appearance, and
possesses strength beyond compare. It is a fearless spirit that bestows its blessings across the four
seas. It not only symbolizes the spiritual lineage of the Chinese nation’s relentless determination
for improvement and progress over the past five thousand years, but also carries the firm will and
aspirations of hundreds of millions of Chinese people to build a strong nation and in the process foster
a new Chinese renaissance of the modern era.
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Asout CMC REIT
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REIT PROFILE

CMC REIT

China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust
(“China Merchants Commercial REIT” or “CMC REIT”) is
a real estate investment trust constituted by the trust deed
(“Trust Deed”) entered into between China Merchants Land Asset
Management Co., Limited, the manager of CMC REIT (“REIT
Manager” or “Manager”), and DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited,
the trustee of CMC REIT (“Trustee”), on 15 November 2019. The
units of CMC REIT (“Units”, and each a “Unit”) were listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 10
December 2019 (“Listing Date”).

China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited

The REIT Manager was incorporated in Hong Kong on 22 June
2019, with the sole purpose of managing the assets of CMC REIT.
The REIT Manager is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Merchants Land Limited (stock code: 00978).

OUR MISSION

CMC REIT’s key objectives are to provide investors with stable and
sustainable distributions and to achieve long term capital growth.
This aim of providing attractive total returns will be achieved
by proactive management of the properties in the CMC REIT’s
portfolio.
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BEIJING it

ONWARD SCIENCE & SHENZHEN SHEKOU EHilit O
TRADE CENTER TECHNOLOGY TECHNOLOGY
DR RMRER B BUILDING BUILDING 2
B KRE RIE A E—HA

Integrated Grade-A
Commercial Complex

Hp¥Eaae Grade B Office Building Grade B Office Building
Rentable Area EJZE HEE ZRBETIE ZRBETIE
40,824m Rentable Area ] B HE & Rentable Area o HHE &
41,522m? 43,042m?
GARDEN CITY
CYBERPORT BUILDING NEW TIMES PLAZA SHOPPING CENTRE
HIERE S ES TEEH,
Grade B Office Building Grade A Office Building Large-Scale Shopping Mall
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND HIGHLIGHTS
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For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
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2024%F
(“Reporting Year”)
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Performance Review and Highlights o 7% 25 [0] &8 & 4 2

Change
25

Revenue (RMB’000)

Yz (ARETTT)

529,359

489,159

Net Property Income (RMB’000)

MERAFEARETT)

383,722

355,230

Financial Costs (RMB’000)

BERA(ARETT)

131,846

137,163

Distributable Income (RMB’000)

A RRAARETIT)

116,649

94,647

Payout ratio

GRS

100%

100%

Distribution per Unit (HK$)

BELENDR(ET)

0.1120

0.0925

21.1%

Distribution per Unit Yield"

BESENDRREE

9.2%

6.9%

2.3pp AN E

31/12/2024

31/12/2023

Unitholders (RMB million)

BEFE(ARBEET)

2E
Total Assets (RMB million) BEEAREHET) 10,081 10,388 -3.0%
Net Assets Attributable to EBFA AES 3,006 3392 8.7%

Net Asset Value per
Unit Attributable to
Unitholders (RMB)

ESBURHA ARG

FREBUMEEFEARET) 2.75

3.01

-8.6%

Value of Portfolio (RMB million)

HABEARERET)

8,987

9,251

-2.9%

Gearing Ratio?

BEAER

40.5%

39.0%

1.50pE D H

Notes:

(1) Based on the closing price of the units of CMC REIT on the last business day in

the relevant year.

(2)  This is calculated by dividing total borrowings over total assets.
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MILESTONE
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Organised the
“Descendants of
the Loong” China
Merchants Cup
Shenzhen-Hong
Kong Children’s
Painting Competition Award Ceremony.

B [ENBEAIBENRREREREAERE
H18 o

The Garden City Shopping
Centre completed all
renovation and upgrading
works.

TEEM SER 2 T B T AR BGE

Received a 4-star rating in its
first GRESB evaluation, marking
its excellence in the field of
sustainability.
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CIIE— 2023

New Times Plaza achieved
LEED Platinum.

B X & 35 5k & LEED #A
& HERFE o

e ——

32nd-34™ floors of Onward
Science & Trade Center
awarded LEED Platinum.
AR BMEREF0.32-34
[B45 £ EEDSAS RE o

2021 annual report awarded Cover Design—
Silver, Interior Design—Bronze, Integrated
Presentation — Bronze by IADA.

2021 F FRELEIADAR) [ HEREHRE - [R
BiRet IR (4R KRB IRLE -

2021 annual report awarded Gold Award, Top
50 Chinese Reports and Technical Achievement
Award by LACP 2021 Vision Awards.

D021 EE IR HELACP 2021 FERTE S - &
50 R ST 3] R ik L 82 o

Completed the first acquisition
since IPO, expanding our property
footprint from the Greater Bay Area
to capital Beijing.

FEAK ETR BRI - &Y EMRE
RREERHERZHHILR - .

Awarded the Caring Company
Logo by the Hong Kong Council
of Social Service (HKCSS).
FE%‘%&AHHK% gRE
r?ﬁﬂ@%ﬁ |¢<J TEVL: ©

New Times Plaza achieved
LEED (Leadership in Energy and
Environment Design) operations
and maintenance - existing
buildings.

R ESESLEED (2R E
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CX=m— 2021

Nov

Awarded “Listed Company
Awards of Excellence”
by Hong Kong Economic

Journal. D :

EERUMEHERE [ EHARSHAE] -

Held the first Unitholder’s
Extraordinary General

Meeting.
BEFRESEMFEBEAE
AIRE -

New Times Plaza achieved
Pre-certification under WELL
BUILDING STANDARD.
R R E 5 % 1§ WELL
(BEABEE)ERE -

+-A

Awarded the “Most Investment
Value Award in the Greater Bay
Area” by Hong Kong Ta Kung Wen
Wei Media Group.
BERAXEGHEEERE[BERA
ERKxAKREEEE] -

Aug /\ B

2020 annual report awarded the Honors
Award (Cover Photo/Design — Real Estate
Management Category) by ARC Awards 2021
and the Silver Award (PDF Cover) and the
Bronze Award (PDF Interior Design) by IADA.
2020F F T IRESBIFRARCEETR20218Y [ 3
AR RET-EHEERAR | LEE .
IADARY [ S E X 5T PDFhR | R & [ R E &5
PDFhiz ] #2 -

Apr @B

Disclosed quarterly operating statistics
announcement.

FIERBETREEBBAS

Published the first whole year results
announcement.

DE D EBRFEEFEE -

"
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Milestone o {b3£ B F2HE

Awarded “The Outstanding |

Listed Companies Award”

by the Hong Kong Institute

of Financial Analysis and

Professional Commentators

Limited

BEERESMAMBEEE [ EMRARFEXR
ZZ e

Setting up the Environment, Social and
Governance (ESG) working group under the
board of directors

RESFETHRIUERER - £ RERESGIE
/NGH o

Published the first Environment, Social and
Governance (ESG) Report.

B MR ENRE - 2 REEESCHRE -

Published the first results announcement after
listing covering the period from date of listing till
31 December 2019.

A ETEENEREAS - A ETHEE2019F
1273318 LA -

B

Listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code 01503.HK.

NEBHRFTEREE EH - EHRST01503.HK -

China Mer chants Shekou Industrial Zone
Holdings Co., Ltd. (001979.SZ), the
sponsor of China Merchants Commercial
REIT, is established and becomes the
flagship company of China Merchants
Group’s urban integrated development and
operation sector.

HEEmEETAC 2R EA —BEmBRkD
TEEERRD AR AR (001979.892) &Iz
BRISHEEREBE TR MRS FEELIRE

ZIEMERER -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

EREHRE

DEAR UNITHOLDERS,

Since its listing in 2019, CMC REIT has had five years of steady
operations. Together with our unitholders, we have witnessed
the destabilisation of the established global trade system and
unanticipated changes to monetary policy everywhere. With the
Manager’s strong market acumen and extensive expertise in
managing properties, we have navigated the temporary difficulties
brought about by the transforming domestic economy and structural
adjustments within the commercial real estate market. Looking ahead
to 2025, there remain uncertainties over an economic recovery and
the commercial real estate market cycle, but we believe opportunity
is to be found wherever there is change. The Manager will continue
to uphold its long-term investment philosophy, further optimise
its portfolio, and implement new operating strategies to enhance
operational efficiency to create long-term sustainable returns for
investors.
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Results and Distribution

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Year”),
CMC REIT’s operating income amounted to RMB529.4 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 8.2%; and distributable
income amounted to RMB116.65 million, representing a year on
year increase of 23.2%. The REIT Manager intends to distribute
100% of the distributable income to the unitholders. The
distribution per unit (“DPU”) for the period from 1 July 2024 to 31
December 2024 was HK$5.20 cents. Together with the interim
DPU of HK$6.00 cents, the total DPU for the Reporting Year
amounted to HK$11.20 cents, equivalent to a distribution yield of
9.2%, based on the unit closing price on 31 December 2024.

Market and Business Review

In 2024, China’s economy demonstrated strong resilience amidst
a complex and volatile external environment, achieving the
growth target of 5% for the year, showing the effective synergy
between regulation and market dynamics. The real estate market
gradually stabilised after a deep adjustment, and the government
continued to boost economic momentum through moderately
accommodative monetary policy and several support measures.
However, the commercial real estate market still faces challenges.
While the core office business districts in first-tier cities performed
slightly better than peripheral business districts, the operating
difficulties increased in general. There remains an imbalance
between supply and demand within the office markets of Beijing
and Shenzhen, and market rents and occupancy rates continue to
be under pressure. The retail property market is evolving to meet
changes in consumption trends, with different districts showing
different market dynamics. In the Nanshan District in Shenzhen,
where Garden City Shopping Centre is located, rents and
occupancy rates were relatively resilient due to limited local supply
and location advantages.

“TONFEER | BAREEETES n

Chairman’s Statement ® & R4
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Chairman’s Statement ® = fE R4

The performance of the six assets of CMC REIT varied. New
Times Plaza, a Grade-A office building located in Shenzhen, faced
intense competition from the Shekou and Qianhai districts, with
rents continuing to decline and occupancy rates also falling. The
Manager is actively adjusting its leasing strategy to respond to
market changes. However, it is worth noting that upon completion
of its asset enhancement at the end of 2023, Garden City Shopping
Centre resumed full operation in 2024, and its occupancy rate
reached 93.5% by the end of the year, becoming the largest
contributor of growth to CMC REIT’s revenue during the year.
Moreover, the REIT Manager completed a RMB2.4 billion loan
refinancing in July 2023, which saved millions in interest expense
for the year. Thanks to the active management of the Property
Manager and the REIT Manager, CMC REIT achieved growth in
Distributable Income for the year.

Outlook and Strategies

At the beginning of 2025, the U.S. imposed tariffs on China, and
the subsequent escalation of tariff measures in April has had a
significant impact on global stock and currency markets. China’s
exports will face challenges due to the uncertainties over tariffs.
Domestic demand growth will be the key driver of China’s future
economic development. The central government is expected to
make concerted efforts on both fiscal and monetary fronts to
stimulate demand and offer more support for economic growth in
2025. Office markets are currently in a rebalancing phase between
supply and demand, and the rents are expected to continue to
face downward pressure in 2025. Over the long term, as industrial
and consumption upgrading continue, the commercial real estate
market will stand to gain new opportunities.

In the face of a complex and volatile market environment, the
Manager will implement the key strategies of “stabilising revenue,
cost savings, asset optimisation, and opportunities exploration”.
In 2025, with the expiration of certain leases, the support of
occupancy rates will become a key focus of the business. The
Manager will dynamically adjust its leasing strategy to prioritise
occupancy over rent rates where necessary. The Manager will
continue to explore the potential for cost saving and operational
efficiency enhancement through energy cost management and
intelligent transformation to mitigate the downward pressure on
income.
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In January 2025, the REIT Manager completed a new RMB4.1
billion debt refinancing. After this refinancing, the interest rate that
CMC REIT is paying dropped from 3.17% to 2.80%. In addition,
the REIT Manager will conduct a comprehensive assessment and
review of each asset in the portfolio and actively seek opportunities
to optimise capital allocation to improve financial efficiency. The
Manager will also explore the possibility of acquiring new asset
classes, such as student housing and hotels in Greater China,
especially in Hong Kong. This will further diversify the assets of
CMC REIT’s portfolio and enhance the stability of the REIT’s
income and DPU in the long term.

Appreciation

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude
to all stakeholders for their trust and support in CMC REIT. |
would also like to thank the Manager and operations team for their
dedicated efforts and contributions in the past. CMC REIT will
unlock its value through its strategy and acumen, and go on a new
journey together with investors.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERGHREEAEREE

DIRECTOR

YU Zhiliang
| #%R

CHAIRMAN AND
NON-EXECUTIVE

EERFUITES

Mr. Yu, aged 46, was appointed on 6 August 2024 as a non-
executive Director of the Manager.

He has been the chief financial officer and secretary to the board
of directors of China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings
Co., Ltd. (“CMSK”) since 8 July 2024. He is also a non-executive
director and a member of remuneration committee of China
Merchants Land Limited (“CML”), the shares of which are listed
on the The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code:
00978.HK). He was previously the deputy head of the finance
department (property rights department) of China Merchants
Group Limited. He was a director of China Merchants Property
Operation & Service Co., Ltd.* (BEREHREZEZREKRGHE
FR 2 &]), the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 001914.S7) from 24 November 2022 to
5 May 2023. He served as a director of CML from June 2012 to
May 2023. He was the chief financial officer of China Merchants
Property (Xiamen) Co. Ltd.* (BR/BE (EF9) AR AF]) and
Fujian Zhong Lian Sheng Estate Development Ltd.* (18 2/ B 5% =
HERZE AR AR from 2010 to 2012,

Mr.Yu obtained a Bachelor of Administration (major in accounting)
from Xiamen University in 2001 and a Master of Business
Administration (Finance) from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in December 2009. Mr. Yu is an accountant in the People’s
Republic of China.

*  For identification purpose only.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile e 2= R SR EIE A B EF

DIRECTOR
FHTES

LI Yao
I =5

NON-EXECUTIVE

Mr. Li, aged 38, was appointed on 25 May 2023 as a non-
executive Director of the Manager.

Mr. Li is currently a non-executive director of CML and the
general manager of the Overseas Development Division of CMSK
He joined China Merchants Holdings (International) Company
Limited* in 2012 and has since served as the engineer and
assistant department manager of the Engineering Department
and Administration Department of China Merchants Colombo
International Container Terminals Ltd.*, the manager of the
Administration Department of China Merchants Holdings
(International) Company Limited*, the manager of the Overseas
Business Department of China Merchants Holdings (International)
Company Limited*, the Permanent Representative of China
Merchants Group Representative Office in Djibouti, the manager of
Overseas Department and International Cooperation Department
of China Merchants Group Headquarters, senior manager of
Executive Office of China Merchants Group.

Mr. Li graduated from Tianjin University with a bachelor’s degree
in engineering management and English in July 2009 and later
graduated from Tianjin University with a master’s degree in
management in engineering management in January 2012.

*  For identification purpose only.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile e £ & 2R EIE A BIEF

EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR
HITES
GUO Jin

| BpEE

Mr. Guo, aged 56, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Manager on 11 July 2019.

He is also one of the Responsible Officers and the Chief Investment
and Asset Management Officer of the REIT Manager.

Mr. Guo has extensive experience in the real estate and financial
industry. He used to serve at Savills Investment Management
(Hong Kong) Limited from June 2014 to January 2019 where
he took the position of the Head of Greater China and was also
a responsible officer for Type 1, Type 4 and Type 9 regulated
activities from August 2017 to January 2019. Prior to that, he
worked at ICBC International Holdings Limited (T R BB 45 3% A R
2 a]) from November 2009 to November 2012, where he took the
position of the executive director of the investment management
department. He was a licensed representative for Type 1 and Type
4 regulated activities at Standard Chartered Securities (Hong Kong)
Limited from August 2007 to September 2009.

Mr. Guo obtained a Bachelor of Commerce and a Bachelor of
Property from the University of Auckland in September 2003. He
was a CFA charterholder and a member of the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors (Valuation).

Mk - B65% 20197 A1 BELZ T AE
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DIRECTOR
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ZHONG Ning
&=

Mr. Zhong, aged 41, was appointed as an executive Director of
the Manager on 25 May 2023.

Mr. Zhong is currently the Chief Operating Officer, Head
of Information Technology, Deputy Investment and Asset
Management Officer and one of the Responsible Officers of the
Manager. He is employed by China Merchants Land Enterprise
Management Consulting (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd*, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Manager, and serves as a director of certain
subsidiaries of CMC REIT. Mr. Zhong was previously an investment
director of CML from February 2017 until October 2019.

Mr. Zhong obtained a Bachelor of Management from Shenzhen
University in June 2006 and a Master of Business Administration
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in
November 2017.

*  For identification purpose only.
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INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR
BAFIITES

LIN Chen
| =

Mr. Lin, aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Manager on 10 December 2019.

Mr. Lin has served at various positions at The University of Hong
Kong, including as the Chair of Finance and Stelux Professor in
Finance since August 2013, and Associate Vice President since
January 2023. In addition, Mr. Lin has served as an independent
non-executive director for Shiyue Daotian Group Co., Limited
(HKEX: 09676) since October 2023, and an independent director
of the board of directors of Waterdrop Inc. (NYSE: WDH) since 11
March 2025.

Mr. Lin obtained his PhD degree in economics in 2006, master
of arts degree in economics in 2005 and master of business
administration degree (MBA) in 2004 from University of Florida in
the United States. He received his bachelor’s degree in engineering
from South China University of Technology in 2000.
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INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE

BAFHITES
WONG Yuan Chin, Tzena

Ms. Wong, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Manager on 28 July 2021.

Ms. Wong has extensive experience in real estate project
management. Ms. Wong is the founder and director of Abierto
Limited. Ms. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors, in which she is a council member of the Quantity
Surveying Division. Ms. Wong is also a professional member of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and a visiting lecturer at
the School of Professional Education and Executive Development,
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Ms. Wong holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Asian American
Studies from University of Massachusetts at Boston, a
Postgraduate Diploma in Surveying and a Master of Science
degree in Construction Project Management from The University of
Hong Kong.
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INDEPENDENT

DIRECTOR
BMFHTES

| =t

NON-EXECUTIVE

Mr. Wong, aged 40, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Manager on 28 July 2023.

Mr. Wong has more than 15 years of experience in accounting,
taxation and auditing. Mr. Wong is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, Chartered Accountants in
Australia and New Zealand, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants of the United Kingdom, The Society of Chinese
Accountants and Auditors, The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong,
The Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director Association,
and a fellow of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute.

Mr. Wong joined Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as an audit associate
in September 2007 and left as an audit senior in November 2011.
Mr. Wong joined Patrick Wong C.P.A. Limited as an audit manager
in February 2012 and has been its practicing director since
March 2013. Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive
director of High Fashion International Limited (stock code: 608.
HK) and China Everbright Limited (stock code: 165.HK) and was
an independent non-executive director of Confidence Intelligence
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1967.HK) during the period from
20 September 2019 to 11 December 2024, all of the above
companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wong obtained his Bachelor’s degree in Accountancy from
Hong Kong Baptist University in November 2007, Master of
Science in Applied Accounting and Finance from Hong Kong
Baptist University in November 2013, Master of Business
Administration from Hong Kong Metropolitan University in
October 2016, Master of Corporate Governance from Hong Kong
Metropolitan University in August 2017 and Master of Professional
Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2021.

Mr. Wong is currently a member of the Legislative Council, Election
Committee and Disaster Relief Fund Advisory Committee of Hong
Kong.

WONG Chun Sek, Edmund
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SENIOR EXECUTIVES SHRITHRAE
Information on the business and working experience of the senior  EEEIEANSRITHAERNER L T IEKE
executives of the REIT Manager is set out below: EREMIT

GUO Jin 2

Mr. Guo is the Chief Investment and Asset Management Officer and one of the
Responsible Officers of the REIT Manager. He is also the executive Director of the
REIT Manager and information on his business and working experience has been set
out in “Executive Director” in this section.

BREREAEBANREREEERBREURAEABRZ — - RITREFAEEAN
WITES  ARNNEERTEERENCSHNAL [TEE]

ZHONG Ning $Z&8

Mr. Zhong is the Chief Operating Officer, Head of Information Technology, Deputy
Investment and Asset Management Officer and one of the Responsible Officers of the
REIT Manager. He is also the executive Director of the REIT Manager and information
on his business and working experience has been set out in “Executive Director” in
this section.
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CHOO Chong Yao, Patrick k{3

Mr. Choo is the Head of Compliance and Risk Management of the REIT Manager,
and one of the Responsible Officers.

Mr. Choo was a director and Chief Investment Officer at Swenson Asset
Management Limited and Swenson Capital Limited from April 2018 to September
2019, Mr. Choo served as Deputy Chief Executive Officer and acted as the Chief
Investment Officer at Kingdom Investment Managers Limited from October 2015
to December 2017. Mr. Choo served as the Chief Investment Officer and one of
the Responsible Officers of Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited, the manager
of Champion REIT, from March 2006 until July 2015, during which he was
responsible for the strategic planning and management of Champion REIT and for
communicating and liaising with unitholders of Champion REIT. Prior to joining Eagle
Asset Management (CP) Limited, Mr. Choo served at Kingsway Fund Management
Limited from May 2001 until November 2005, where he took the position of director.
Mr. Choo first entered the asset management industry in 1989 when he joined DBS
Asset Management in Singapore.

Mr. Choo graduated magna cum laude from the University of Pennsylvania with a
Bachelor of Science in Engineering (Electrical Engineering) in 1989.
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ZHANG Zhe EiE

Mr. Zhang is the Chief Financial Officer and one of the Responsible Officers of the
REIT Manager.

Mr. Zhang has over ten years of experience in the field of finance and business
management. He held the positions of deputy financial controller of Hilton Shenzhen
Shekou Nanhai, the financial controller of business management segment of
commercial properties and hotels of CMSK, the financial controller of industrial park
incubation segment of CMSK, the financial controller of China Merchants — Colisee
Senior Care Services Co., Ltd.*, the financial controller of Beijing-Shanghai Fund
Shanghai BangXin Enterprise Management Consulting Co. Limited* and the financial
manager of CML. Prior to these, he served as the senior manager of the UK Elite
Center of internal audit department of Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd. from July 2010
to February 2012, a project manager of Dezhengxin Asset Appraisal Co. Ltd.* from
September 2009 to July 2010, and a senior auditor of Shenzhen Branch of Ernst &
Young from February 2007 to September 2009.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Deakin University in Australia in 2005 with a Bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration (Accounting, Economics).
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* For identification purpose only. * (EEEE -

CHEN Yan FR#
Ms. Chen is the Internal Auditor of the REIT Manager.

Ms. Chen is a certified internal auditor designated by the Institute of Internal Auditors.
Ms. Chen is currently the executive director and chief financial officer of CML. She
previously served as the vice-financial controller of CML from May 2017 to January
2018. Prior to joining CML, she was a senior manager of the financial department of
CMSK.

Ms. Chen obtained a Master’s Degree in Accounting and Business Studies from Sun
Yat-Sen University in 2002. She was qualified as a Certified Public Accountant in the
PRC in 2002.
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BEE WD

Market Review

In 2024, hindered by weak domestic consumption, China’s
economic growth slowed to 5.0%, which was in line with the
government’s target for the year. The total retail sales of consumer
goods increased by only 3.5% year-on-year, and the consumer
price index rose by 0.2% year-on-year. The nation-wide urban
unemployment rate was at 5.1% in December 2024, the same as
at the end of 2023. It is worth noting that exports were relatively
strong, with annual exports of goods growing by 7.1%. The
domestic benchmark interest rate was lowered three times during
the year, and the government continued to stimulate economic
activity through loose monetary policies.
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Market Review (continued)

The real estate sector remained weak throughout the year, with
both investment in real estate and new home sales declining
significantly across the country. New home sales market picked
up in the fourth quarter, but the commercial real estate market
remained weak. The Shenzhen commercial real estate market also
faced immense challenges. Office rents were under pressure in
2024, with an average citywide decline of 9.3%. Nanshan District,
supported by demand from high-tech enterprises, saw a lesser
decline of 7.2%. By the end of 2024, the market rent of Grade A
office buildings in Nanshan District fell to RMB173.9 per square
meter. In terms of vacancy rates, additional new supply caused
the city’s vacancy rate to rise by 0.4 percentage points, and
Nanshan District’s by 0.5 percentage points, to 26.6% and 27.9%,
respectively.

Beijing commercial real estate continued on a downward trend.
Landlords continued to support occupancy rates by reducing their
asking rents. The rental rate of Grade A office space in the city fell
by 17.8% in 2024, and the average rental rate at the end of the year
was approximately RMB244.8 per square meter. The rent in the
CBD area also fell sharply, by 18.9% over 2023 to RMB272.5 per
square meter. However, due to the limited number of new buildings
entering the market, and landlords’ discounting of rental rates, the
vacancy rates in the city and the CBD area were relatively resilient,
shrinking by 0.4 and 0. 1 percentage points to 18.3% and 13.0%,
respectively.

The Shenzhen retail property market was relatively stable in 2024.
Retail rents and vacancy rates in Nanshan District both improved
and were better than that of Shenzhen citywide. Retail rental rates
in Nanshan District recorded a 1.6% increase over the year and
the average rent of premium ground floor retail space rose to
RMB756.90 per square meter while the vacancy rate decreased
by 2.0 percentage points to 12.1%. Shenzhen citywide retail rents
were dragged down by new entrants to the market and dropped by
2.8% while the vacancy rate increased by 0.9 percentage points to
8.0%.
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PROPERTY OVERVIEW LE
VT
Occupancy rate (%) as at Passing Rent (RMB/sq.m.) as at
A (%) B BBERS(ARE/FHK)R
Properties VS 31/12/2024  30/06/2024 31/12/2023  31/12/2024  30/06/2024  31/12/2023
Office E7E
New Times Plaza TRERES 744 9.3 89.6 149.8 152.9 173.9
Cyberport Building Gy 91.3 91.1 814 128.7 127.2 131.3
Technology Building BHAE 100.0 100.0 100.0 139.6 137.4 133.6
Technology Building 2 BEAE=H 99.8 100.0 96.6 123.3 122.7 124.1
Onward Science & Trade Center ~ HERHEREHL 94.0 91.1 81.9 261.6 290.1 301.4
Average ¥4 89.8 9.7 9.0
Retail 2E
Garden City Shopping Centre LB 93.5 88.4 737 126.1 1285 152.3
Property Portfolio NELS 90.6 935 86.8 - - -

Over the Reporting Year, the average occupancy rate of our office ~ RIEFERN > RIS FEHMFHHAERERH
buildings fluctuated somewhat, rising almost 5% by mid-year &) - REEFREI FFE5% - (BE B TEIT
before weakening almost 5% to end the year little changed at 5% - REE HIKRIEFFE89.8% ©

89.8%.

Benefiting from the strong post-renovation leasing momentum at SFEABEERHYXEIESHME—SELET
Garden City Shopping Centre, CMC REIT’s sole retail asset, the — B2 @2 H BAEREESE - BEBH%
overall occupancy rate of CMC REIT’s property portfolio increased — FEifE4 Y84 M e 7l &£ 2023 4F 5
from 86.8% at the end of the 2023 period to 90.6% at the end of  KEV86.8% 2T+ EIR &4 E HAZK#990.6% °

the Reporting Year.
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PROPERTY OVERVIEW (continued) MIZEBE (2)
Property Valuation YEMLE

VN
Valuation (RMB million) as at
HEAREEET)R

YOY change
Properties LE 3 31/12/2024  30/06/2024  31/12/2023 L&
Office BFE
New Times Plaza HEAES 1,905 1,939 2,000 -4.75%
Cyberport Building S AE 1,066 1,066 1,076 -0.93%
Technology Building SN 942 942 942 -
Technology Building 2 R ARE—H 1,076 1,076 1,089 -1.19%
Onward Science & Trade Center BEEMEREDL 2,512 2,516 2,584 -2.79%
Retail 2E
Garden City Shopping Centre TEE 1,486 1,539 1,560 -4.74%
Property Portfolio MELS 8,987 9,078 9,251 -2.85%

A revaluation of our properties as at 31 December 2024 was
carried out by an independent property valuer, Knight Frank Petty
Limited, the principal valuer of CMC REIT. The market value of our
portfolio declined from RMB9,251 million to RMB8,987 million at
the end of 2024 December, a decrease of RMB264 million.

New Times Plaza

During the Reporting Year, the occupancy rate of New Times Plaza
decreased by 15.5 percentage points due to the lease expiration
of several tenants occupying large areas. Due to the general
weakening of office rental market throughout Shenzhen and
competition from surrounding Grade-A office buildings, the passing
rent of New Times decreased significantly, by 13.9% to RMB24.10/
sg.m. In 2025, to improve the building’s overall operating statistics,
the leasing team will actively compete for quality tenants.

R RmERTESNAGEM MBI MER
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PROPERTY OVERVIEW (continued)

New Times Plaza (continued)

The valuation of New Times Plaza was impacted by the city-wide
drop in Grade-A office rents in Shenzhen. Its assessed valuation
decreased by RMB95 million or 4.8% compared to the same
period last year, dropping from RMB2,000 million to RMB1,905
million.

Cyberport Building, Technology Building, and
Technology Building 2

In contrast to the CMC REIT’s Grade-A offices, the three properties
in the Net Valley (i.e. Cyberport Building, Technology Building,
and Technology Building 2) achieved an improvement in operating
revenue compared to the same period in 2023. The occupancy
rate of Cyberport Building increased by 9.9 percentage point
as compared to the same period last year but the passing rent
decreased by RMB2.6/sq.m., representing a decrease of 2%.
Technology Building continued to maintain full occupancy while
it’s passing rent increased by a further 4.5% to RMB139.6/
sg.m. The occupancy rate of Technology Building 2 increased by
3.2 percentage point as compared to the end of last year while
maintaining its passing rent at roughly the same levels.

In terms of valuation, the assessed value of Technology Building
remained unchanged while there was a marginal decrease in the
valuation of Technology Building 2 and Cyberport Building.

Onward Science & Trade Center

The occupancy rate of the Onward Science & Trade Center
increased materially from 81.9% to 94.0%, rising by 12.1
percentage points as compared to the same period last year.
This significant improvement was achieved despite the more
challenging office leasing environment in the second half of the year
at the cost of a lower passing rent rate as we opted to compete
aggressively on pricing. Due to the adoption of this leasing
strategy, the passing rent weakened from RMB301.4/sg.m. to
RMB261.6/sg.m., representing a fall of 13.2%.

The valuation of Onward Science & Trade Centre decreased
2.8% as compared to the same period last year, dropping from
RMB2,584 million to RMB2,512 million.
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PROPERTY OVERVIEW (continued)

Garden City Shopping Centre

Post its 2023 asset enhancement, Garden City Shopping Centre
has continued to gather operational momentum and its customer
traffic has all but recovered. As a result, the occupancy rate
increased significantly in 2024, by 19.8 percentage points to 93.5%
year-on-year. However, as we have given a degree of base rent
incentives to certain new tenants in exchange for variable turnover
rent, the passing rent decreased materially by RMB26.2/sg.m.,
to 126.1/sg.m. As competition among shopping malls intensifies,
we will continue to launch a series of promotional activities and
discount campaigns to further enhance the customer traffic and
sales at Garden City Shopping Centre.

Occupancy at Garden City Shopping Centre may have recovered in
2024, but its valuation was still affected by its lower passing rent,
and the assessed value of the mall decreased by RMB74 million to
RMB1,486 million as compared to the last year.

MEBE (E)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW Bt 75 B BE
Rental Income for Each Property BIEYENHES WA
VN
2023
Reporting Year Relevant Year Change
BEFE 2023 1HEAFE 2
RMB million RMB million
AREBETT AREBETT
New Times Plaza HERES 94.2 107.8 -12.6%
Cyberport Building IS KN E 49.0 49.6 -1.2%
Technology Building R RE 65.9 61.8 6.6%
Technology Building 2 B RE —H 56.7 541 4.8%
Garden City Shopping Centre TEE 80.4 51.6 55.8%
Onward Science & Trade Center B BMERIZH 0 121.7 116.3 4.6%
Total et 467.9 441.2 6.1%

The property operating expenses of CMC REIT for the Reporting
Year increased 8.7% to RMB145.6 million. At RMB59.9 million,
property management expenses were the largest component
(41.1%). Operation manager’s fee and other taxes contributed
to RMB28.0 million (19.2%) and RMB48.2 million (33.1%) of the
property operating expenses respectively. After deducting property
operating expenses, net property income was approximately
RMB383.7 million, an increase of 8.0% over 2023 Relevant Year.

Finance costs for the Reporting Year fell by 3.9% to RMB131.8
million, and mainly comprised interest expense on bank
borrowings.

Capital Structure

CMC REIT had total net borrowing of RMB4,086 million as at 31
December 2024, representing a gearing ratio of 40.5%. This ratio
is below the 50% limit permitted under the Code on Real Estate
Investment Trusts (the “REIT Code”).

As at 31 December 2024, the ratio of total liabilities (excluding net
assets attributable to unitholders) to total assets of CMC REIT was
54.8% (2023: 53.0%).

RREFE  BEREEETESNMELE
I8 7%E ARK1456E BT - WEE
AT AARESQOEE T (hEKLERT
MEALEM41.1%)  EETEABRREM
RES MG MELERATHARB280FET
(19.2%) B A REE48.2BH B TT(33.1%) ° BRI ZE
mEHY % MERSFEANAREISTE
BT 8202318 FE 12 HN8.0% °

BEFENREMETREII%E ARK131.8
BET  TERRITEROFEMZ -

ey

HE2024F 128318 - HERARERETESHN
METREABARKA086EET EEBEBX
£405% c ZREREHEREETEST
B[ EFEES SR D FTERFA50% R

HE2024F 128318 BEABR(TBEE
SENBEARMEEFE)REREER
ESEERENEA DL A54.8% (20234 :
53.0%) °
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Capital Structure (continued)

A summary of CMC REIT’s bank borrowings as of 31 December
2024 is set out below:

Amount of Bank

BB (E)

BEXRER(E)

HZE2024F12A31H - HEREEERETAEEZN
IRITEFBEHTIOT ¢

Borrowings Annualised

(RMB million) Repayment Date Type Interest Rate Percentage

IRITEREHE

(AREBET) EEEZEAH B/ FRER (hBEEHIL

10 2025/02/28 secured 2.93% 0.2%
202542 F28H B

48 2025/05/27 secured 4.75% 1.3%
2025958278 BHEH

30 2025/12/15 secured LPR (1 year) - 0.45% 0.7%
2025912 815H BHEM LPR(—4H1) — 0.45%

1,622 2025/12/15 secured 3.55% 39.7%
2025%12515H A

2,376 2026/08/30 secured 2.93% 58.1%
202648 A30H A

In January 2025, CMC REIT (through its wholly-owned subsidiary)
entered into a 5 year facility agreement with an independent third
party bank (as lender) in respect of a loan facility in an amount
up to RMB4.1 billion at a fixed interest rate of 2.80% per annum.
An amount of RMB4,008 million was drawn down from this new
loan facility in January 2025 and used to fully prepay the former
offshore facilities with fixed rates of 3.55% and 2.93% in the table
above. This drawdown on a loan facility with a lower interest rate
to prepay loans with higher interest rates will result in substantial
savings on interest expense for CMC REIT in 2025. As the
RMB4,008 million that was drawn down was used entirely for the
refinancing of existing offshore loan facilities, the drawdown did not
materially affect the gearing of CMC REIT. For further details on this
refinancing, please refer to the announcement of CMC REIT dated
27 January 2025.

Net Assets Attributable to Unitholders

As at 31 December 2024, net assets attributable to Unitholders
amounted to RMB3,096 million (31 December 2023: RMB3,392
million) or RMB2.75 per Unit, equivalent to HKD2.97 per Unit
(“NAV per Unit”) based on central parity rate as announced by
the People’s Bank on 31 December 2024. (31 December 2023:
RMBS.01 per Unit, equivalent to HKD3.32).

The closing unit price of HKD1.22 on 31 December 2024 was at a
58.9% discount to the NAV per Unit.

20251 H - B RREEtEe(FREEE
WEBAR)EBYE=HIRITHEAERA)EE]
T AESFHRmERE  NAEEEEAR
BAEILHNERRE @ BETEFFEAE2.80% °
FEZRED N ARKA40.0818 5T 2 2025
F1 AR WARERANEE EREENEA
3.55% K 2.93% K 2 E S RIIEINGEE o $RELFIE
BEMNEZE URAEEN ERENERE
Ro025F AEERRERTEASHERENE
F - BRI ARKE40.08ETEEHAR
REBIIRENBRE @ At XREI R ¥
BEPEERTEeNEERBRELBEY
2. B ABRENE—DTHE  F2HA
HREERETESN2025%F1 A27BEMH A

==

ESBEURAARGEEFE

R2024F12 A31H » A& HENIFAEABEEE
FEAARES006HET(2023F127318 -
ARBI3NHETT)GELENARK275
TG HERIRIEARIRITI2024F12 A31HA
HHEXRPBEFENEESBM2978 (=
HESEBNMWEEFRE])(2023F12A31H : &
B ARKI0IT  HHENI32ETT)

2024F12 431 HE S BN H{E .22/ 7T
BREESENNEEFEIESS.I%




FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Distribution

Total distributable income is the consolidated profit after tax,
before distribution to the unitholders of CMC REIT (“Unitholders”)
as adjusted to eliminate the effects of the Adjustments as set out in
the Trust Deed (“Distributable Income”). Distributable Income for
the Reporting Year was RMB116.65 million (2023 Relevant Year:
RMB94.65 million). Based on the Distributable Income, the final
distribution per unit for 2024 is HK$0.0520 (“Final Distribution”).
Including the interim distribution per unit of HK$0.0600 that has
already been paid, the total distribution per unit to Unitholders
for the Reporting Year is HK$0.1120 (equivalent to RMB0.1034).
Pursuant to the Trust Deed, CMC REIT is required to distribute
to the unitholders no less than 90% of its Distributable Income of
each financial period. The Manager will distribute to the Unitholders
100% of the Distributable Income for 2024.

The Final Distribution will be paid to entities regarded as
Unitholders as at the record date (as described in detail under the
heading of “Closure of Register of Unitholders”). As such, those
who are not regarded as Unitholders on the record date have no
entitlement to receive the Final Distribution.

The Final Distribution payable to Unitholders will be paid in Hong
Kong dollar. The exchange rate of the distribution per unit for the
Reporting Year is the average central parity rate as announced by
the People’s Bank of China for the five business days preceding the
date of this announcement.

Closure of Register of Unitholders

For the purpose of determining entitlement for the Final
Distribution, the register of Unitholders will be closed from 10 April
2025 to 11 April 2025, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of units will be registered, and the record date will be
on 11 April 2025. In order to qualify for the Final Distribution, all
unit certificates with completed transfer forms must be lodged with
the unit registrar of CMC REIT, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on 9 April 2025. The payment of the Final
Distribution will be made on or about 30 May 2025.
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ASSET ENHANCEMENT

The capital expenditure on asset enhancement for the Reporting
Year with comparative figures is set out below. The bulk of assets
enhancement works were completed in 2023, but a portion of the
associated capital expenditure was only booked in 2024 to match
the actual payments to contractors.

BERAER

WMEFENEEERAEBNEARFRZEII
T o KEHEEFFETIZRN2023F 58K -
EBD FARE B ANFE S {EFE2024F ABR - BHYZT
Be T2 A BERR A 3RA9 A o

2023
Reporting Year Relevant Year

BEFE 2023 1HEFE
RMB million RMB million
ARBEBET AREBET

Technology Building 2 RIEAE_—H
Cyberport Building LN
New Times Plaza R ES
TEE

Garden City Shopping Centre

0.3 7.4
0.1 13.1
12.3 25.4
118.5 134.1

Total F

131.2 180




OUTLOOK

The economic outlook for 2025 is full of uncertainty. The further
escalation of the US tariffs has spawned market concerns about
inflationary pressure in the US. An extended tariff war will lead to
higher inflation in the US. The outlook of US interest rate market
is uncertain, resulting in significant pressure on global financial
markets. At the same time, the weakness of certain areas in
China’s economy in 2024 has also made the market worried about
it's prospects for expansion going forward. The weakness of the
real estate market, the low propensity of consumers to spend and
surging government debt will remain problematic areas for China’s
economy in 2025. In addition, manufacturing overcapacity may
introduce additional challenges.

To tackle these challenges, the government is taking active
measures to rebalance economic activity. At the end of 2024, the
Central Economic Work Conference once again, after 14 years,
set the tone of monetary policy as “moderately loose”, indicating
that there is a high possibility of further reductions in bank reserve
requirements and interest rates in 2025. At the same time, the tone
of the fiscal policy has been set to be “more active”, and it has
been made clear that the deficit ratio will increase in 2025. Debt
pressure will be resolved by issuing ultra-long-term treasury bonds,
special bonds and other instruments to support employment and
consumption. The loose monetary policy and active fiscal policy
are aimed at injecting new impetus into the economy, alleviating
downward pressure, and laying the foundation for a stronger
economy in 2025.

For the consumer market, at the beginning of the year, the Ministry
of Finance has earmarked RMB81 billion for the first batch of
funds for the trade-in of consumer goods in 2025, and expanded
the categories and amount of subsidies to cover digital products
such as mobile phones. According to the Ministry of Commerce’s
statistics, during Chinese New Year in 2025, the sales of major
retail and catering enterprises nationwide increased by 4.1% year-
on-year, and the sales of home appliances and communication
devices of key monitored retail enterprises increased by more than
10% year-on-year.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

However, a sustained recovery of consumer confidence and
rebound in corporate investment for expansion still depend
on growth expectations and the duration of the current
accommodative policy stance. While the situation is improving, it
cannot be denied that office buildings in Shenzhen and Beijing will
continue to face the challenges of oversupply and weak demand
in the near term. As existing vacancies still need to be digested
and new supply continues to enter the market, the outlook for the
office building market in 2025 remains pessimistic. For the retalil
property market, despite the fact that the consumer subsidy policy
has stimulated the willingness of retail tenants to spend, the overall
retail market remains sluggish, and the outlook for 2025 is still
mixed.

In 2025, a material portion of the office leases, in particular those
for Grade A offices within the property portfolio will expire, resulting
in the dilemma of either increasing vacancy rates or further
weakening of rental rates. The Manager will focus on rebuilding
occupancy at the CMC REIT’s Grade-A properties as the primary
goal. In the face of fierce market competition, the Manager will
adjust rental rates dynamically according to the market situation,
and also offer flexible lease terms where applicable. While rental
income will come under pressure, non-operating expenditure as
a mitigating factor, in particular interest costs, will be reduced at
the same time. The Manager will also conduct a comprehensive
assessment and review of the performance of various assets,
and actively seek opportunities for capital optimization, so as
to improve operational efficiency. The Manager will also look for
more high-quality diverse asset class investments in the Greater
China region to further diversify the income base of CMC REIT and
achieve sustainable growth in DPU in the long run.
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THE TOP FIVE REAL ESTATE AGENTS AND FREHERERAERE
CONTRACTORS
A
Real estate agents Value of contract/
and contractors Nature commission paid %
EtERERAERE PR 7% 1 & BREE ENEE
RMB’000

AR¥T R

China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Operation management 25,729.51 24.5%

Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
BECOCEER(RINERAR  EEER

Shenzhen Xince architectural Renovation and maintenance 9,302.97 8.9%
decoration engineering Co., LTD

RYEMEEEHTRGRAF KRB

Shenzhen Baolida construction Renovation and maintenance 8,221.03 7.8%
Engineering Co., LTD

RYITRFZEZR TIZAR QA KEREE

Shenzhen Jinggong Architectural Renovation and maintenance 6,736.82 6.4%

Decoration Group Co. LTD
YT R R EE AR AA KR uE

Shenzhen Lingnan Tiandi construction Renovation and maintenance 3,5671.96 3.4%
Engineering Co., LTD
RYITMEERERTIEGR AR KER#EE

Note: The English name is for reference only. Miat  EXRBEHRSE -
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Property Portfolio ® #2484

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS

China Merchants Commercial REIT’s portfolio comprises the following six properties:

New Times Plaza, a Grade A office building with an aggregate Gross Floor Area (“GFA”) of 87,337.0 sg.m.
and Gross Rentable Area (“GRA”) of 67,600.0 sg.m. located adjacent to the Sea World commercial area
and Prince Bay, the core area of Shekou;

Cyberport Building, Technology Building and Technology Building 2, three office building complexes
repurposed from industrial use with an aggregate GFA of 124,545.0 sg.m. and GRA of 125,004.0 sg.m.
located in Shekou Net Valley, a business hub for high-tech companies and startups which has been
earmarked by the Nanshan Government for promoting and developing emerging industries;

Onward Science & Trade Center, an integrated Grade-A commercial complex strategically located within
the Central Business District of Beijing. This CBD is one of the most famous international business districts
in China, and its tenants are world leading financial, media, IT, consulting and service companies. CMC
REIT has a controlling interest in a GRA of 40,824 sq.m. (Gross Floor Area of 48,370.3 sg.m., including
7,546.3 sq.m. for 528 parking spaces) of this complex.

Garden City Shopping Centre, the first large-scale shopping mall, dining, lifestyle and entertainment
facilities in Shekou. The complex has an aggregate GFA of 59,453.0 sq.m. and GRA of 56,185.0 sg.m.

HERE
BEREEETES 2 RAEA b TR EYEAR -

FRRES RIS - DS FE AR RERRTENRRAEFE  @EEEE([EEEm
ZEJ)2%87,337.0$E+&Tfﬁ1%%@@ﬁ(F‘HHE%EEJ)ﬁ@?ﬁO0.0ﬂ?E% ;
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Tenant’s Industry Profile

The following charts depict the industry profile of our tenants by
reference to their GRA as a percentage of the total GRA as at 31
December 2024, and their percentage contribution to Gross Rental
Income in December 2024 (the “Month”):

N

Percentage of GRA
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Note: The tenants’ industry sector are based on the classification of the REIT Manager
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEWE(E)
Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties MENELO I HER
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NEW TIMES PL

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

New Times Plaza

Times Plaza was completed in 1997 and is a Grade A office
building with a total GRA of 67,600.0 sg.m. It takes only 2 minutes
for walking to Sea World Station, which is the interchange station
between Metro Line 12 and Line 2. It comprises (a) a 2-storey
podium; (b) a 34-storey office tower; and (c) 212 car parking
spaces. New Times Plaza is acclaimed for the excellence of its
architectural design and the high quality of its construction and
workmanship. It has received numerous awards through the years,
such as:

the China Construction Engineering Luban Prize bestowed
by the Ministry of Construction of the PRC (currently known
as the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of
the PRC) and the China Construction Industry Association in
1999;

the Shenzhen Outstanding Building for Property Management
from the Housing and Construction Bureau of Shenzhen in
1999;

recognition as a Building of National Standard because
of its building management quality, from the Ministry of
Construction of the PRC (currently known as the Ministry of
Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the PRC) in 2000;

Achieved Pre-certification under WELL BUILDING STANDARD
in 2021.

Achieved LEED GOLD (Leadership in Energy and Environment
Design) in 2022.

Achieved LEED PLATINUM (Leadership in Energy and
Environment Design) in April 2023.
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

New Times Plaza (continued)

Tenant’s Industry Profile

Percentage of GRA
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Note: The tenants’ industry sector are based on the classification of the REIT Manager
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Property Portfolio ® #3484

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

New Times Plaza (continued)
Lease Expiry Profile

!
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CYBERPORT BUIEDING £iiE X = >

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Cyberport Building

Cyberport Building was completed in 2009. It is a Grade B office
building complex with a total GRA of 40,441.3 sq.m. comprising (a)
a 9-storey office building and a 6-storey office building connected
on Levels 1 and 2; (b) commercial space for retail units located at
Level 1; and (c) 255 car parking spaces.

Cyberport Building is located on the western side of Nanhai
Avenue, located in Shekou Net Valley, known as Silicon Valley of
Shenzhen. There is a kindergarten, a large scale hypermarket, a
shopping centre, reputable banks and a local hospital nearby, and
these surrounding amenities form a sustainable complimentary
community that provides great convenience to its tenants. The area
is also well-served by public transportation; Cyberport Building is a
2-minute walk to Sihai Station of Line 12.
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Property Portfolio ® #2484

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEREE)
Cyberport Building (continued) BIEKE(E)
Tenant’s Industry Profile HETEBR

B

Percentage of GRA
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Note: The tenants’ industry sector are based on the classification of the REIT Manager
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Property Portfolio ® #2484

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEWE(E)
Cyberport Building (continued) BIEKE(E)
Lease Expiry Profile AN Z R

6.6% 6.9% 24.2% 29.8% 16.4% 17.4% 17.7% 20.5% 3.8% 3.1% 21.0% 18.2% 1.6% 4.1% 8.7% 0.0%

2030 and
beyond
2030 F£R A E

2025 2026 2027 2028
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TECHNOLOGY BUILDING ! & &

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Technology Building

Technology Building was completed in 2002. It is a Grade B office
building complex with a total GRA of 41,522 sq.m. The building
complex comprises (a) a 7-storey main building; (b) a 6-storey
annex building; and (c) 195 car parking spaces. Technology
Building has become the main office of Shenzhen Qianhai
Shekou Free Trade Zone Hospital, and has also created business
atmosphere for medical and related industries.

Technology Building is located on the western side of Nanhai
Avenue in the Shekou Net Valley, an e-commerce area integrated
with high-tech and cultural industries including publishing, the fine
arts, advertising and design. Schools, hotels, restaurants, food
streets and reputable banks are nearby. Technology Building and
these surrounding amenities form a sustainable complimentary
community that is of great convenience to tenants. The area is
well-served by public transportation; Technology Building is a
5-minute walk to Gongye 6th Road Station of Metro Line 12.
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Property Portfolio ® #)34&

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)
Technology Building (continued)

Tenant’s Industry Profile

Percentage of GRA
HRIHEAERE
HE DL

17100.0% Health Care Service
R RER

M0.0% Leasing and Business
Service

THEMBE TR %

Note: The tenants’ industry sector are based on the classification of the REIT Manager
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Property Portfolio ® #3484

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEWE(E)
Technology Building (continued) MEAREE)
Lease Expiry Profile AN ZEBLR

2.3% 2.3% 77.8% 78.6% 19.9% 19.1% 0.0% 0.0%

2026 and
beyond
2026 FR A%
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of GRA BEENE DL for the Month MBS
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TECHNOLOGY. BUILDING 2 R ABE—H

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Technology Building 2

Technology Building 2 was completed in 2010. It is a Grade B
office building complex. Technology Building 2 has a total GRA of
43,042 sq.m. The complex comprises (a) two 6-storey industrial
workshops; and (b) 220 car parking spaces.

Technology Building 2 is located at the western side of Nanhai
Avenue in Shekou Net Valley. The surroundings of office building
complex are similar to those of Technology Building. There are
schools, hotels, restaurants, food streets and reputable banks
near the complex and these community amenities provide
great convenience to tenants. The area is well-served by public
transportation; Technology Building 2 is a 1-minute walk to Gongye
6th Road Station of Metro Line 12.
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Property Portfolio ® #2484

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)
Technology Building 2 (continued)

Tenant’s Industry Profile

TN
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PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Technology Building 2 (continued)
Lease Expiry Profile

|
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Property Portfolio ® #2484

HERE(E)
MBERE=H(E)
ARDIBER

W
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ONWARD SCIENG

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Onward Science & Trade Center

Onward Science & Trade Center is an integrated Grade-A
commercial complex completed at the end of 1999. CMC REIT
has a controlling interest in a GRA of 40,824 sg.m. of the complex,
consisting of:

15 storeys of office/mixed-use units and 3 commercial units of
China Merchants Tower (a 34-storey office building); one unit in
AlA NPA Centre (a 4-storey commercial building); one commercial
unit in the podium connecting China Merchants Tower and Taiping
Financial Centre; one unit in China Merchants Bank Building (a
3-storey commercial building); two commercial units in China HP
Building (an 18-storey office building); 528 below ground parking
spaces and 3 basement commercial units located under various
buildings.

As a part of the Central Business District of Beijing, Onward
Science & Trade Center is located in the midst of the world’s
leading financial, media, IT, consulting and service companies.
The complex is directly connected to Jianguo Road (also known
as Chang’an Road East Extension), one of Beijing’s main
thoroughfares, and within walking distance of Guomao Station,
Beijing’s busiest interchange subway station. Onward Science
& Trade Center completed a major upgrading and renovation
exercise in 2023.
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Property Portfolio ® #2404

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HERE(E
Onward Science & Trade Center (continued) HERMENE RO (E
Tenant’s Industry Profile HEITERR
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Property Portfolio ® #3484

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEWE(E)
Onward Science & Trade Center (continued) HERMENEZE RO (E)
Lease Expiry Profile AN ZEBLR

"
HH__\H
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GARDEN CITY SHOPPING CENTRE & E i

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Garden City Shopping Centre

Garden City Shopping Centre was completed in 2006 and is
the first large-scale integrated commercial complex featuring
shopping, dining, lifestyle and entertainment activities in the
Shekou sub-district. It comprises (a) 5-storeys of retail shops; (b)
685 car parking spaces; and (c) a 2-storey basement with ancillary
facilities that enhance the retail experience of shoppers at the
complex.

Garden City Shopping Centre has completed all renovation and
upgrading works and was reopened to the public on 29 December
2023.

Garden City Shopping Centre is located at the eastern side of
Nanhai Avenue and the southern side of Dong Bin Tunnel. There
are hotels, restaurants, banks and a hypermarket nearby and it
is a one minute walk from Garden City Shopping Centre to the
neighbouring residential complex via a footbridge. The complex is
located in a commercial cum residential area that is well-served by
public transportation such as franchised buses and taxis. One of
the exits of Sihai Station of Metro Line 12 is directly connected to
the basement of Garden City Shopping Centre.
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Property Portfolio ® #2484

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Garden City Shopping Centre (continued)
Tenant’s Industry Profile
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Property Portfolio ® #2484

PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS (continued) HEREE)
Garden City Shopping Centre (continued) TEEW ()
Lease Expiry Profile AN Z R

— \ l.l \ H
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SociAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

RIR -1 EREGHE

China Merchants Commercial REIT has established an ESG
working group (“ESG Working Group”) led by the members of
the Board of Directors of the REIT Manager (“Board”), to lead,
organise, and execute our strategies, policies and approaches
on environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) issues, as
well as managing climate-related risks associated with our
business operations. The ESG Working Group also assists the
Board in formulating and reviewing ESG policies, overseeing
the implementation of ESG practices, reviewing the progress on
achieving ESG targets, and reviewing ESG reports to ensure that
the disclosures comply with the Listing Rules. The ESG Working
Group at least meets and reports to the Board annually.

We are committed to incorporating ESG considerations into
our business operations, therefore, reducing our impact on the
environment. All our properties have obtained the ISO 14001
environmental management system certification to minimise
potential environmental risks of our daily operations. We have
set environmental targets for greenhouse gases emissions,
energy consumption, water consumption and hazardous waste
management based on our historical environmental performance
data, requirements form national policies and peer practices.
During the Reporting Year, various environmental initiatives were
implemented at each of our property to improve the overall energy
and water efficiency and waste disposal method, so as to pursue
greener operations.

With the increasing frequency of extreme weather events, we are
aware of the risks and threats that climate change has posed to
our business operations. To enhance our ability to address climate
change, we have engaged a third-party consultant to conduct
climate risk assessment for our business in accordance with the
requirements from the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong
Kong. We have also integrated climate factors into investment
considerations by carrying out due diligence processes covering
ESG and climate-related issues when commencing new acquisition
and disposal, as well as processing key business transactions.
To minimise the impact of extreme weather events on our assets,
emergency plans and response system have properly been set up
for all our properties. An emergency response team has also been
in place for each property to enhance its capabilities in handling
emergency events, therefore protecting the safety of our tenant,
employees and our properties.

FERREEEESN L THERAEEAES
S((ESFENEBRENRE HERERT
FHE(TESGIT/EA ) - AEE - BV EE
BPERRE HekER(ESG)EELW
RS BERNRTIE - ARERERMEBES
HENRIRER - ESGTEETM B E= ST
ENEZLPINVESGHR - EBESGEERMNE
it - A BIRESGH RAER - WEBESGH
EAERNENS EHARA - ESGTIFEEF
ELER-REZE XTI REBF-RAESE
SEITIESR °

BPIBNRIBESGE EREM AT IS E
geh o RMBREEIRENTE - RFMBHY
D EBISO 14001 IRIBEIRERAE  UHK
AZE MR FFI B FIBE AR FERIRER
R o BRFIREELRIZRIBEE BRBEE
kR BETTER - ABEREYER - LR
FKEMEEEMERRT TRERZ - £4X
WEFE  BZRMESEWESE T SERRE
B RS R RIKERMAR - EE
MR E 777k » WMBKEIRIRABEE o

BEERIm KRR EMRRNIEIN - RAIBHIIR
RE(CHRPIEBELTRORRINEE - &
TIRITESREE(CNEN - RFEEBE=
TERRERERSMIEEBERZREEN
3k REMANEHETRRRARE - Ei
TTHORE R N EAREBETEXBRHE
BPEBRERZMAREERE @ ETRE
ESGHERIKEBHRENZB AT RIE - B
PIBRHmAREFHRMEENTE - ISR
PREMERETESHEINRERER - BEAYNE
MREESEEEL - WRFAERHEZEMHN
Be1 - WEMiREEP, - BT RBRMAMENLE



Environmental, Social and Governance Review o IR3E « &

We strive to provide an equal and diverse work environment for our
employees. We welcome employees with different backgrounds
and experiences to join us and make sure that our talents are
recruited and promoted through fair and equal procedures. We
attract and retain talents through competitive compensation, open
communication and regular engagement activities. We actively
encourage all employees to participate in training programmes that
are relevant to their work, which will help develop their knowledge
of the industry and corporate culture. As employees’ health
and safety is our top priority, an occupational health and safety
compliance assessment form has also been developed to evaluate
if any occupational safety hazards exist for our employees during
their work.

Adhering to the principles of openness and transparency, and
we have built mutual trust and long-term relationships with our
suppliers to jointly promote sustainable development during our
procurement procedures. We require suppliers to comply with our
supply chain ethics and environmental policies, such as treating
employees with fairness and respect, opposing forced and
child labour and protecting environment. We support suppliers
in building their sustainable business models by raising their
awareness on environmental, social and corporate governance
through communication and training. We actively adopt renewable
energy and promote environmentally friendly products and
technologies to drive a low-carbon and sustainable supply chain.

Looking forward, we strive to enhance our management in all ESG
aspects by enhancing the risk culture of our asset operations,
finetuning our ESG integration approach in the investment
processes, ensuring employees’ well-being and customers’
satisfaction and developing sustainable supply chains and
environmental initiatives, so as to make a position contribution to
the environment and our communities.

For details of the ESG issues, please refer to our 2024 ESG Report.

“TONFEER | BAREEETES

EaE

BRBIRNBE TREHFFMZ TN TIFR
%o HPEEABTRERMERNE TNA
T - AEERBFIOAT BBERFFFNRE
FHRABEBREE -BRMABBAEHRSZ NN
B - FRREYE RN E B0 2 BUE B IA TR 5| I B
FEAT - BPESRSZBMAEE T2 MERTE
MHEARIEIRT & - BB PIRETT R AN D
EXft - ARETHRENZE2REMNER
5% BATEHE—MBRERFEEZEZAR
MR R - AR EE TTEHMR R FEE
ARHRLE2EE -

BOBRFFEBAERNRA - BftEmETT
MEEEMEHEAE  ERMANRBBEDHR
RIS A EER - BB RLHEEREE TR
MR BRMEREEER @ fIRATFHEFER
T RYEBABHMETL - ARRERES -
TR BB RAIE I SRR R A AR
BERN  BenMYRE  HeNMERRE
B - HPEERRARIBARR - #ERR
EE e ANERT - DAHEENE AN AT REE A (i e 5 -

REARR RPN REMBESGH EMNRE
2 ERRETEEELNRBRIUL - BLIRE
MIZPHESGEA A - MREB T R/UMES
MEEARERASEREEIRRESE -
MERFENLRETERER -

BBRE  HEREREENFE  BF2H
2024 IR1E « B MEIARE o



m CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CREARE

INTRODUCTION

With the objectives of establishing and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance, policies and procedures have been put
in place to promote the operation of CMC REIT in a transparent
manner and with built-in checks and balances. The Manager
has adopted a compliance manual (the “Compliance Manual”)
which sets out corporate governance policies as well as the
responsibilities and functions of each key officer. The Compliance
Manual also clearly defines reporting channels, workflows,
and specifies procedures and forms designed to facilitate the
compliance of the Manager with various provisions of the Trust
Deed, the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”), the REIT Code and other relevant
rules and regulations.

The corporate governance policies of CMC REIT have been
adopted having due regard to the requirements under Appendix
C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), with
necessary changes as if those rules were applicable to REITs.
To prevent the misuse of inside information and to monitor and
supervise any dealings of Units, the Manager has adopted a code
containing rules on dealings by the directors and the Manager
equivalent to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.

Throughout the Reporting Year, the Manager and CMC REIT have
complied with the REIT Code, the relevant provisions of the SFO,
the Listing Rules applicable to CMC REIT, the Trust Deed and the
Compliance Manual in all material respects.

Set out below is a summary of the key components of the
corporate governance policies that have been adopted and will be
followed by the REIT Manager and CMC REIT. Such policies may
be amended by a simple majority vote of all of the directors.
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AUTHORISATION STRUCTURE

CMC REIT is a collective investment scheme authorised by the
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC”) under
section 104 of the SFO and regulated by certain laws, regulations
and documents including the REIT Code.

The REIT Manager has been authorised by the SFC under
section 116 of the SFO to conduct the regulated activity of asset
management. The REIT Manager has four persons who are
approved as Responsible Officers pursuant to the requirements
of the SFO and the REIT Code. They are Mr. Guo Jin, Mr. Choo
Chong Yao, Patrick, Mr. Zhong Ning and Mr. Zhang Zhe.

The Trustee has been granted a license under section 116(1) of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) to carry on Type 13
Regulated Activity. The Trustee is thus qualified to act as a trustee
for collective investment schemes authorized under the SFO
pursuant to the REIT Code.

ROLES OF THE TRUSTEE AND REIT MANAGER

The Trustee and the REIT Manager are independent of each other.
The Trustee is responsible under the Trust Deed for the safe
custody of the assets of CMC REIT on behalf of Unitholders and for
overseeing the activities of the REIT Manager for compliance with
the relevant constitutive documents of, and applicable regulatory
requirements applicable to CMC REIT.

The REIT Manager’s role under the Trust Deed is to manage CMC
REIT and its assets in accordance with the Trust Deed, and in
particular to ensure that the financial and economic aspects of
CMC REIT’s assets are professionally managed in the sole interests
of the Unitholders. In accordance with the REIT Code, the REIT
Manager is required to act in the best interests of Unitholders, to
whom it owes a fiduciary duty.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS EEE

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprises seven members,  32024%F 12 A31H » & H-+ BB 4AK -
three of whom are independent non-executive directors. The HE=HABUIEHNITES - EEQEREE
Board oversees the management of the REIT Manager’s affairs EEBEANEBLERESE TAEETEE
and the conduct of its business and is responsible for the overall B AKEEEE A - BRI TEHEES AT
governance of the REIT Manager. The Board exercises its general TEHEAE—MEN  UWEREEBYEETT
powers within the limits defined by its constitutional documents, — BkE I Z A EE RN - W EEE 28R 202 5
with a view to ensuring that management discharges its duties HFEREMREEEZR - EF5 @M BigEEARY
and is compensated appropriately, and that sound internal control &R FE R EEEIEAMNKIR o

policies and risk management systems are maintained. The Board

will also review major financial decisions and the performance of

the REIT Manager.

VT
Years as
Members of the Board Position Gender Age Director
EEgpE B 5Bl FiR EEESFH
Yu Zhiliang Chairman and Non-executive Director Male 46 <1
RER TREFRIEMTES St
Guo Jin Executive Director Male 56
P2 WITES B
Zhong Ning Executive Director Male 41
EE HITES EElid
Li Yao Non-executive Director Male 38
Pz FHITES EElis
Lin Chen Independent Non-executive Director Male 46
N BUFMITES EElid
Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena  Independent Non-executive Director Female 53
mnE B IFRITEE i
Wong Chun Sek, Edmund Independent Non-executive Director Male 40

B3 BUIFITES St




THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Up to the date of this Annual Report, subsequent to the publication
of the 2024 Interim Report, the Manager was aware of the following
changes of Director’s information:

e Mr. Wong Chun Sek Edmund resigned as an independent
non-executive director of Confidence Intelligence Holdings
Limited (01967.HK) with effect from 11 December 2024.

° Mr. Lin Chen was appointed as an independent director of the
board of directors of Waterdrop Inc. (NYSE: WDH) since 11
March 2025.

Board Composition

The Board composition will be reviewed regularly to ensure that
the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience and
that the directors being appointed have the relevant expertise and
experience in discharging their duties.

The composition of the Board is determined using the following
principles:

° the Chairman of the Board should be a non-executive
director;

e the Board should have a balance of skKill, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate for the requirements of
CMC REIT’s business and should ensure that changes to its
composition can be managed without undue disruption;

e the Board should have a balanced composition of executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive directors so
that there is a strong independent element on the Board which
can effectively exercise independent judgement;

e the Board should have a policy concerning diversity of the
board members which is appropriate for the requirements
of CMC REIT’s business, and shall disclose the policy
on diversity or a summary of the policy in the corporate
governance report;
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)

e at least one-third of the Board and a minimum of three
members of the Board should be independent non-executive
directors and at least one independent non-executive
director must have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise; and

e the re-election and further appointment of any independent
non-executive director serving on the Board for nine years
shall be subject to a separate Unitholders’ resolution. An
additional independent non-executive director shall be
appointed if all existing independent non-executive directors
have served on the board for over nine years.

Roles of the Key Board Members

The positions of Chairman and the Executive Director are held by
separate persons in order to maintain an effective segregation of
duties.

The Chairman leads the Board discussions and deliberations and
is responsible for setting the meeting agenda of Board meetings.
He ensures that Board meetings are held when necessary. He
promotes high standards of corporate governance and the
maintenance of effective communications with Unitholders.

The Executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the REIT Manager and CMC REIT. The Executive
Directors execute the strategic plans set out by the Board and
ensure that the directors are kept updated and informed of CMC
REIT’s business through management reports.

Board Diversity Policy

The board diversity policy of the REIT Manager ensures that
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of the Board is
maintained. Selection of candidates is based on a number of
factors, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, gender, knowledge, length of service and professional
experience or skills. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board, except in the case of gender; at minimum one of the
directors shall be female. At present the board comprises 6 male
directors and 1 female director.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Meetings

Board meetings will normally be held at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. To ensure that directors will
be given sufficient time to consider the issues to be tabled at the
various Board meetings, details of the venue, time and agenda of
the meeting are required to be given at least 14 days in advance of
the meeting (except if there are exceptional circumstances or if the
majority of directors agree to a shorter period of notice).

No Board meeting, or any adjourned Board meeting, will be
quorate unless a simple majority of directors are present at the
time when the relevant business is transacted. If a director who,
whether directly or indirectly, has a material interest in a contract or
proposed contract with the REIT Manager which is of significance
to the REIT Manager’s business, he must declare the nature of
his interest during the Board meeting or by giving a general notice
to the Board, whichever is earlier before the question of entering
into the contract is taken into consideration on behalf of the REIT
Manager. A director who is prohibited from voting by reason of a
conflict of interest or that the REIT Manager has excluded from
voting will not be counted for the purposes of establishing the
necessary quorum for the meeting.

Matters to be considered by the Board will be adopted on the basis
of a simple majority of votes.

Board Committees

The Board has the power to delegate to committees consisting
of such numbers of its body as it thinks fit. Four committees
have been established to assist the Board in discharging its
responsibilities. The committees of the Board have been set up
with clear terms of reference to review specific issues or items and
then to submit their findings and recommendations to the full Board
for consideration and endorsement. Unless the decision making
power has been vested in the relevant committee by the Board, the
ultimate responsibility for making final decisions rests with the full
Board and not the committees. The committees of the Board are
currently as follows:

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee comprises the Chief Investment and
Asset Management Officer and two directors one of whom shall
be an independent non-executive director. As at the date of this
report, the members of the Investment Committee are Mr. Li Yao,
Mr. Guo Jin and Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund. Mr. Li Yao is the
current chairman of the committee.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Investment Committee (continued)

The Investment Committee is responsible for, among other
matters, evaluating and making recommendations on proposed
acquisitions and disposals of assets, approving budgets and
reviewing actual expenses on all key expenditures and reviewing
quarterly operational performance, forecasts and annual financial
plans of the REIT Manager and CMC REIT. The committee will
monitor the implementation of financing strategies, including
gearing levels and the status of loan covenants. The Investment
Committee also reviews and recommends changes to policies
or procedures in areas such as accounting, taxes, treasury,
distribution payout, investment appraisal, management and
statutory reporting.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises at least three members
appointed by the Board from among the non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors. A majority of the
members of the Audit Committee shall be independent non-
executive directors and at least one of them shall have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Audit Committee must be chaired
by an independent non-executive director. As at the date of this
report, the members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Wong Chun
Sek, Edmund, Mr. Li Yao and Mr. Lin Chen. Mr. Wong Chun Sek
Edmund is the current chairman of the committee.

The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring the quality
and integrity of internal control and the management of risks,
financial statements, appointment and performance of internal and
independent external auditors, and the existence and working of
an effective system of internal control and risk management, in
respect of both the Manager and and CMC REIT.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) =)

Board Committees (continued) ExZEg(E)

Audit Committee (continued) %V%Eé(ﬁ)

More specifically, the Audit Committee’s responsibilities include: R F BERLZEENEAERE

e Reviewing financial and accounting policies and practices o EMUBKEFBELER  FHI2EN

and in particular reviewing and monitoring the integrity, NEERPIERERNETIE « T - g
completeness, accuracy, clarity and fairness of financial M OBMTIE R AT .
statements.

Maintaining an adequately-resourced, independent and
objective internal audit function, including monitoring its
effectiveness, and ensuring coordination between the external
auditors and the internal auditor.

Ascertaining that the guidelines and procedures established
to monitor connected party transactions have been complied
with and, monitoring such transactions to ensure that they are
conducted in accordance with the relevant regulations.

Reviewing audit reports and recommendations submitted by
the external auditors. Make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment and removal of external
auditors, and approve remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditors and ensure regular rotation of the lead
audit partner.

Reviewing financial controls, overall risk management and
internal control systems to ensure they are effective. Review
the status of identified risks to the Trust. Conducting major
investigations on risk management and internal control
matters.

Reviewing the findings of any investigation conducted, and
recommendations for appropriate follow-up action by the
Internal Auditor pursuant to the Whistle-blowing Policy.

Developing and implementing a policy on the engagement of
external auditors to supply non-audit services.

. i’&%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ B BRBMAETR
£ BREEREAME - WHRINEZE
EﬂiéﬁiWuB%?rEfﬁZFEJE’]Tﬁ%uH

o WEREFRBEALRZMHIENRESIM
BFoEET  EERMRXHURERER
BHRBRE o

o EHERE RINSZBEN R A ER
MOMNBZBEINEE BELERRNES
SITHEE - RSN BED A0 B RS

RIGER - BREERAABATHHRES
R o

. BEUHEH  BRERERROBIE
ZOLAERA AN - MR BAIELA
RAVISIR - WRRETD RN B EE
TEARE -

o EHMMETHEMAENER - URAK
ErT AR R R RRR KRB ERETEH
et

o HIEWEIER TREINEZBEN R IEE
FHARTSHIERER



m CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Corporate Governance Report ® 1> E aHE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is appointed by the
Board from among the directors. A majority of the members of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall be independent
non-executive directors. The chairman of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee shall be the Chairman or an independent
non-executive director. As at the date of this report, the members
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are Mr. Yu
Zhiliang, Mr. Lin Chen and Ms. Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena. Mr. Yu
Zhiliang is the current chairman of the committee.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities
include, among other things:

e Reviewing the structure, size and composition (including skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and its committees
at least annually and making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the REIT
Manager’s corporate strategy.

e Developing the criteria for identifying and evaluating
candidates for directorship and their qualifications. Identifying
individuals who are qualified/suitable to become a member
of the Board and making recommendations to the Board
regarding individuals nominated for directorships.

e Reviewing the qualification and competence of Directors and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment or removal of directors and succession
planning for directors.

e Recommending to the Board standards and practices for
Director’s independence and assessing the independence
of independent non-executive directors to determine their
eligibility.

e Making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
and retirement policies and packages for directors and
ensuring that no director is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

° Reviewing, monitoring and reporting on the REIT Manager’s
board diversity policy.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Disclosures Committee

The Disclosures Committee is appointed by the Board from
among the directors. The Disclosures Committee consists of
three directors, one of whom shall be an independent non-
executive director. As at the date of this report, the members of the
Disclosures Committee are Mr. Zhong Ning, Mr. Guo Jin and Ms.
Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena. Mr. Zhong Ning is the current chairman of
the committee.

The role of the Disclosures Committee includes reviewing matters
relating to the disclosure of information to Unitholders and public
announcements. The Disclosures Committee also works with the
management of the REIT Manager to ensure that the disclosure of
information is accurate, complete and not misleading.

The Disclosures Committee’s responsibilities include:

e regularly reviewing and making recommendations to the
Board on matters of corporate disclosure issues and
announcements regarding (without limitation) financial
reporting, connected party transactions, and potential areas
of conflicts of interest;

e overseeing compliance with applicable legal requirements and
the continuity, accuracy, clarity, completeness and currency
of information disseminated by or on behalf of CMC REIT to
the public and applicable regulatory agencies;

° reviewing and approving all material non-public information
and all public regulatory filings of or on behalf of CMC REIT
prior to such information being disseminated to the public or
filed with applicable regulatory agencies, as applicable;

° reviewing periodic and current reports, proxy statements,
information statements, registration statements and any other
information filed with regulatory bodies;

° reviewing press releases containing financial information,
information about material acquisitions or dispositions or other
information material to the Unitholders; and

* reviewing correspondence containing financial information
disseminated to the Unitholders.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Attendance

The REIT Manager held seven board meetings over the period
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024. The attendance of
individual directors at the Board Meetings and various Board
Committee Meetings convened is as follows:

B2 (E

i R 8%

EFEER AR2024%F1 A1HE2024F12 A31H
HRERITEAESTER  SEEMEHA
MNEESTERNSESTLECERNNERLE
U

Committee Meetings ZE2&%

Members of the Board Board Meetings Investment Audit Nomination & Remuneration Disclosures
=7 Ezgen RE EH RERGMH BE
Huang Junlong (resigned on

06 August 2024) 4/4 - - 2/2 -
EYE (R202458R6HET)
Yu Zhiliang (appointed on

06 August 2024) 3/3 - - - -
RER(R2024F8A6HRE)
Li Yao 5/7 3/3 3/4 - -
5=
Guo Jin /7 3/3 - - 3/3
P
Zhong Ning " - - - 3/3
Lin Chen 5/7 - 4/4 2/2 -
=
Wong Chun Sek, Edmund 7 3/3 4/4 - -
BLE
Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena /7 - - 2/2 3/3




CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

All conflicts of interest shall be managed by the Board in
accordance with the articles of association of the REIT Manager
and applicable laws, rules and regulations. The REIT Manager shall
ensure that all conflicts of interest relating to CMC REIT shall be
managed and avoided. The following measures are taken in this
regard:

e the REIT Manager will be a dedicated manager to CMC REIT
and, unless with the approval of the SFC, the REIT Manager
will not manage any REIT other than CMC REIT nor manage
other real estate assets other than those in which CMC REIT
has an ownership interest or investment;

e the REIT Manager will ensure that it will be able to function
independently from its shareholders and all senior executives
and officers will be employed by the REIT Manager or the
Onshore Manager Subsidiary on a full time basis and solely be
dedicated to the operations of CMC REIT;

e the REIT Manager has established procedures to deal with
conflicts of interest under its compliance manual;

e  The REIT Manager has established internal control systems to
ensure that connected party transactions between CMC REIT
and its connected persons are monitored and undertaken
according to procedures and/or on terms in compliance
with the REIT Code (or where applicable, in compliance with
the waiver conditions imposed by the SFC) and that other
potential conflicts of interest that may arise are monitored;

e all conflicts of interest involving a substantial Unitholder or a
director, or a connected person through such entities, will be
managed by a physical Board meeting rather than through a
written resolution and all independent non-executive directors
who, and whose associates, have no material interest in the
matter should be present at such Board meeting; and

e adirector who has material interests in a matter which is the
subject of a resolution proposed at a Board meeting of the
REIT Manager shall abstain from voting on the resolution
concerned.
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST (continued)

All connected party transactions must be:

° carried out at arm’s length, on normal commercial terms and
in an open and transparent manner;

e valued, in relation to a property transaction, by an
independent property valuer;

e consistent with CMC REIT’s investment objectives and
strategy;

° in the best interests of Unitholders;
o properly disclosed to Unitholders; and

e approved by the independent non-executive directors of
the REIT Manager (or a committee thereof). Where the
prior approval of Unitholders is required, the independent
non-executive directors of the REIT Manager (or a committee
thereof) shall confirm in a letter set out in the circular to
Unitholders, whether the terms and conditions of the
transaction are fair, reasonable and in the best interests of
Unitholders, and whether Unitholders should vote in favour of
the resolution.

The REIT Manager must demonstrate to the independent
non-executive directors and the Audit Committee that all
connected party transactions satisfy the foregoing criteria,
which may entail (where practicable) obtaining quotations from
independent third parties, or obtaining one or more valuation letters
from independent professional valuers.

Prior approval of Unitholders is required for connected party
transactions unless the Assets, Revenue, Consideration and
Equity Capital percentage ratio of the transaction (as defined
under paragraph 14.07 of the Listing Rules) are all less than five
percent. Save for the appointment or removal of the REIT Manager,
a Unitholder is prohibited from voting its Units at, or being part of
a quorum for, any meeting of Unitholders convened to approve
any matter in which the Unitholder has a material interest in the
business to be conducted and that interest is different from the
interest of other Unitholders.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for overseeing the risk
management and internal control systems of CMC REIT and
ensuring that these systems are effectively maintained.

The Board will meet regularly to review the risks to the assets and
business of CMC REIT and discuss the implementation of risk
mitigations measures. Various risk areas relevant to real estate
investment trusts are analysed regularly and monitored by the REIT
Manager, including the following:

° Property Related Risks (broken down into Tenant
Concentration risk, Sector Concentration risk, Geographical
Concentration risk, Tenant Expiry risk and Property Damage
risk)

o Legal Risks (broken down into Property Liability risk, Litigation
risk and Land Use risk)

° Financing Risks (broken down into Interest Rate risk,
Refinancing risk and Gearing risk)

e Market Risks (essentially Currency risk)

e  Operational Risks (broken down into Premises Denial risk,
Cyber Security risk and Fraud risk)

e  Climate Risks (broken down into Acute Physical risk, Chronic
Physical risk, Reporting Transitional risk and Technology
Transitional risk)

The internal auditor of the REIT Manager (“Internal Auditor”)
conducts independent reviews to ensure the adequacy,
effectiveness and efficiency of operational processes and internal
controls. The Board will consider and, if appropriate, act upon any
recommendations from the Internal Auditor. The Internal Auditor
conducts financial, operations and compliance reviews, recurring
and ad-hoc audits, fraud investigation and process efficiency
reviews. A summary report with key findings, improvement
recommendations and implementation status is provided to the
Audit Committee on a regular basis.

For the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness
of CMC REIT’s risk management and internal control systems,
covering all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance. Based on the recommendation of the Audit
Committee, the Board confirmed that the REIT Manager’s risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate, and identified no significant areas of concern.
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GENERAL MEETINGS

CMC REIT will in each calendar year hold an annual general
meeting in addition to any other general meetings in that year. The
Trustee or the REIT Manager may at any time convene a meeting
of Unitholders. The REIT Manager will also convene a meeting of
Unitholders if requested in writing by not less than two Unitholders
registered as holding together not less than 10% of the Units
in issue. In general, a circular shall be sent within 15 business
days to holders after the issuance of an announcement. Where a
general meeting is to be held, the relevant circular shall be sent to
holders at the same time as or before the relevant notice of general
meeting. Such notice will specify the time and place of the meeting
and the terms of any resolutions to be proposed.

Two or more Unitholders present in person or by proxy registered
as holding together not less than 10% of the Units for the
time being in issue and outstanding will form a quorum for the
transaction of all business, except for the purpose of passing a
Special Resolution. The quorum for passing a Special Resolution
will be two or more Unitholders present in person or by proxy
registered as holding together not less than 25% of the Units in
issue and outstanding. The quorum for an adjourned meeting shall
be such number of Unitholders who are present in person or by
proxy, regardless of the number of Units held by them.

REPORTING AND TRANSPARENCY

CMC REIT will prepare its accounts in accordance with IFRS with
a financial year end of 31st December and a financial half-year
end of 30th June. In accordance with the REIT Code, the annual
report and accounts for CMC REIT will be published and sent to
the Unitholders no later than four months following the end of each
financial year. Interim reports will be published and sent to the
Unitholders no later than three months following the end of each
financial half-year.

The REIT Manager shall ensure that a full valuation of each of
CMC REIT’s properties shall be conducted by a principal valuer
appointed in accordance with the Trust Deed at least once a
year, and may require the principal valuer to carry out additional
valuations or inspections in any other circumstance prescribed by
the REIT Code and at such occasions as the REIT Manager may
determine is necessary.
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REPORTING AND TRANSPARENCY (continued)

The REIT Manager shall keep the Unitholders informed of any
material information pertaining to CMC REIT in a timely and
transparent manner as required by the REIT Code and the
provisions of Part XIVA of the SFO shall have effect, mutatis
mutandis, as if CMC REIT is a ‘listed corporation’ and as if the
Board of Directors of the REIT Manager are the Board of Directors
of a ‘listed corporation’. As required by the REIT Code, the REIT
Manager will inform Unitholders as soon as reasonably practicable
of any information or transaction concerning CMC REIT which:

o is necessary to enable Unitholders to appraise the position of
CMC REIT; or

° is necessary to avoid a false market in the Units; or

° might be reasonably expected to materially affect market
activity or the price of Units of CMC REIT; or

° requires Unitholders’ approval.

DISTRIBUTION POLICY

Under the Trust Deed at least one distribution shall be made in
respect of each financial year and paid no later than five months
after the distribution calculation date for the relevant distribution
period. CMC REIT’s present distribution policy is make two
distributions in respect of each year, being distributions with
respect to the six-month periods ending 30th June and 31st
December. Distributions to Unitholders will be declared and paid
in Hong Kong dollars. In accordance with the REIT Code, the REIT
Manager’s will distribute to Unitholders an amount of no less than
90% of CMC REIT’s Annual Distributable Income for each financial
year.
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DISTRIBUTION POLICY (continued)

Under the terms of the Trust Deed, “Annual Distributable Income”
for a financial year is the amount calculated by the REIT Manager to
be the consolidated audited Net Profit After Tax of CMC REIT and

DIRBUR (#)
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HrERREETEES REMB R RRZIRF

its subsidiaries for that financial year, adjusted for various non-cash
gains/losses or expenses including:

unrealised property revaluation gain and losses, including
impairment provisions and reversals of impairment provisions;

goodwill impairment (charged) and/or negative goodwill
(credited);

differences between financial costs recognised on the
financial statements and interest paid and payable in
accordance with contractual obligations during that financial
year or that distribution period (as the case may be);

realised gains or losses on the disposal of financial
instruments or the disposal of properties and/or disposal of
the Special Purpose Vehicle which holds such properties;

fair value gains and losses on financial instruments;

deferred tax charges/credits in respect of property valuation
movements, fair value changes on financial instruments
and commercial building allowances/capital allowances,
withholding tax on retained profits to be distributed and other
tax losses or other deductions claimed;

allocation of statutory reserve as required by applicable laws;

the portion of the REIT Manager’s fee that is paid in the form
of Units;
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DISTRIBUTION POLICY (continued)

non-cash foreign exchange gains or losses;

costs of any public offering of Units, Convertible Instruments
or other forms of debt and/or securities that are expensed
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income but are funded by proceeds from the
issuance of such Units, Convertible Instruments or other forms
of debt and/or securities;

depreciation and amortisation in respect of a real estate
directly or indirectly owned by CMC REIT, and its ancillary
machinery, equipment and other fixed assets;

the effects of any amount paid to CMC REIT for the express
purpose of distribution to Unitholders; and

other material non-cash gains/losses, in each case as
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income for the financial year.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Annual Distributable Income is
calculated after accounting for the Base Fee and the Variable
Fee payable to the REIT Manager and excludes any additional
discretionary distributions out of capital.

The REIT Manager has the discretion to direct the Trustee to
make distributions over and above the minimum 90% of Annual
Distributable Income if and to the extent CMC REIT, in the
opinion of the REIT Manager, has funds surplus to its business
requirements. The present policy is to distribute 100% of the
Annual Distributable Income.
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ISSUANCE OF FURTHER UNITS

To minimise the possible material dilution of holdings of
Unitholders, any issue of Units will need to comply with the
preemption provisions contained in the REIT Code, the Trust Deed
and any other applicable laws and regulations. The REIT Code
provisions require that issues of Units be first offered on a pro rata
pre-emptive basis to existing Unitholders except that Units may be
issued:

e free of such pre-emption rights up to an aggregate maximum
in any financial year of 20% of the number of Units outstanding
at the end of the previous financial year; and

e free of pre-emption rights in other circumstances provided
that the approval of Unitholders by way of an Ordinary
Resolution is obtained.

Subject thereto, Units may be issued as consideration for the
acquisition of additional real estate.

Unitholders’ approval is required for all issues of new Units to
connected persons unless a waiver has been granted by the SFC.
The SFC has granted, a waiver that allows the REIT Manager to
issue new Units to a connected person under these situations:

e arightsissue or as part of any offer made to all Unitholders on
a pro rata basis;

e  a capitalisation issue in so far as such issue is offered to the
Unitholders on a pro rata basis;

e anissue of Units in respect of re-investment of a distribution to
Unitholders;
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ISSUANCE OF FURTHER UNITS (continued)

e the connected person receives a pro rata entitlement to Units
and/or Convertible Instruments in its capacity as a Unitholder
(provided that such issue will not increase the market
capitalisation of CMC REIT by more than 50%);

e top-up subscription by a connected person to facilitate a
placing of Units and/or Convertible Instruments to other
parties, subject to certain restrictions.

Where Unitholders’ approval is required for an issue of new Units
to a connected person, both the connected person subscriber and
any other person who has a material interest in the resolution to
approve such issue, and that interest is different from that of other
Unitholders, shall abstain from voting on such resolution.

During the Reporting Year, there were no new Units issued.

INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN UNITS BY
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

To prevent the misuse of inside information and to monitor and
supervise any dealings of Units, the REIT Manager has adopted a
code containing rules on dealings by the directors and the REIT
Manager equivalent to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to this code, all directors and employees of the
REIT Manager, subsidiaries of the REIT Manager or Special
Purpose Vehicles of CMC REIT who, because of his/her office
or employment is likely to be in possession of unpublished price
sensitive information in relation CMC REIT (“Management
Persons”) wishing to deal in securities of CMC REIT must first have
regard to provisions in Parts Xlll and XIV of the SFO with respect
to insider dealing and market misconduct as if those provisions
applied to the securities of CMC REIT.
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INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN UNITS BY
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(continued)

In addition, a Management Person must not make any
unauthorised disclosure of confidential information or make any
use of such information for the advantage of himself/herself or
others. Management Persons who are aware of or privy to any
negotiations or agreements related to intended acquisitions or
disposals which are notifiable transactions under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules as if applicable to CMC REIT or any connected party
transactions under the REIT Code or any inside information must
refrain from dealing in the securities of CMC REIT as soon as they
become aware of them or privy to them until proper disclosure of
the information in accordance all applicable rules and regulations.
Management Persons who are privy to relevant negotiations
or agreements or any inside information should caution those
Management Persons who are not so privy that there may be inside
information and that they must not deal in the securities of CMC
REIT for a similar period.

A Management Person must not, unless the circumstances are
exceptional, deal in any of the securities of CMC REIT on any day
on which CMC REIT’s financial results are published and:

e during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the annual results or, if shorter, the period
from the end of the relevant financial year up to the publication
date of the results; and

e during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the quarterly results (if any) or half-yearly
results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the relevant
quarterly or half-year period up to the publication date of the
results.

The REIT Manager is subject to the same dealing requirements as
the directors, mutatis mutandis.
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INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN UNITS BY
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(continued)

The provisions of Part XV of the SFO with respect to disclosure of
interests are deemed to apply to the REIT Manager, the directors
of the REIT Manager and each Unitholder and all persons claiming
through or under him. The REIT Manager has adopted procedures
for the monitoring of disclosure of interests by directors of the
REIT Manager, and the REIT Manager. Under the Trust Deed,
Unitholders with a holding of 5% or more of the Units in issue, and
the directors of the REIT Manager with an interest in the Units, will
have a notifiable interest and will be required to notify the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange and the REIT Manager of their holdings
in CMC REIT. The REIT Manager shall keep a register for these
purposes and it shall record in the register, against a person’s
name, the particulars provided pursuant to the notification and the
date of entry of such record. The said register shall be available for
inspection by the Trustee and any Unitholder at any time during
business hours upon reasonable notice to the REIT Manager.

Specific enquiry has been made of all directors and all of them
have confirmed that they have complied with CMC REIT’s rules on
dealings by directors which are equivalent to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than as disclosed in this report and previous disclosures
(including announcements, circulars and Offering Circular) issued
by the REIT Manager, there are no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significant subsisting during or at the end of the
Reporting Period in which a Director or any entity connected
with a Director is or was materially interested, whether directly or
indirectly.
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MATTERS TO BE DECIDED BY UNITHOLDERS
BY SPECIAL RESOLUTION

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, decisions with respect to certain
matters require specific prior approval of Unitholders by way of
Special Resolution. Such matters include:

e changes in the REIT Manager’s investment policies or
strategies for CMC REIT;

e disposal of any of real estate investments which have been
held for less than two years;

e anyincrease in the rate above the permitted limit or change in
structure of the REIT Manager’s or Trustee’s fees;

° certain modifications of the Trust Deed; and
. termination or merger of CMC REIT;

Unitholders may also, by way of a Special Resolution, remove the
Trustee or appoint new auditors in place of the existing auditors.

EMPLOYEES

CMC REIT is an externally managed trust and does not employ any
staff. However, various statistics regarding the employees of the
REIT Manager, the Operations Manager and the Property Manager
are disclosed annually in CMC REIT’s Environmental, Social
and Governance Report published concurrently with this Annual
Report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and as far as
the REIT Manager is aware, not less than 25% of the outstanding
units in issue of CMC REIT were held in public hands as of 31st
December 2024.
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SUMMARY OF ALL SALE AND PURCHASE OF
REAL ESTATE

CMC REIT did not enter into any real estate sales and purchases
during the Reporting Year.

TRUST DEED AMENDMENTS

The Trust Deed was not amended during the Reporting Year.

AUDITORS

At the annual general meeting of CMC REIT held on 28 June 2024,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired as the auditor and KPMG was
appointed as the new auditor of CMC REIT.

The final results of CMC REIT for the Reporting Year have been
audited by the independent external auditor KPMG and reviewed
by the Disclosures Committee and the Audit Committee of the
Board in accordance with their respective terms of reference. The
responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to financial
reporting are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.
For the Reporting Year, the fees for audit and audit related
services payable to KPMG amounted to RMB1,330,000 (2023:
RMB1,830,000 to Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu) while the
fees paid for the non-audit services were RMB350,000 (2023:
RMB253,000 to Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu).
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UNITHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

Maintaining an ongoing dialogue with Unitholders and the
investment community at large is an important priority for CMC
REIT. To this end, the REIT Manager has in place a Unitholder
Communication Policy that dictates timely and effective
dissemination of information regarding the business strategies,
property operations and prospects of CMC REIT. This policy also
promotes engagement with all other stakeholders, giving them
equal access to pertinent information about CMC REIT.

Beyond statutory disclosure requirements, after the end of
each calendar quarter CMC REIT voluntarily releases unaudited
operational statistics containing the occupancy rate and passing
rent of each owned property. These leasing statistics help
investors and other stakeholders keep abreast of CMC REIT’s
progress in a fast changing business environment. CMC REIT’s
website is updated on a timely basis as an effective channel of
communication with Unitholders. It contains general information on
the Trust as well as all information released through the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. The website also allows Unitholders and potential
investors to contact the IR team electronically, and a timely
response is given to all enquiries. Furthermore, barring unforeseen
circumstances, Unitholders are provided with the opportunities
to communicate directly with the Chairman and Directors of CMC
REIT at general meetings.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the
Unitholder Communication Policy annually and is of the view that
the current Unitholder Communication Policy is effective and has
been implemented properly.
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UNITHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY SENIFEAWBBEER(EZ)
(continued)

The following Unitholders engagement activities were conducted in AR ES BAEA AL BER)EHE R2024FFHE ¢
2024

A

AGM/EGM — Unitholders are able to attend and vote in person

BERE /HiXg - Board chairman attend all general meetings
- H2BUBAARRFHELIRE
- EFgIFHEBRRE

Investor Meetings Conducted non-deal roadshow presentations and meetings with investors mainly

KEEER from Hong Kong and Mainland China, covering matters including annual/interim
results. Invited investors/unitholders to visit our properties.
ETHRIRBENE  BFrERGEBSNPRAENREEEH FETRTF
B/ REREEE - BEREE /EeBURBAEAIMESBER -

Results presentation Results presentations were held on the day immediately after the annual and interim

E g results, including an analyst briefing and media briefing. The directors and senior
management provide answers and updates on business performance, financial
review and outlook.
EEERPHEEZHNZR  RREERHG  OEREEGN REBHN -
EREREBELRE MEBBEERD  MBERAREREZEME -

Media Briefings Covering matters including annual/interim results

HEmNe IBARFETHEE

Reports, circulars and — Published Annual Report, Interim Report and ESG Report

Announcements — Voluntarily published Quarterly Operating Statistics announcement

WE - BREAE - FUBEFR  FHRUKIRE G REBRE
- BERUEEMEELEFELS

Website www.cmcreit.com

Hur

Enquiry email ir@cmcreit.com.hk

BRED Responded to comments, suggestions and questions received through the email in

a timely manner.

BAEBRINER BELHECEEE IELRELE -
B\
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REPORT OF TRUSTEE

=7 = =
ZiEAIRE
TRUSTEE REPORT TO UNITHOLDERS HEESENEBEANZTEARE

We hereby confirm that, in our opinion, the Manager of China EEENER BERE BERREEME
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (“CMC WEETES ((BEREERETES ) NER
REIT”) has, in all material respects, managed CMC REIT in  A2024%1 81 H%E2024412831H [FHAR] -
accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed dated 15 HE&EZEHECIEE2019411 8158 H=
November 2019 (as amended from time to time) for the period from  (ERAY(EREHEE]) 2R EC B EHRHERE

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024. AES -
DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited EEEETE(FEB)BRAT
(in its capacity as trustee of CMC REIT) (UBRERBERBEEETEZZTANS )

Hong Kong, 9 April 2025 8 - 2025F4H9R
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The REIT Code contains rules on connected party transaction
governing transactions between the China Merchants Commercial
REIT Group and its connected persons (as defined in paragraph
8.1 of the REIT Code). Such transactions will constitute “connected
party transactions” for the purposes of the REIT Code.

In addition to “substantial Unitholders” (that is, holders of 10%
or more of the outstanding Units within the meaning of the REIT
Code), China Merchants Commercial REIT’s “connected persons”
will include, among others:

(1)

the controlling entities, holding companies, subsidiaries and
associated companies of the “substantial Unitholders”, and
associates of the “substantial Unitholders” within the meaning
of the REIT Code;

the REIT Manager as well as controlling entities, holding
companies, subsidiaries and associated companies of the
REIT Manager within the meaning of the REIT Code;

the Trustee as well as controlling entities, holding companies,
subsidiaries and associated companies of the Trustee
within the meaning of the REIT Code. As a result, the list of
“connected persons” of China Merchants Commercial REIT
shall include Deutsche Bank AG (which indirectly wholly owns
the Trustee) and other members of the DB Group; and

the directors, senior executives and officers of the REIT
Manager and Trustee, and their respective associates within
the meaning of the REIT Code.
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP

The following sets out information on connected party transactions
between China Merchants Commercial REIT and its connected
persons (as defined in paragraph 8.1 of the REIT Code):

Connected Party Transaction — Income

BEALXRZ -IRA

HFZESENVHAEARENEE
ARG
TXEHMS R BERHLEEES REREA
+(FEEETESTASSABR)MBEALS
SER

A
Nature of
Relationship with connected Income for the
Name of connected parties CMC REIT transactions Reporting Year
BEATER HEEREEETESZHBE BEXSME BEFEZWA
RMB’000
AREFT
China Merchants Taipingwan Development & Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 1,072
Investment Co., Ltd.
BERANTEREREARAF AR EE LT AN
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 4,299
BERERERRNEBR AR AR AREELE HEWA
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Intermediate holding company  Rental income 23,952
Holdings Co., Ltd. of a Substantial Unitholder
AERN IREZERRNERAR FEESBURAANEELER HaKA
NG
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.  Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 4,964
AYBEEERRRE Ak OEFRaE AEKA
China Merchants Investment Development Company Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 10,316
Limited
BERREERARAR] ERpELAmk 0k NS HEWA
China Merchants Financial Technology Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 724
BERERRRARRQR HEkOHNHEAR] BEKA
China Communications Import and Export Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 11
Corporation Limited
FER BT L OARAR BE AR EELE] HEWA
China Merchants International information Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 4,022
Technology Co., Ltd.
BERBERRHRARRE sl eAmkiok s S YNS| A ON
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Gas Shipping Co., Ltd.  Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 756
R EERIC RMB AR AR el gm0k - YN] HEWA
Shenzhen Ming Wah Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 1,877
AYIAEMEBR AR HAEkOHHEAR] KA N
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 242
e OAERBEERAR BEw AR EELE] HEWA
B N




CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP

(continued)

Connected Party Transaction — Income (continued)
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EFEH
Aiﬁ&%(ﬁ)

REALTRS - WAGE)

SENFEARENEE

A .
Nature of
Relationship with connected Income for the
Name of connected parties CMC REIT transactions Reporting Year
BEATER HEEREEETESZBER BEXSME BEFEZBA
RMB’000
AREFTT
Guangzhou Haishun Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 465
BINEGIEMBEER L RS ARk S YNS| HEWA
Shenzhen Haishun Marine Services Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 600
A B IEEEREER AR Ak OEHEAR] KA N
Shenzhen Merchants Daojiahui Technology Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 1,302
Co., Ltd.
AYEEEKEREBRA REROKTFARE AN
International Container Leasmg Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 93
B ERAEHEAR AR HEkOEHEAR) EEAON
China Merchants Property Management Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 2,850
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.
ItRBERMEERAR AT R ORBEAR] AEKA
China Merchants Financial Leasing (Tianjin) Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 182
Co., Ltd.
BHRRERE(RR)BRAR BEELOMTAR KA ON
Shenzhen West Port Security Service Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 134
R ORZREER AR HEO8 TR BEKA
China Merchants Commercial Management Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 1,076
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Beijing branch
BEmExER(RINAERATILRS AR BEw R EELR AN
Beijing Zhaoshun Real Estate Development Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 1,861
Co., Ltd.
IERBIREEREFRAE Ak OaFRaE MEKA
Beijing Zhonggao Jingtou real Estate Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 3,848
development Co., Ltd.
ERPEREEMEREAR AT BEwOmFaaE HEWA
Beijing Zhaosheng real Estate Development Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 1,842
Co., Ltd.
IR BREHEREER AR BEwOrRFAE HEWA
Beijing Zhaocheng real Estate Development Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 2,081
Co., Ltd.
IEREREHEFRERR AR BEOF AR HEWA
B N




m CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Connected Party Transactions ® fg:&E A +32

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH FEESENUEEAEENEE
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP A:t“‘%(E)
(continued)

BEALRZS - WAE)

Connected Party Transaction — Income (continued)

VT
Nature of
Relationship with connected Income for the
Name of connected parties CMC REIT transactions Reporting Year
BEATER HEEREEETESZHBE BEXSZME BEFEZWA
RMB’000
AREFT
Shenzhen Shekou Communication Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Rental income 9
AT ABAER AR BEw R EE LR HEWA
China Merchants Shenzhen Construction Technology Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 1,495
Co., LTD
AYBERERRAR AR AEw s TR KA ON
China Merchants Building Technology (Shenzhen) Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 1,139
Co., LTD
BERFRRORIDERR AR OEFLRE HEWA
China Merchants Shenzhen Investment Real Estate  Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 1,027
consulting Co., LTD
AYTHAEXRBERERAR BEROMFAF KA ON
Shenzhen Investment Promotion Real Estate Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 1,275
Management Co., Ltd.
AYBEMEERERAF) A OEFRE BEKA
China Merchants Property Operation & Service Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 338
facilities operation (Shenzhen) Co., LTD
BraEsnaRmEERECRIDER AT HEELHF AR AN
Shenzhen China Merchants construction Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 1,386
management Co., LTD
AYEEERERERR sl ml: RSNG| BEKA
China Merchants Nanguang Elevator Technology Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 200
(Shenzhen) Co., LTD
BAEEABHRER ORI BRAF ARk O8FRE AN
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Intermediate holding company of Building management 3,358
Holdings Co., Ltd. a Substantial Unitholder fee income
BERRAIERERRHERA FTZESEURAANMRERR BFERERA
NG|
China Merchants International information Associated company of CMSK  Building management 301
Technology Co., Ltd. fee income
RERBERESRMERAR HE BB BFERERA
China Merchants Investment Development Company Associated company of CMSK  Building management 907
Limited fee income
BERREERARRLQR el oAmE): YN BFEREKRA
B aaaa N
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Connected Party Transaction -

Income (continued)
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HITETESENVEHEASENREE
Aiﬁ&%(ﬁ)

REALTRS - WAGE)

A
Nature of
Relationship with connected Income for the
Name of connected parties CMC REIT transactions Reporting Year
BEALER HABRREETESZHE BREXZME BEFEZBA
RMB’000
ARBTFT
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.  Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 813
fee income
AYBEEERR QT BEKLORNFAHE BFEBERA
China Merchants Taipingwan Development & Associated company of CMSK  Building management 142
Investment Co., Ltd. fee income
BERKTEREREFRAR AR AREELE BFEBREKRA
Shenzhen Ming Wah Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Building management 362
fee income
A FRERERRAF HEw BB LE BFEBEKRA
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Building management 731
fee income
BERERERRNBRAF) el ok - YN BFERBRA
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Building management 37
fee income
I AAEMEER AR BErOnBE LR BFEREKRA
Shenzhen Haishun Marine Services Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Building management 91
fee income
A B IEEEREER LA HAEkOABEAR] BFEBREKRA
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Gas Shipping Associated company of CMSK  Building management 134
Co., Ltd. fee income
A EERCRMBERA BEORBEN BFEEERA
International Container Leasmg Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Building management 18
fee income
B ERAEHERRAR HEkOHHEAR) BFEBRERA
Guangzhou Haishun Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Building management 71
fee income
BN BIEMBEERA EREEL R0 NG| BFERERA
China Merchants Financial Technology Associated company of CMSK  Building management 49
Co. Limited fee income
BERERRRARRRR el oARE) YN BFEREKRA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH HFEHLSBENIFEAEBNEE
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP AERG (&
(continued)
Connected Party Transaction — Income (continued) BEALTZE-WA(E)
A
Nature of
Relationship with connected Income for the
Name of connected parties CMC REIT transactions Reporting Year
BEALHR HAEREEETESZHBE BEXZME BEFEZWA
RMB’000
AREFT
China Merchants Financial Leasing (Tianjin) Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 20
Co., Ltd. fee income
BHRRERE(RR)BRAR AR AKFRRA BFERBRA
China Merchants Building Technology Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 291
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. fee income
BEBFRRORIDERAF HBEkOEFRE BTERBRA
China Merchants Property Operation & Service Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 81
Facilities Operation (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. fee income
BrEsme gL RBORYDEBR AR ARk O8FRE BFEREKRA
Shenzhen West Port Security Service Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 33
fee income
A ELEORLREERAR HEELANTRHE BFEREKRA
China Merchants Shenzhen Construction Technology Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 413
Co., LTD fee income
AYBEEERRER AT ARk OEFRE BFERERA
China Merchants Jiyu Digital Technology (Shenzhen) Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 15
Co., LTD fee income
BERSREFRRORIDER AT HBEELANT AR BFEBRERA
China Merchants Shenzhen Investment Real Estate ~ Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 281
consulting Co., LTD fee income
AT HAERBERERAR ARk OEFLRE BFEREKRA
Shenzhen Investment Promotion Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 344
Real Estate Management Co., Ltd. Shenzhen fee income
Branch
AYBEDEERERRARRYH DA AR ARFRA BFERERA
China Merchants Shenzhen Daojiahui Technology Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 347
Co. LTD fee income
AYEERERMRERAR HEELANT AT BFEREKRA
Shenzhen China Merchants construction Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 218
management Co., LTD fee income
A FERREBREBRAR BEEOMNTAR BFEBERA
B e N
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REITESENIHEALENEE
ARG (E)

REALTRS - WAGE)

VN
Nature of
Relationship with connected Income for the
Name of connected parties CMC REIT transactions Reporting Year
BEALRE HEBREEETESCHE HEXSME BEFEZBA
RMB’000
ARETT
China Merchants Nanguang Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 49
Elevator Technology (Shenzhen) fee income
Co., LTD
BEEAEHRRORIDERRAF Rk OEFRE BFEREKRA
Shenzhen Shekou Minghua Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Car park income 43
I ARAEMEER AR BEw R EELR FEBA
China Merchants Investment Development Associated company of CMSK  Car park income 23
Company Limited
BERREERARRLQR Ak ORBEAR) FEBWA
China Merchants International information Associated company of CMSK  Car park income 22
Technology Co., Ltd.
RERBERESRMERAR RSl Amk: 0 NG| FEBHA
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Gas Shipping Associated company of CMSK  Car park income 39
Co., Ltd.
AYERR(CRAMBEERAR Ak ORBEAR] FESWA
China Merchants Shenzhen Investment Real Estate  Subsidiary of CMSK Car park income 9
consulting Co., LTD
A HRAEXBERERAR ARk OEFLRE FEBHA
China Merchants Shenzhen Construction Technology Subsidiary of CMSK Car park income 7
Co., LTD
AYBERERRAR AR ARk ONTR8E FEBWA
China Merchants Shenzhen Daojiahui Technology ~ Subsidiary of CMSK Car park income 5
Co. LTD
RIBE R HKERR AR AR ARk OEFRE FEZBIA
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.  Subsidiary of CMSK Car park income 1
AYBEEHEERAA Ak O8FRaE FEFWA
China Merchants Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.  Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 15
AYBEFEHERR AT ARk OEFRE HAA
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Other income 58
BERERERRNERAF] HEkOEHEAR) HA
China Merchants International information Associated company of CMSK  Other income 94
Technology Co., Ltd.
BERBERRRARAE A ORBEAR] HlA
B N
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP

(continued)

Connected Party Transaction — Income (continued)

N

AERZ ()

REALTRS - WAGE)

SEBES Bl AEEORE

China Merchants Taipingwan Development &
Investment Co., Ltd.
AR T ERERERRAA

Associated company
of CMSK
B OMEERE

Other income

HelA

A
Nature of
Relationship with connected Income for the
Name of connected parties CMC REIT transactions Reporting Year
BEALRE HEEREEETESZBE BEXSME BEFEZBWA
RMB’000
ARETT
China Merchants Investment Development Associated company of CMSK  Other income 234
Company Limited
BERRAERABRAR HEOHBEAR] HA
China Merchants Financial Technology Co., Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Other income 10
BERERRRARRE B O ELa HA
China Merchants Building Technology (Shenzhen) Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 1
Co., Ltd.
BREFRERINERAR] BEEONETFAF HlA
China Merchants Shenzhen Daojiahui Technology Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 1
Co. LTD
AYEEKERRERAF ARk AR T AT HA
China Merchants Financial Leasing (Tianjin) Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 6
Co., Ltd.
RERREHEE(RR)ERAR RELONT AR HlA
Shenzhen Investment Promotion Real Estate Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 3
Management Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Branch
AYBENEERERRAFRYHDE AR OMFAE HlA
Shenzhen Minghua Shipping Co. Ltd. Associated company of CMSK  Other income 2
AYIAEMEFR AR Ak OABEAR] H it A
Shenzhen China Merchants construction Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 15
management Co., LTD
AYBEERERERAA) REEOETFAF HAWA
China Merchants Nanguang Elevator Technology Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 1
(Shenzhen) Co., LTD
BEEAEHRRORIDERRAF] tEEE Ak ey H it A
China Merchants Shenzhen Investment Real Estate  Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 1
consulting Co., LTD
AYMHEERBRERAR AR OMTF A HAA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH FTEESENURAEASENRE
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP A A'%(,”éf)
(continued)
Connected Party Transaction — Expenses BEALRS—XH
A
Nature of
Relationship with connected Expenses for the
Name of connected parties CMC REIT transactions Reporting Year
BEATER HAERHERETESZHE BERSUE BEFE2XH
RMB’000
ARBTT
Shenzhen Investment Promotion Real Estate Subsidiary of CMSK Property management 59,172
Management Co., Ltd. expense
A EEMEERER AR HEkO8FRE MEERE
China Merchants Property Management Subsidiary of CMSK Property management 675
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. expense
tREERYEEERRAR] BT AR MEERE
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management Subsidiary of CMSK Operations management 28,020
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. expense
Ao hEERORINERRE BREARFRFE BEERE
Shenzhen Merchant Real Estate Consulting Co., Ltd.  Subsidiary of CMSK Other expense 87
AT HREEERERAR A O8FRF HihFx
B

The English names are for identification only. * ENEEELRSE -
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP
(continued)

Annual Caps applicable to the CM Continuing CPTs

On 30 June 2022, the Manager convened an extraordinary general
meeting of the unitholders, at which, an ordinary resolution
amending the annual caps applicable to the CM Continuing CPTs
for the three years ending 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 was
duly passed by way of poll. For more details please refer to the
circular of CMC REIT dated 14 June 2022.

FTEEHEENEBEASENREE
Ai?&%(ﬁ)

BEFEREALRZ 2ERFELR

20226 H30H F EBABRAT —RESLEN
BHEANERAE & EUERERRNANER
BT —BETRRER - EFTEAREE2022
. 2023FM2024F12 31 H IF = AFE8HA
AFHEREALRSNFE LR - E2HE5H
REEEERETAES 202206 A 14HNAK

The details of the revised annual caps applicable to the CM  EANEHBEEEA T SEIEZEE L
Continuing CPTs thereto are set out below: FREFFIBEHN TX
VA
1/1/2022 - 1/1/2023 - 1/1/2024 -
Categories of CM Continuing CPTs  #BEHEFEA T 585 31/12/2022  31/12/2023  31/12/2024
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT ARETT
CM Tenancies BEHE 114,200 122,194 130,748
Operations and Property LEMMEETERS
Management Transactions 88,025 100,358 102,812

The annual caps set out in the table above should not be taken
as the anticipated growth projections or indicators of the future
performance of CMC REIT.

EXRFEERE LR ESRIFERRRERETE
BARREIR O TRHPE RIBRIH ISR -




CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS GROUP
(continued)

REIT Manager’s Fees

The REIT Manager’s fees amounted to RMB17,422,000 in relation
to the services provided for the Reporting Year.

The REIT Manager’s fee includes a base fee, variable fee,
acquisition fee and divestment fee. The base fee, which is defined
as 10.0% of the Distributable Income, based on the unaudited
financial statements of CMC REIT for the Reporting Period. The
base fee will be paid to the REIT Manager in cash.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH
TRUSTEE AND/OR TRUSTEE CONNECTED
PERSONS GROUP

Trustee’s Fees

During the Reporting Year, the trustee’s fee of approximately RMB
1,968,000 was incurred for services provided by DB Trustees
(Hong Kong) Limited as the trustee of the CMC REIT.

“TONFEER | BAREEETES

Connected Party Transactions ® #@:E A T35 5

EFEEHSENEEASEBNEE
Aiﬁ&%(ﬁ)

ERXEBEAEH
RS FERENEERENETLEEAEZR
A ANREE17,422,0007T °

FREEABRAREEAER FHER WK
BER LEER - EXABARTHIIKEA
M10.0% * DIRBRRREEEESNEEH
R REERV BRERE - EXABAGAR
XN TFEEEEA -

\Xn%)&&/_i;i?%)kﬁﬂ EALTE
ENREEALRS

TEAEH
RBEFE - EESER(ER)BRATMN
HEE AR RAEERESNIEAMRHR

BMEEANTTABZRL A ARE1,968,000
7T|:o
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Em R

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS ERiE

Based on the information available to the REIT Manager as at 31 BIEETEE ANR2024F12 A1 HAIBME
December 2024, each of the following entities was considered as B TR ELREREEESTAWERATE
a substantial Unitholder and hence a connected person of China E&£BREHAEA AN ER ARG REEERE
Merchants Commercial REIT under the REIT Code. The substantial st ES®EEAT - HEREREEETES
Unitholder held or was interested in the Units of China Merchants MESENSNEPEEERANTEESEEN

Commercial REIT as follow: BHEALT ¢
VT
Approximate
percentage of
Name of substantial unitholders Capacity in which Units are held Interests in Units interests’
TEESEURBAERE REESENZEH RESEUzEE HARZEIL(%)
China Merchants Group Limited Through controlled corporation 400,332,310 ()* 35.49
BHREEERAR RXEE 2 EERE
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Through controlled corporation 400,332,310 ()* 35.49
Holdings Company Limited
BEREA IERIERRHER AR XIS EERA
EUREKA INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED ~ Beneficial owner 400,332,310 (L) 35.49
ERBERA
Pacific Asset Management Co., Ltd. Investment manager 146,954,000 (L)* 13.03
KREKE
HSBC International Trustee Limited Trustee 146,798,000 (L)* 13.02
ZEEA
CWL Assets (PTC) Limited Trustee 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96
XEEA
K. Wah Properties (Holdings) Limited Through controlled corporation 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96
B EERE
Polymate Co., Ltd. Through controlled corporation 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96
XS 2 EERA
Premium Capital Profits Limited Beneficial owner 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96
ERBEAA
Star Il Limited Through controlled corporation 146,198,000 (L)* 12.96
XS 2 EERA

heg

B

(L) - Long position

# The percentages are based on the total number of units in issue of # BHRIRI20244%12 A31 B B 317.21,127,819,549
1,127,819,549 units at 31 December 2024. EES B BHHE -



INTERESTS HELD BY DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
EXECUTIVES OF THE REIT MANAGER

The REIT Code requires connected persons (as defined in
paragraph 8.1 of the REIT Code) of China Merchants Commercial
REIT to disclose their interests in units. Further, certain provisions
of Part XV of the SFO in relation to disclosure of interests are
deemed, pursuant to the Trust Deed, to apply to the Manager itself
and the Directors or senior executive of the Manager, and persons
interested in units (including short positions).

The interests of the REIT Manager’s directors in the Units recorded
in the register maintained by the REIT Manager are as follows:

As at 31 December 2024
MA2024%F12H831H

Name of directors

ToMEFR | BEREEETEES

==

Disclosure of Interests ® #Ez5HH5E

I

EAEEANESNMESRITHRAE
Fﬁ%ifﬁ

ERESTAHTRAREEETES 2 HE
AL (EEREAESTRIES M) ERERE
RES BN 2 - R - IBIBETRLY - &
FH M ERE GBI EXVENE R TE 2 & TR
WEAREANEEARERAZESHHESH
THAE  WRERESBUERER(BER
BIZAL e

FREEAEENHFAEREATENELH
AEEESEERNT

Approximate
Number of Units percentage of interests*

EEpE ESBUEE AR T 2 L (%)
Yu Zhiliang RER 160,000 0.014
Li Yao &% Nil = -
Guo Jin 3£ 160,000 0.014
Zhong Ning &2 32,000 0.003
Lin Chen #& Nil = -
Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena &)= & Nil = -
Wong Chun Sek, Edmund =& Nil 2 -

# The percentages are based on the total number of units in issue of
1,127,819,549 units at 31 December 2024.

# B EIHER2 024@12)%31 HE%1721,127,819,549
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e N/

Disclosure of Interests o #Em &

INTERESTS HELD BY SENIOR EXECUTIVES OF & ANSRITHASFiEREZ
THE MANAGER

The interests of the senior executives of the REIT Manager in the — EiLEIRASHITHA B EES BEHEEIT -
Units are as follows:

As at 31 December 2024
A2024%F12H831H

VN
Approximate
Name of senior executives Number of Units percentage of interests*
SRITRABRS HE2ENHA B R B 2 (%)
Choo Chong Yao, Patrick “4<fhZE Nil = -
Zhang Zhe 5k Nil = -
Chen Yan FR3E Nil & -

# The percentages are based on the total number of units in issue of # B R ER202412 A31HE #1721,127,819,549

1,127,819,549 units at 31 December 2024. ARG SR BHETE o
INTERESTS OF THE REIT MANAGER EILEIE AR
As at 31 December 2024, the REIT Manager did not hold any Units  jA00044E12 31 H © B &1 AW EZE B
in China Merchants Commercial REIT. BB A S T EL BT o
INTERESTS HELD BY OTHER CONNECTED H RS A+ FTS S
PERSONS N

Saved as disclosed above, the REIT Manager is not aware of any & - FRIFEESN - BB IE AT AHE - R
other connected persons of CMC REIT, including the Trustee, who 2004412 310 @ (F A E B BREESE
are interested (or deemed to be interested) in any Units as at 31 SHEEAT(BIESEA)BEERE BB HE
December 2024. (A4 BE i kERS o
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VALUATION REPORT
HERE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 | #Z2024%12 A31H L F[Z

&

Knight 3
Frank 35

Prepared on behalf of

China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited

(in its capacity as REIT Manager of China Merchants Commercial
Real Estate Investment Trust)

Room 2603 - 2606, Level 26

China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre

168 — 200 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited

(as trustee of China Merchants Commercial real Estate Investment
Trust)

60/F, International Commerce Centre

1 Austin Road West

Kowloon, Hong Kong

14 March 2025

4/F Shui On Centre
6-8 Harbour Road
Wanchai Hong Kong

EBET
% i86-85%
B L AT IS

A& RE
B REMEEARAT
(KB ERBBBEREMERE GTETHFIT

EEA9 517
'R

T34 187 168-2005%
EERLBEREAE
26122603 E 2606 =

EEEET(EB)ERAR
(IEBEBRBEEMERECFEDFIA)

BBNEE
] - @iE P 158
IRIRE 5 E560E

202593 514 H

101
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Valuation Report o {4 {E %%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 | &{ZE2024%12A31H L F[E

Dear Sirs

Valuation of Various
Properties located in
Shenzhen and Beijing,
the People’s Republic of
China

ZHEVRFEARKNE
)& AL ) E Faa

Basis of Valuation

HEREE

AR

In accordance with your instructions for us to value the above-mentioned property
interests held by China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (“CM
REIT”) and exhibited to us by China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited
(the “Company”) and DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”), we confirm that we have carried out inspections, made relevant
enquiries and obtained such further information as we consider necessary for the
purpose of providing you with our opinion of the market values of the properties as at
31 December 2024 for your accounting purpose.

BMZEREATRRMAELNET - SENREMEERRAR(ERAR D REEERE
F(EB)ERAANARMRTHBEEEXFHEREGAES ([ HBERAXREITE
S DRPEARKNBE((HEDFEN DY EETHE - RMEEEEREAYE
ELBEBEHR  WHERMBRLFZEEER  NAEARIZAKRMEZEMER
2024F12 A3 ZBRAR T ZMIHEEZER - AHEstR% -

Our valuation is our opinion of the market value of the property interests, which we
would define as intended to mean “the estimated amount for which an asset or liability
should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in
an arm’s length transaction, after proper marketing and where the parties had each
acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.”
BPIATISEBEAEERTEYE  MHEENTEER  [RBEEXBBIZEELS
BEHENEERR—BREA R —BREIRN—ATREBZRHHEATRE ZBIAE
% REEFHEME  FELTERAZBERATRS ° |

Market value is understood as the value of an asset or liability estimated without
regard to the seller’s costs of sale or the buyer’s costs of purchase and without
adjustment for any taxes payable by either party as a direct result of the transaction.
ZAAEEXBEEE  WREZEEESHENAXEABENAE - INREEM—7
BERARZSENZ ERFIBEEL AR -

Market value is the most probable price reasonably obtainable in the market on
the valuation date in keeping with the market value definition. It is the best price
reasonably obtainable by the seller and the most advantageous price reasonably
obtainable by the buyer. This estimate specifically excludes an estimated price inflated
or deflated by special terms or circumstances such as atypical financing, sale and
leaseback arrangements, special considerations or concessions granted by anyone
associated with the sale, or any element of value available only to a specific owner or
purchaser.
TSEEDETNTS L EMER&SEERETNTS LS BHIG s XEBEE
& MSEELERAEMS LS ERBHNREBR - UREREMS LAISEIUSH
BRENER - SEMGFHABENSEESIHRZSE L (NEFHRRLE - SERETZH - A
EEHE BB A LR NS ENBENEMFFIEERER) Ao B G ER
TSR

In preparing our valuation report, we have complied with “The HKIS Valuation
Standards 2020” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and “The RICS
Valuation — Global Standards” issued by the Royal Institution of Surveyors.

B THIRIR B S A 2 A0 2 2 2020 FHKISTHERE © RERFHAIZMB S EM
ZAEFEFFREMBSHE -2 IEAD N ESREFBRREERS -



Valuation Methodology
fHER*E
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 | #Z2024%12 A31H L F[Z

In the course of our valuation of property nos. 1 to 5, we have adopted Income
Approach, where appropriate, cross-checked by the Market Approach.
REMEMFEINZYHESHEERBEFR - BAIDERAKEE - WEBERBER NATSEAR

Income Approach estimates the values of the properties on a market basis by
capitalising the existing rental of all lettable units of each of the properties for the
respective unexpired terms of contractual tenancies whilst vacant units are assumed
to be let at their respective market rents as at the valuation date. Upon expiry of
the existing tenancies, each unit is assumed to be let at its market rent as at the
valuation date, which is in turn capitalised for the remaining life span of the property.
The summation of the capitalised value of the term rental for the leased portion,
the capitalised value of the reversion market rental as appropriately deferred for the
leased portion and the capitalised value of the vacant portion provides the market
value of each of the properties.

WanE BB S EYEANMB R HEEVNRBHSRNENHARARFRATIAER
£ MEEBMRAIRRRGEERPEBNSEMERSHE - BHSEEGAYERNE
B - REARAERE - SEBGHERZIREANHEBRE BmEMRS LA - WiR
BZBEMFERNHBRFIHTIAERL - SEYERNOTERSREEBIEPAERSHER
LBE  REEBHELESEENERTSHEENMLEBERZEERSNENMBEE
HABH ©

For cross-checking purpose, we have made reference to Market Approach, which
is the most common valuation approach for valuing property by reference to
comparable market transactions or listings of similar properties. The rationale of this
approach is to directly relate the market comparable transactions with the property
to determine the market value. Adjustments will be applied to the said comparable
transactions to adjust for differences between the property and the comparable
transactions.

FHETTREZE - BRPIE2BMSE  MSEMEGRERERANGELE A2
ZA A LB NSRS IRUMENER AN RB RS EETISA B LR H1E
BHELR  {MEEHE - LRI S SEHERAE  UABRMEEAENBRR 52
FrELR -

In the course of our valuation of property no. 6, we have adopted the Income
Approach — Term & Reversion. We have valued the term value of the property by
capitalizing the amount of net income receivable under the current terms of tenancies
and/or by adopting the market rent of the property during the first 5 years term. The
reversionary value was determined by making due adjustments to market comparable
transactions to arrive at the market unit rate of the property, with the present value
factor applied. Both the term and reversion are capitalized using market capitalization
rates, which reflect the rate of investment return, the effect of inflation, and the
prospect of rental growth, if any.

ER MR ENGERER - BPIERA T WA ——HREERR - KMI@EBER(L
SRR SRR T AR FRA S R, SIRBYEEASF R AN T ISH S REE
MENHREE - EREESRAEMSA LR ZETEERE - WERBRERE - A
FHEMENTSEMLER - BRMESAEATSENMEEETERME - ERBRTIRE
El#HRE  BEEFRNZEARBSERNOAR(A)
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Title Documents and
Encumbrances

EEXHRERER

Source of Information

HERIR

We have been provided with copies of the title documents relating to the properties
and have carried out title searches at the relevant local Real Estate Registration
Centres in December 2023 and January 2024. We have sighted each original title
documents held in safekeeping in the local offices of the Company. All documents
have been used for reference only and all dimensions, measurements and areas are
approximate.

BB ERHEEZEFYERROREXHEIAR - WE 2023512 4 202451 AEE )
BATHES LR OETERSM - HMEEERFEERAEMHERNTHNHEREX
HIER - IBXHERSE  MABERYT  EEREBEERLE -

We have assumed in our valuation that the properties have proper legal titles and are
freely transferable to local and overseas purchasers without any onerous payments.
BMERNHERRRZEVEEBERNSEZFE R - EHAELEAZEENRTAIEAL
ETHEANREINER -

No allowance has been made in our valuation for any charges, mortgages or amounts
owing on the properties nor for any expenses or taxation which may be incurred in
effecting a sale. Unless otherwise stated, it is assumed that the properties are free
from encumbrances, restrictions and outgoings of an onerous nature which could
affect their values.

B EEL S RZEVENEER - RIS EAERKIE - TR REEXRR R
AIREE MR SAIE - RBITHAEIN - RMIRRZSMEREMFER A LE
HEENEEEREE  REIRZHE -

We have relied to a considerable extent on the information given by you. We have
no reason to doubt the truth and accuracy of the information provided to us which
is material to the valuation. We have accepted advice given to us on such matters
as tenure, ownership, particulars of occupancy, tenancy information, floor areas
and all other relevant matters. Dimensions, measurements and areas included in the
valuation report are based on information contained in the documents provided to us
and are therefore only approximations. We have not been able to carry out detailed
on-site measurements to verify the correctness of the floor areas of the properties
and we have assumed that the floor areas shown on the documents handed to us
are correct. We were also advised that no material facts have been omitted from the
information provided.

BMRAEE LKERE T RENEE - WEERERRMAERREGENS EEAY
BHBBENERN - MEERER - AR (SRS HAOBEK  ZEEEEER
FIEHEMABAEE FETRMANER - MERSARNORT - EEREEAREBRIFE
REMHFRENERMETE - WEANE - BMUEHZSEMEETHRNEIAR
B UREHREEHAEERS R - WERRRMVERMAN S ATE R EES EREE
F oo HPIMES M - FIERHNEBBETEERMENEEEE -
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Inspection and We have inspected the exterior of the properties and the inspection was carried out
Structural Condition by Tara Luo and Penny He in June 2024 and January 2025 respectively. No structural
REREBARR survey has been made. We are not, therefore, able to report that the properties are

free from rot, infestation or any other structural defects. No tests were carried out
on any of the services. For the purpose of this valuation, we have assumed that the
properties have been maintained in satisfactory condition commensurate with their
building ages and use.

BB EREEERINE - WAL TMEREZMMENAR - RREHEME
EE R ER202456 A 202551 A 5 BIHEST o A - B ARMEST E T & DARE
E AR KR EE R DB R FERIARRER - BMEERERZX LS EES AR
B oo WA BPNRETABRE - BEERBEFR - WARBRBEMEBREIES A -

BMEE2MLDERERS  RUESEEAEEE -

Environmental Issues We are not environmental specialists and therefore we have not carried out any

RIEEE scientific investigations of sites or buildings to establish the existence or otherwise
of any environmental contamination, nor have we undertaken searches of public
archives to seek evidence of past activities that might identify potential for
contamination. In the absence of appropriate investigations and where there is no
apparent reason to suspect potential for contamination, our valuation is prepared on
the assumption that the properties are unaffected. Where contamination is suspected
or confirmed, but adequate investigation has not been carried out and made available
to us, then the valuation will be qualified.
BN IERIBER - FTANDR A S+t RS YETIEMIRIETE - DARETE + 3 R EE
MRABFEEAARNRRGTE  WEEEEAREREREMBAES - i ki
S PR BB RNER - ERZIRFAT - MERBRERIBHREREETEAT
BPBRRBZMENKIRIR) AT E - ERARUSHEE )3 BEREETRRATRE
HAREER TRM - A ERETANER -

Compliance with We have assumed that the properties have been constructed, occupied and used
Relevant Ordinances in full compliance with, and without contravention of any Ordinances, statutory
and Regulations requirement and notices except only where otherwise stated. We have further

B <F ARG R R B assumed that, for any use of the properties upon which this report is based, any and

all required licences, permits, certificates, consents, approvals and authorisation have
been obtained, except only where otherwise stated.

BT ZEHH RO YRGERRRZEME TR LB EREMED  EAEE
RIANFREE - REAHAN - BfIE—FPRIBBZHDEEFETANRER - 2BUS
FTEERMFRETE « B17E 5 - RE - BUEMSE -

Remarks Knight Frank has prepared the valuation based on the information and data available

ek to us as at the valuation date. While the current market is influenced by various
policies and regulations, increased global conflicts could add further fluctuations in
real estate market. It must be recognised that enactment of emergency measures,
changes in mortgage requirements or international tensions could be immediate and
have sweeping impact on the real estate market apart from typical market variations.
It should therefore be noted that any market violation, policy, geopolitical and social
changes or other unexpected incidents after the valuation date may affect the values
of the properties.
BPIER L EE B PR ARMAE SFBUIRE T - BEENMSISEREE
R BRIKEIENA g — P IBIEHETIZRE - BEEE - RALKNTISZE
BN BREMES R EREHNERRERBEAIEHEIET S EKER RE
WEIE - Al - FHEEER ZBHNERTISKE - BUR - wEBUR Rt 285 H M
AR EAREETEMEREHR -
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Currency

&%

Neither the whole or any part of the valuation report nor any reference thereto may be
included in any published document, circular or statement nor published in any way
whatsoever whether in hard copy or electronically (including on any web-site) without
our prior written approval of the form and context in which it may appear.
BRIFERGIRMEBDAE - EAIXMH  BEIEFRE T EAMEMEA S BESH AR
et ERE 2 2B D AR M T - NamEIRIMRE S F 77 A B 15 G R4, o

In accordance with our standard practice, we must state that this valuation report is
for the use only of the party to whom it is addressed and no responsibility is accepted
to any third party for the whole or any part of its contents.

REH IR —ARIER - BMIBRALEERSEREZFEAER - RO TEE =2 2EEMA
2EH IO ABTZEE °

We hereby confirm that we have neither present nor prospective interests in CM REIT,
the Company or the properties.

BMBUFR  ZRMAVERNEREREREES  EARIZEYMETRBREIEL
He2 o

Pursuant to Chapter 6.5 of the REIT code, we confirm that we are independent of the
Company, DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited and any of the significant holders of CM
REIT.

RIB(EHEREETESTA) F6.5E - HMEREME LR HEAA -1
(BR)VERATNEAREEFEESEM—BEAFAA °

P\E+

1
S=Ni%
1N L

]]H}'

7t

HRBEAR - HEPXATERXATE N~ - — AT AENRAE -

Unless otherwise stated, all money amounts stated are in Renminbi.

B =TTRERASN - FTA KB AARKESIE -

We enclose herewith our summary of values and valuation report. W& BT ER IR EL A (L EME R ERE -

Yours faithfully

For and on behalf of

Knight Frank Petty Limited
Gary Lau MHKIS MRICS RPS(GP)
RICS Registered Valuer

(A3
HMEEITERA A

2138 FMHKIS MRICS RPS(GP)
EXEFHEATE S T M BED

Senior Director Valuation & Advisory BRES - HEREHE
Reviewed (but not undertaken) by: EE (BIENTTH)
Cyrus Fong FRICS FHKIS RPS(GP) MCIREA RICS Registered Valuer F¥BBR FRICS FHKIS RPS(GP) MCIREA

Executive Director

SRR E S 2 MR

Head of Valuation & Advisory, Greater China HITESE AP ERGELRRASNEE
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SUMMARY OF VALUES

HEME

Property

LUES

Market value in
existing state as at
31 December 2024

7A2024512831H
BRATzHE

New Times Plaza, 1 Taizi Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
AR ERE RYImEIL R O KT BRI RES

Cyberport Building, 1079 Nanhai Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the PRC
FR IR A AR LU FE g K 10795k B K=

Technology Building, 1067 Nanhai Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the PRC
A B SR AT R LU R R B KB 1067 SR B R =

Technology Building 2, 1057 Nanhai Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the PRC
Hr IR A AR LU FE g K8 1057 SR RHR R — BA

Garden City Shopping Centre, 1086 Nanhai Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the PRC
o L 4 78 T30 L P A8 1 0BG TE A

Various Office and Retail Units of Onward Science & Trade Center
located at 108, 108A, 108B, 110, 112, 116, 118, 118A and 118B
Jianguo Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC

A7 BIE R ARG [ 22 B B 10855 © 108A%E  108B5KE

1105% ~ 1125% ~ 1165% ~ 1185% » 118AE &

118BSE VBRI B ERIE R O Z A R TS B

RMB1,905,000,000
AR #1,905,000,0007T
RMB1,066,000,000
AR #1,066,000,0007T
RMB942,000,000

AR #942,000,0007T
RMB1,076,000,000
AR #1,076,000,0007C
RMB1,486,000,000
AR #1,486,000,0007T

RMB2,512,000,000

AER#2,512,000,0007T

Grand Total:
it

RMBS8,987,000,000
A K %:8,987,000,0007T
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VALUATION REPORT
EEHRE

Market value in

Particulars of existing state as at

Approx. Approx.

Use GFA* GLA*

BHEm BHEE

itk [T HER

(sarm) (sam)

(FHK)  (FHK)

Office 82,591.17 62,654.22

Commercial 4,745.81 4,945.81

Total 87,336.98 67,600.03
@t

GFA relates to the area details as stated on title document(s) while
GLA relates to receivable rent.
BEREDEREEHALOEEFT - RN AERTRES
HiE e

The property also comprises 225 basement car parking
spaces.
EAEDI P et

The land use rights of the property have been granted for a
term of 50 years expiring on 27 January 2045 for office and
commercial culture uses.

ZME TP REEREERDREE AR - BEI50
& R2045F1 A27 R EIH -

Property Description and tenure occupancy 31 December 2024
20245128318
VIES BRREH ERFE BRT2HmE
1. New Times Plaza, New Times Plaza is an office building which comprises Portion of the property RMB1,905,000,000
1 Taizi Road, 2-storey commercial area (Level 1 to Level 2) and 34-storey  with a total lettable (RENMINBI
Nanshan District, office (Level 3 to Level 33, Level 35, 36 and 38), erected ona  area of approximately ONE BILLION
Shenzhen, parcel of land with a site area of 8,642.45 sq m. The property ~ 50,188.05 sg m has NINE HUNDRED AND
Guangdong Province, was completed in 1997. been leased under FIVE MILLION ONLY)
the PRC MERBESR—ENF2ERERE(1182212) RUEMNAR(S  various tenancies with ARE
G 1BZ331 - 351F - 361ER301%) L BTIBER - xRy the last term expiring 1,905,000,000
ERE BETEAS 642 45T KRR 2 FWERI1997FRT - in June 2033, yielding (\REERAET
Y a total monthly rental LEELE)
I Details of the gross floor area (the “GFA”) and gross lettable  Of @pproximately
KFE1%E area (the “GLA”) are as follows: RMB7,200,000
P BEERRTEEEEEFERSINT - exclusive of

management fee and
value-added tax.
ZmE—Ar2UHE
8 & 4 5 50,188.05
TRk EREZER
HEE FEEHR
208366 AEH  §A
HEeBEOARARKE
7,200,0007C * TEEE
BERIEET -

The remaining portion
of the property is
currently vacant.
ZMENRT DR

=F -
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Notes: Bt -

1. Pursuant to the Real Estate Certificate No. Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000594829 1. RIEAHIA20144F7 A20H 2 B EREE (REM TS
dated 29 July 2014, the land use rights of the Property with a site area of 40005948295% ) - Hh AR [ 18 /438,642.45F J7 K &UF% 1)
8,642.45 sq m and the building ownership of the property with a gross floor 2 L i{E A REE R H S T E 18 /587,336.98F Kk 2
area of 87,336.98 sq m was vested in Shenzhen Shekou New Times Real Estate ZWEZEREHCEBRAYITM DR EE
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (Rl AR EXEEGRAR) ERGRAT - {ERRAREEERS - L ERRE
for a land use rights term expiring on 27 January 2045 for office and commercial 1204551 A27 HEIER -

culture uses.

2. Pursuant to the Result Notification of Real Estate Registration Information (7~ 2. RIZBHA2023F 12 A 15 2 A B EB L EEEHE

FESDELERAERELE) no. C20231215140728129 dated 15 December B LB (C20231215140728129) @ ¥EiESMEEW
2023, details of the title search are as follows: T
Registered Owner Title Document No. Mortgagee
HEMEE A ERESHR TR BREA
Shenzhen Shekou New Times Real Estate Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000594829 The Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. TR 15 5540005948295 Shenzhen Branch
CRIIT I AR EXERERAT) (EERITRMHBRRBRINSIT)

3. Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 3. RE BARREZHELER - RMEREHOR

provided by the Company is set out below: ZOMEY| T
Occupancy Profile 15 AR
Type B Approximate GLA % of total
BHTHEAER TREEENE DL
(sqm)
(FHK)
Leased [Shusti:| 50,188.05 74
Vacant =g 17,411.98 26
Total: wst 67,600.03 100
Tenancy Commencement Profile (excluding rental income from turnover rent) TR BIAEER (T RRERKHESKA)
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year 4 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BHHEE IR EREN E=3z| 1RIBEEM o {REBEH
BEE ADk FHEE BOk A ASk
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFK) (AR®T)
2019 20194 1,327.37 3 149,556 2 2 2
2021 20214 - - - - - -
2022 20224 71.00 0 10,684 0 1 1
2023 20234 8,890.83 18 1,188,929 17 18 17
2024 20244 21,224.01 42 3,629,014 49 50 46
Total: @t 18,674.84 37 2,313,336 32 37 34
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Notes: (continued) Hiat : (&)
3. (continued) 3. (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (48)
Tenancy Expiry Profile (excluding rental income from turnover rent) LR HIBER (T BERAESWA)
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year Fip GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BOTHEE IRAEREL E=3:! 1H4AZEN Bk LEEEE Y
BEE AZt FHE Aok #E ASt
(sqm) (RMB)
(F77) (ARMTT)
2024 20244 8,943.06 13 1,421,861 20 13 12
2025 2025%F 13,342.23 20 2,205,233 31 36 33
2026 2026%F 6,100.61 9 1,005,783 14 18 17
2027 20274 3,438.77 5 491,861 7 15 14
2028 20284 5,652.30 8 736,233 10 10 9
2029 20294 6,072.77 9 863,056 12 11 10
2033 20334 6,638.31 10 467,491 7 5 5
Vacant TE 17,411.98 26 - - - -
Total: Fi 67,600.03 100 7,191,519 100 108 100
Tenancy Duration Profile (excluding rental income from turnover rent) FAAYE ERRER (eI AR S U A)
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year FEp GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BMARTHEE IHARE R IhABEREN HH LR Y
RER ER: ) SAFHES ADt e AStt
(sq m) (RMB)
(FHXK) (AR¥7T)
Up to 1 Year A1 10,675.45 21 1,678,577 23 25 23
More than 1 Yearand 14 LA LB
up to 2 Years TiRimsE 6,029.09 12 975,114 14 17 16
More than 2 Years and 24 LA {8
up to 3 Years THBIB3F 12,497.13 25 1,887,202 26 33 31
More than 3 Years and 34 A 18
up to 4 Years B4 754.31 2 101,202 1 4 4
More than 4 Years and 444 H1B
up to 5 Years T BIESF 8,227.76 16 1,320,472 18 16 15
Over 5 Years 5% AL 12,004.31 24 1,228,952 17 13 12
Total: et 50,188.05 100 7,191,519 100 108 100
4. We have prepared our valuation based on the following assumptions: 4. AT H EL A LA T RES -
(i) the property has a proper legal title; [0} SRS IE AT A
(i) all land premium and costs of resettiement and public utilities services (i)  FELBEESARMBERBZHERIEER
have been fully settled; 1B RS
(i)  the design and construction of the property are in compliance with (i) RYEHRERRFOTEEHRE KRR
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant FIESR - WEBBEREE TIPS - &

government authorities; and

(iv)  the property can be freely disposed of to local or overseas purchasers. (v) ZWETAREETEMSEINES -
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VALUATION REPORT
(CREEE

Particulars of

Market value in
existing state as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 31 December 2024
R2024512731H
mE R FH ERHE BRT2mE
Cyberport Building, Cyberport Building is a commercial development building Portion of the property RMB1,066,000,000
1079 Nanhai Avenue, zoned for industrial use erected on a parcel of land with a site  with a total lettable (RENMINBI
Nanshan District, area of 15,561.45 sq m. The property comprises a 9-storey  greq of approximately ONE BILLION
Shenzhen. office building and a 6-storey office building connected by 36,803.95 sq m has SIXTY SIX
Guangdong Province. a corridor at Level 1 and 2 respectively. The Property also b eZe n leased under MILLION ONLY)
the PRC comprises commercial units located at Level 1. The property , , B
. various tenancies for ARE
Hh was completed in 2009. G d reta 1.066.000.000
ER4 BEARATEMENEERRAR - BIGEENR e e ARMEREE
YT 15561 45FIOKIRL L - - BORBARROEBAR VLS ST i )
il A e BREEWER - pngIe- @SRRI N oA TR
HEKE RIABAK © T R2009ER T - »yiewing a
a total monthly rental (please see note 4)
107958 e of approximatel (FF2EHE4)
YEAE Details of the gross floor area (the "GFA') and gross lettable area PP y RERI
(the “GLA") are as follows: RMB4TYOO’OOO’
exclusive of

BEEERHEREENFEEIIWT -

Use Approx. GFA * Approx. GLA *

BOEE BHAHE

ii}o [T BEE

(sq m) fsqm)

(FAK) (FAK)

Office 38,957.55 37,455.41

Retail 1,477.54 2,985.84
&

Total 40,435.09 40,441.25
st

GFA relates to the area details as stated on title document(s) while
GLA relates to receivable rent.
BEEEDERFEXAMANEEFE  MERESIERTEE
omE-

The property also comprises 255 car parking spaces.
ZE T oss AR ERL o

The land use rights of the property have been granted for a
term of 50 years expiring on 22 May 2057 for industrial use.
ZWEZ LHEREERLELIERE - RES0F - 12057
F5R228315 -

management fee and
value-added tax.
ZWE—D AR
AHERRENA
36,803.95F /5K - B
RELESTERTE
BBOnE  5EH
HIR20324F 11 AfEi -
BARSBENRAR
#4,700,00070 * T8
BERERILER -

The remaining portion
of the property is
currently vacant.

EAYES N
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Notes: Kt

1. Pursuant to the Real Estate Certificate No. Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000595164 1.
dated 5 August 2014, the land use rights of the Property with a site area of
15,561.45 sq m and the building ownership of the property with a gross floor
area of 40,435.09 sq m was vested in Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (RYIT I AEE £ EEHR A F) for a
land use rights term expiring on 22 May 2057 for industrial use.

2. Pursuant to the Result Notification of Real Estate Registration Information (- 2.
FESRESEAAREHE) no. C20231215143433737 dated 15 December
2023, details of the title search are as follows:

RIZEAHAR2014F8 A58 2 B HEREE OREHFE
4000595164%5%) + 4 A& F1E%515,561.45F 75 KK Z )
2 T ih{E R AEER H 2 EE & /340,435.09F 5K 2
ZMEZEEMAREEBRNRY MEBAEEXE
BAERARF - (ELERR - T RER2057F5A8
22F B4 ©

RiE B A2023F 12 A 158 2 B EERE B
45 (C20231215143433737) » ¥ES BN
—F 3

(RINTHBAEEXEEERAAF)

Registered Owner Title Document No. Mortgagee

HEMEEA SRR BREA

Shenzhen Cyberport Building Real Estate Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000595164 The Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. RS T 8540005951645 Shenzhen Branch

(BERTRMHERRRRIATT)

3. Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 3.
provided by the Company is set out below:

RE BERAREENER - HMAHRAEALER
ZOWMEINMT

Occupancy Profile 1k FARER
Type |R Approximate GLA % of total
BRTHELEE HEEENES
(sa m)
(FFFHK)

Leased [Sfusti:| 36,803.95 91
Vacant =8 3,637.30 9
Total: #Et 40,441.25 100

Tenancy Commencement Profile TRARBIABER

Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F3 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BHEE {HAAEREN SR 1RABEER bz )
BEE Ao S Aok #HAE Aot
(sgq m) (RMB)
(FFK) (AR¥ETT)

2021 20214 729.62 2 94,927 2 1 1
2022 20224 6,324.20 17 799,241 17 16 19
2023 20234 12,128.99 33 1,676,271 33 25 30
2024 20244 17,621.14 48 2,237,674 48 42 50
Total: wct 36,803.95 100 4,708,113 100 84 100
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Notes: (continued) Hiat - (4&)
3. (continued) 3. (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (48)
Tenancy Expiry Profile FALIE HAER
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F13 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BHTHEE {HAAEEN SR 1RABEEN bz LEESE 24y
A Aok FHES BOL A Ak
(sg m) (RMB)
(FFAK) (AR¥T)
2024 20245 2,655.00 7 325,897 7 6 7
2025 20254 9,738.77 24 1,401,681 30 23 27
2026 20264 6,614.30 16 821,466 17 13 15
2027 20274 7,1563.63 18 965,173 21 17 20
2028 20284 1,630.29 4 147,198 3 5 6
2029 2029%F 8,484.16 21 853,876 18 18 21
2032 20324 627.80 2 192,822 4 2 2
Vacant =B 3,637.30 9 - - - -
Total: @t 40,441.25 100 4,708,113 100 84 100
Tenancy Duration Profile FRAVF IR
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Years F4 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BAEE TRAEEN gA LEEtEty LB HEBEH
BEE ADt FHE ADtE #E Aotk
(sgq m) (RMB)
(SFFK) (AR%T)
Up to 1 Year BB 342.04 1 170,188 4 5 6
More than 1 Yearand 14 LA H{B
up to 2 Years BiE2F 6,852.22 19 906,885 19 8 10
More than 2 Years and 24 LA H{B
up to 3 Years THBB3F 13,113.36 36 1,695,439 36 36 43
More than 3 Years and 34 LA H{B
up to 4 Years N EBiR4F 3,5611.63 10 401,940 9 7 8
More than 4 Years and 444 F{B
up to 5 Years TBIBSF 11,846.29 32 1,201,267 26 24 29
Over 5 Years BIBSEF 1,138.41 3 332,395 7 4 5
Total: st 36,803.95 100 4,708,113 100 84 100
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4. Pursuant to the Reply Letter from Shenzhen Planning and Natural Resources 4. RIE2019F8 A23H KRR EI M E A E R BEIL

Bureau — Nanshan Management Bureau Regarding the Planning, Function and ERREEN(TRETMEALRFEILEERBRERE
Orientation of the Land Parcel(s) of Cyberport Building, Technology Building ORAR BREAE - RHEKE = HA N S5 A B B i
and Technology Building 2 located in Shekou Wanggu District (77322151 & %A FREIThBEENL AT 1) OR AR EIE R FK2019 5155%)
BRFEEALEERMNEABAREREAE @ BIBRAE B REFHEAER ZYEER ENEREMMEZEZREIE AR
38 BT AEE LI B X)) no. Shen Gui Hua Zi Liao Nan Han 2019 515 dated B - R  BHRAF ke - XA -

23 August 2019 issued by Shenzhen Planning and Natural Resources Bureau
— Nanshan Management Bureau, the development positioning and industry
orientation of the district where the property situated at are zoned for uses such
as development science and technology research and development, information
services, scientific innovation and finance, cultural innovation etc.

5. We have prepared our valuation based on the following assumptions: 5. BHMEUFHEERA TR :
()  the property has a proper legal title; [0} ZYERAE AT ¥R
(i) all land premium and costs of resettlement and public utilities services i)y FIAETMHEESUARFEBBE 2 EHEREER
have been fully settled; B RE LS
(i) the design and construction of the property are in compliance with (iil YENBENRERIEFES EHRE KA E
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant BIZ sk - WE BiRERB TIPSR : &

government authorities; and

(iv)  the property can be freely disposed of to local or overseas purchasers. (v ZPFAEAHETEMSOBINET -
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VALUATION REPORT
(CREEE

Particulars of

Market value in
existing state as at

Property Description and tenure occupancy 31 December 2024
R2024F128318
VIES BRREH ERAFE ARTzmE
Technology Building, Technology Building is a commercial development zoned for  The property is fully RMB942,000,000
No. 1067 industrial use erected on a parcel of land with a site area of  let under various (RENMINBI NINE
Nanhai Avenue, 17,563.80 sq m. The property comprises a 7-storey main  tenancies for office HUNDRED AND
Nanshan District building and a 6-storey annex building. The property was  use with the last term FORTY TWO
Shenzhen, completed in 2002. expiring in April 2026, MILLION ONLY)
Guangdong Province, R AEATXREMBEERAE - 2R MBEE  vielding a total monthly  ARH942,000,0007
the PRC 17,563.80F kit ke & - B—HR7ERMEER—%6/ER rental of approximately  (ARBREEFEAE
h HIMTRAEAK - ZIMEM2002F K T RMBS5,600,000, BE)
ERE exclusive of
¥l Details of the gross floor area (the “GFA”) and gross lettable  management fee and (please see note 4)
E area (the “GLA”) are as follows: value-added tax. (FLEl134)
)N BRRERAEEERBNFEEHIIMT - ZWEDRESIERY
10675 TEHBERARE -
REAE Approx. Approx.  Fi&THERH2026%F4 AE
Use GFA * GLA* i SAHESLENA
Baem BHMEE  AKS5600,0007T -
iiko [ BEE AFEERERLEN -
(st m) (st m)
(F5K) (K
Main building 33,629.22 33,485.01
Fig
Annex building 8,049.29 8,049.29
it
Total 41,578.51 41,534.30
st

GFA relates to the area details as stated on title document(s) while
GLA relates to receivable rent.
BEREDEREE AR AmEFT - RN IERTRES
g o

The property also comprises 110 car parking spaces.

ZOETHE0EEEL -

The land use rights of the property have been granted for a
term of 50 years expiring on 7 January 2051 for industrial
use.

ZNEZTHEREERLEIZRE - AH505F 1
205151 A7HEIH -
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Notes: Kt

1. Pursuant to the Real Estate Certificate No. Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000595344 1.
dated 7 August 2014, the land use rights of the Property with a site area of
17,563.80 sq m and the building ownership of the property with a gross floor
area of 41,578.51 sq m was vested in Shenzhen Technology Building Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (RYITRIAEEEEGRAF)
for a land use rights term expiring on 7 January 2051 for industrial use.

2. Pursuant to the Result Notification of Real Estate Registration Information (4 2.
FESRIELE AR EHE) no. C20231215143404513 dated 15 December
2023, details of the title search are as follows:

BIEAHA201468 A7TA 2 EHEEE (FRILFESH
4000595344%5%) + 4 A& 1 517,563.80F 75 K EIZ )
¥z tifEREEREEEEER4,57851F K2
ZYMEZEEMAREEBNRY MBI AEEEES
RAR] - fELEMA% @ TibFEAER2051F1A7HE)
gg °

RiE B8 52023F12 A 158 2 A B ER R B &AL
5 (C20231215143404513) » ¥ES BN
—F 2

(RYITRIREXERBRATF)

Registered Owner Title Document No. Mortgagee

HEMEEA SRR BREA

Shenzhen Technology Building Real Estate Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000595344 The Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. R B T 8540005953445 Shenzhen Branch

(BERTRMHERRRRIATT)

3. Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 3.
provided by the Company is set out below:

RE BERARELENER - HMAHRBEALER
ZOWMEINMT

Occupancy Profile 15 AR
Type B|H Approximate GLA % of total
BRTHEEEE hEEBENE DT
(sam)
(FFFK)
Leased [aAsays! 41,534.30 100
Vacant =g 0.00 -
Total: @t 41,534.30 100
Tenancy Commencement Profile TRARBIABES
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F13 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BHHEE {RAEEEN SR 1RABEER bk oy
RmEE Bk FHEe B #AE Aok
(sgq m) (RMB)
(FFAHK) (AR¥T)
2022 20224 12,336.63 30 1,684,008 30 6 27
2023 20234 16,170.56 39 2,153,504 38 8 36
2024 20244 18,027.11 31 1,789,339 32 8 36
Total: i 41,534.30 100 5,626,850 100 22 100
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Notes: (continued) Hiat - (4&)
3. (continued) 3. (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (48)
Tenancy Expiry Profile FALIE HAER
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year Fip GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BHHEE IR EEN 8A 1hEBEER A LR 4y
BEE Aok FHEE BOL A ASk
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFFHK) (ANE¥ETT)

2024 20244 939.66 2 128,268 2 1 5
2025 2025%F 32,323.44 78 4,423,327 79 17 77
2026 2026%F 8,271.20 20 1,075,256 19 4 18
Total: @it 41,534.30 100 5,626,850 100 22 100

Tenancy Duration Profile AL FE BN

Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year 4 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BOTHE IHAEREN =R ety H#BEH
BEE ADt FHE ADt HALYHA Aot
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFK) (AR¥TT)
Upto 1 Year TiBiB14F - - 29,143 1 1 5
More than 1 Year and 1FLA LB 18,949.17 46 2,568,586 46 9 a1
up to 2 Years TEBB2GF

Over 2 Years 2F LA 22,5685.13 54 3,029,122 54 12 55
Total: et - 41,534.30 100 5,626,850 100 22 100
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4. Pursuant to the Reply Letter from Shenzhen Planning and Natural Resources 4. RIE2019F8 A23H KRR EI M E A E R BEIL

Bureau — Nanshan Management Bureau Regarding the Planning, Function and ERREEN(TRETMEALRFEILEERBRERE
Orientation of the Land Parcel(s) of Cyberport Building, Technology Building ORAR BREAE - RHEKE = HA N S5 A B B i
and Technology Building 2 located in Shekou Wanggu District (77322151 & %A FREIThBEENL AT 1) OR AR EIE R FK2019 5155%)
BRFEEALEERMNEABAREREAE @ BIBRAE B REFHEAER ZYEER ENEREMMEZEZREIE AR
38 BT AEE LI B X)) no. Shen Gui Hua Zi Liao Nan Han 2019 515 dated B - R  BHRAF ke - XA -

23 August 2019 issued by Shenzhen Planning and Natural Resources Bureau
— Nanshan Management Bureau, the development positioning and industry
orientation of the district where the property situated at are zoned for uses such
as development science and technology research and development, information
services, scientific innovation and finance, cultural innovation etc.

5. We have prepared our valuation based on the following assumptions: 5. BHMEUFHEERA TR :
()  the property has a proper legal title; [0} ZYERAE AT ¥R
(i) all land premium and costs of resettlement and public utilities services i)y FIAETMHEESUARFEBBE 2 EHEREER
have been fully settled; B RE LS
(i) the design and construction of the property are in compliance with (iil YENBENRERIEFES EHRE KA E
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant BIZ sk - WE BiRERB TIPSR : &

government authorities; and

(iv)  the property can be freely disposed of to local or overseas purchasers. (v ZPFAEAHETEMSOBINET -
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VALUATION REPORT
(CREEE

Particulars of

Market value in
existing state as

Property Description and tenure occupancy at 31 December 2024
R2024512R31H

VIES BRREH ERAFE BRT2mE
Technology Building2  Technology Building 2 is a commercial development zoned ~ The property is fully let RMB1,076,000,000
1057 Nanhai Avenue for industrial use erected on a parcel of land with a site area  under various tenancies (RENMINBI
Nanshan District of 17,232.03 sq m, which comprises two 6-storey buildings,  for office and retall ONE BILLION SEVENTY
Shenzhen Guangdong ~ namely Building A and B. The property was completed in uses with the last term SIX MILLION ONLY)
Province the PRC 2010. expiring in April 2031, AR #1,076,000,000
TEEREAIMELE RMRAE_SAREAEIERRNEEEREE - BRMAE  yielding a total monthly (AREZRE
181723203 F Rt 2 | - BIERIROERZEY - BIAMR  rental of approximately — ZSRFEEETLE)

EERE1057THREAE
-

KBIR © ZMECHR2010FKT -

Detalils of the gross floor area (the “GFA”) and gross lettable
area (the “GLA") are as follows:

BEEERAHELEENFEEIIWT -

Approx. Approx.

Use GFA* GLA*

BORE BATHEE

iike [ BEE

(sqm) (sqm)

(FAK) (FAK)

Building A 20,991.01 21,080.78
AR

Building B 21,540.36 21,862.79
BiR

Total 42,531.37 42,943.57
@t

GFA relates to the area details as stated on title document(s) while
GLA relates to receivable rent.
BEEBNERFEH LN EREFE - MBS RIERTEER
g -

The property also comprises 220 car parking spaces.

ZME TN 220 MR Ef -

The land use rights of the property have been granted for a
term of 50 years expiring on 29 June 2057 for industrial use.
TMEZ THERREREETERR - AHIS0F « 122057
F6A29BEM

RMB5,100,000,
exclusive of
management fee and
value-added tax.
ZMEERELEMEY
TEHEERARTE
it - &% B 2031
F4AER BAESH
B4/ AR ES5,100,000
T AABEERE R
1BH -

(lease see note 4)
(FF2EMi24)
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Notes:

Wit

1. Pursuant to the Real Estate Certificate No. Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000595343 1.
dated 7 August 2014, the land use rights of the Property with a site area of
17,232.03 sq m and the building ownership of the property with a gross floor
area of 42,531.37 sq m was vested in Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (FIITRIA—HIBE£EE AR A

7)) for a land use rights term expiring on 29 June 2057 for industrial use.

2. Pursuant to the Result Notification of Real Estate Registration Information (- 2.
FESDESE AR ELE) no. C20231215143419102 dated 15 December
2023, details of the title search are as follows:

BIEEA R A2014E8A7TE 2 EHE# B (FEMFE
4000595343%%) + #b A& F1E 517,232.03F 75 KK Z )
2z tifEREER R EEEER42,531.37F K2
ZYMEZEEMAREEBNRY MBI A—HEEE
BERAR - ELERR - L FEAER205746 A

29H FH -

RiE B A2023F 12 A 158 2 B EERE B
R4 ME (C20231215143419102) » ¥EES M BN

T

EMERA

Registered Owner

Title Document No.

SRR

Mortgagee
BREA

Shenzhen Technology Building 2 Real
Estate Investment and Management Co., Ltd.
RINTRHA—MEXEEARAA

Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000595343
R 8540005953435

The Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.
Shenzhen Branch
WERTIROERATRIND T

3. Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 3.
provided by the Company is set out below:

RE BERAREIENER - ZMHRBEALER

ZAWEFIT -

Occupancy Profile 15 AR
Type | Approximate GLA % of total
BRTHELEE HEEENES
(sq m)
(FFK)

Leased B 42,943.57 100
Vacant =8 0.00 -
Total: wst 42,943.57 100

Tenancy Commencement Profile THARRIABES

Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F3 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BATEE TRAEREE 8A 1H4AZEN bz )
BEE Ao S Aok #HAE Aot
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFK) (AR¥ETT)

2021 20214 189.83 0 47,089 1 1 3
2022 20224 8,5670.03 20 1,132,982 22 7 19
2023 20234 22,707.21 53 2,642,647 52 15 41
2024 20244 11,476.50 27 1,282,365 25 14 38
Total: wct 42,943.57 100 5,105,082 100 37 100
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Notes: (continued) Hiat : (&)
3. (continued) 3. (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (48)
Tenancy Expiry Profile FALIE HAER
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F13 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BHTHEE {HAAEEN SR 1RABEEN bz FEESE 26
A Aok FHES BOL A Ak
(sg m) (RMB)
(FFAK) (AR¥T)
2025 20254 6,215.74 14 862,116 17 7 19
2026 20264 11,092.53 26 1,351,968 26 6 16
2027 20274 14,236.52 33 1,706,536 33 11 30
2028 20284 8,480.86 20 826,623 16 6 16
2029 2029%F 2,823.01 7 337,543 7 6 16
2031 20314 94.91 0 20,296 0 1 3
Total: @t 42,943.57 100 5,105,082 100 37 100
Tenancy Duration Profile TRAEFEIBES
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year =27 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BHRHEE LA EER 8A 1R#BEEM biE) {REBEH
BEE Ela=4 i Elal=4 E-§E] Aot
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFEFK) (AR¥T)
Upto 1 Year THiB1E 978.68 2 139,950 3 3 8
More than 1 Year and ~ 14FLA H{B - - - - - -
up to 2 Years N Eb s
More than 2 Years and 24 A H18 21,322.59 50 2,655,589 52 13 35
up to 3 Years TEBE3EF
More than 3 Years and 3% A H{E 5,948.21 14 625,255 12 5 14
up to 4 Years TEBIBAT
More than 4 Years and 4% LA H{B 12,084.67 28 1,371,941 27 10 27
up to 5 Years THBBSF
More than 5 Years and 5% LA F{B 2,324.68 5 244,961 5 4 11
up to 6 Years TR BOEF
Over 6 Years B6FLA L 284.74 1 67,385 1 2 5
Total: st 42,943.57 100 5,105,082 100 37 100
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Notes: (continued)

Pursuant to the Reply Letter from Shenzhen Planning and Natural Resources
Bureau — Nanshan Management Bureau Regarding the Planning, Function and
Orientation of the Land Parcel(s) of Cyberport Building, Technology Building
and Technology Building 2 located in Shekou Wanggu District (745 Z]51 8 &
BRFELEERANEABAREREAE - BHRAE - REFHEAE R
AR BT EEE LI B (X) no. Shen Gui Hua Zi Liao Nan Han 2019 515 dated
23 August 2019 issued by Shenzhen Planning and Natural Resources Bureau
— Nanshan Management Bureau, the development positioning and industry
orientation of the district where the property situated at are zoned for uses such
as development science and technology research and development, information
services, scientific innovation and finance, cultural innovation etc.

We have prepared our valuation based on the following assumptions:
(i) the property has a proper legal title;

(i) all land premium and costs of resettlement and public utilities services
have been fully settled;

(i) the design and construction of the property are in compliance with
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant

government authorities; and

(iv)  the property can be freely disposed of to local or overseas purchasers.

RIZ2019F8 A23 A KRYITREF B AERBHEIL
EERHAN(MRETNARERFELUEERENE
APEARREHEAE - BHEKE = 5 R 205 A E it
FREITBEERL AT K OR AR B E R (k12019 5155%)
ZYMEMER EHEREMMNEXEREITE ARTE
& - 2RI - BRFAFRER - XA -

IR IR A TRR
()  EWEEEEEEEE

i) FAELHHBRSURAEERZWHEREER
BEBBES

(i)  EYMENRERRIGN A E MRS RAARE
PIESR - SR BBEEBATFIELL © &

(v ZWEAEHEETEMRIENET
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VALUATION REPORT
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Particulars of

Market value in
existing state as

Property Description and tenure occupancy at 31 December 2024

R2024512R31H
VIES BRREH ERFE ART2mE
Garden City Shopping  Garden City Shopping Centre is a 5-storey shopping centre  Portion of the property RMB1,486,000,000
Centre 1086 Nanhai erected on a 2-storey basement which comprises ancillary with a total lettable (RENMINBI
Avenue Nanshan District facilities and carparking spaces. The property was erected area of approximately ONE BILLION FOUR
Shenzhen Guangdong  on a parcel of land with a site area of 25,629.40 sqg m and 55,484.96 sqmhas  HUNDRED AND EIGHTY
Province the PRC was completed in 2006. been leased under SIX MILLION ONLY)

REREREFIImELE
B AE108655 LAY

EEEA—EESEDTL  BIEME Y o B
RERM L EEN - ZMEENBEEA25,620.40F 5K
i sE2 EIWR2006FE T -

Details of the gross floor area (the “GFA”) and gross lettable
area (the “GLA") are as follows:

BEEEREEREENFEEIINT -

Approx. Approx.

Use GFA* GLA*

BAEE BAMHE

iike3 [ AEE

(sqm) (sa m)

(FAK) (FAK)

Commercial 51,020.47 59,446.00

Total 51,020.47 59,446.00
st

GFA relates to the area details as provided by the Company while GLA
relates to receivable rent.
BREENEREFEQTRMZEY  mEKESNERTHERR

e

The property also comprises 723 car parking spaces.

ZME w723 (A -

The land use rights of the property have been granted for a
term of 40 years expiring on 14 April 2044 for commercial
use.

FZMEZLMERECRLERZRE - RH4W0F - K1
20444 R14RER °

various tenancies with
the last term expiring

in January 2035,
yielding a total monthly
rental of approximately
RMB5,800,000,
exclusive of
management fee and
value-added tax.
ZNE—HH 24T
M EHIE R 4155484.96
FhR - BREZER
Bl REEHR
203B5F1AER  BA
HeBENRARE
5,800,0007C * FEIEE
BEREET -

The remaining portion
of the property is
currently vacant.

TNROBTHOEE °

AK#1,486,000,000

(AREZREE
PIFEEETE)

(please see note 4)
(2 BM14)
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1. Pursuant to the Real Estate Certificate No. Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000594827 1.
dated 29 July 2014, the land use rights of the Property with a site area of
25,629.40 sq m and the building ownership of the property with a gross floor
area of 50,496.85 sq m was vested in Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. (RYITEEMREEEEBRAF) for a
land use rights term expiring on 14 April 2044 for commercial use.

2. Pursuant to the Result Notification of Real Estate Registration Information (1~ 2.
FESRIELE AR EHE) no. C20231218144903128 dated 18 December
2023, details of the title search are as follows:

RIEAHA2014F7 A290A 2 BHIEREE OREHFE
40005948275%) + A& 15 %25,629.40F 75 K E 72 )
¥ 2 1 AR R 2 EE 78 450,496.85F 5 K Z
ZYMEZEEMEREEBRNRIIMEEREEE
BERARF - EEERR - T ERER2044F4 R
148 ZIHf -

RiE B8 52023F 12 A18A 2 A B ER R B &AL
M (C20231218144903128) » ¥ES BN
—F 2

FYMEEREXERERAF

Registered Owner Title Document No. Mortgagee

AEMEEA SRR EREA

Shenzhen Garden City Real Estate Shen Fang Di Zi Di 4000594827 The Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.
Investment and Management Co., Ltd. BT 2540005948275 Shenzhen Branch

BEIRTRODBRARRNNDT

3. Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 3.
provided by the Company is set out below:

RE BERAREENER - HMAYREADER
ZOWMEINMT

Occupancy Profile 15 AR

Type B|H Approximate GLA % of total
BRTHEEEE HEEBENE DT

(sam)

(FFFHK)
Leased [=Asays! 55,484.96 93
Vacant =g 3,961.04 7
Total: st 59,446.00 100
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Notes: (continued) Hiat : (&)
3. (continued) 3. (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (48)
Tenancy Commencement Profile TRARBIABES
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F13 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BHTHEE {HAAEEN SR 1RABEEN bz FEESE 26
A Aok FHES Bt A Ak
(sq m) (RMB)
(FFK) (AR¥TT)
2008 20084 4,101.01 7 285,727.02 5 1 1
2017 20174 382.54 1 75,779.35 1 1 1
2020 20204 2,073.63 4 272,876.79 5 3 2
2021 20214 1,154.30 2 164,900.00 3 1 1
2022 20224 1,826.64 3 123,064.55 2 7 4
2023 2023%F 19,173.67 35 2,401,811.58 41 74 42
2024 20244 26,773.18 48 2,491,619.88 43 90 51
Total: st 55,484.96 100 5,815,779 100 177 100
Tenancy Expiry Profile FRAVE LR
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F4 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BAREE hAEEN 8A ThEBEEMN bizE) ey
BEE Aok FHE Bk A Ak
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFEFK) (AR®T)
2024 20244 382.14 1 23,125.76 0 4 2
2025 2025%F 7,368.24 12 1,248,746.36 21 44 25
2026 2026%F 14,212.23 24 1,946,926.52 33 60 34
2027 20274 5,412.27 9 696,391.28 12 33 19
2028 20284 9,639.87 16 955,053.70 16 18 10
2029 20294 5,500.22 9 333,174.89 6 8 5
2030 20304 2,185.38 4 264,352.53 5 5 3
2032 20324 4,712.61 8 149,726.29 3 1 1
2033 20334 5,526.13 9 173,133.89 3 3 2
2034 20344F 545.88 1 25,147.97 0 1 1
Vacant =B 3,961.04 7 - - - -
Total: @t 59,446.00 100 5,815,779 100 177 100
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Notes: (continued) Hiat : (&)
3. (continued) 3. (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (48)
Tenancy Duration Profile TRAFEIBER
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year Fp GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BHHEE TRAEEEN 8A 1HBEEN EizE| et v
REE BAk FEe Bo #AE Bok
(sa m) (RMB)
(FFAHK) (AR¥TT)
Up to 1 Year TiBiE14 2,134.39 4 540,188.31 24 138
More than 1 Year and 1L B 3,124.55 6 589,799.92 10 32 18
up to 2 Years NBiBoF
More than 2 Years and 24 A H8 11,4538.31 21 1,5646,386.20 27 62 35
up to 3 Years TEBIBIF
More than 3 Years and 3914 B 3,621.89 7 496,787.92 9 18 10
up to 4 Years TEBIBASF
More than 4 Years and 44 LA {8 11,170.50 20 1,419,014.31 24 22 12
up to 5 Years THBIBSF
Over 5 Years 5FLAE 23,980.32 43 1,223,603 21 20 11
Total: st 55,484.96 100 5,815,779 100 178 100

4. According to the latest area measurement provided by the Company, the 4.
above-ground GFA of the property is 51,020.47 sq m; we have assumed that
such GFA is correct and is adopted in our valuation.

5. Further to note 4, We have prepared our valuation based on the following 5.

assumptions:

(i) the property has a proper legal title;

(i) all land premium, costs of resettlement, public utilities services and

outstanding renovation cost have been fully settled;

(i) the design and construction of the property are in compliance with
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant

government authorities; and

(iv)  the property can be freely disposed of to local or overseas purchasers.

REEQRREZ RNERASEE - XN LR
BEEER51,020.47F 75K  HAIRE X 2R EMR
B - SR ET T AR -

FHFEMES - BPIOFHEERATRR

() EEEEEEEEE

(i) FBLMHEEUARAEERZEHNRIEER
BEEBAES

(i)  EYMENRERRION A EHRE RAARE
PIESR - AR BBEEBATPIELL © &

(v ZWEAEHLEETEMRIENET
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VALUATION REPORT
(CREEE

Property
mE

Description and tenure

BRKEH

Particulars of
occupancy

fERRE

Market value in
existing state as

at 31 December 2024
R2024F12831H
BRT2HE

Certain Units of Onward
Science & Trade Center
located at 108, 108A,
108B, 110, 112, 116,
118, 118Aand 118B

Jianguo Road Chaoyang

District Beijing, the PRC
AR EL RHERR
EEIE1085% » 108A%
108B%; ~ 110%% ~ 112
511695 - 11855
118A%: 2 118BER AR

i

BIMEREROHETE

Onward Science & Trade Center (B RBMERZ L) is
a large-scale commercial development comprising China
Merchants Tower, AIA NPA Center, the 01-04 Connecting
Podium, China Merchants Bank Building, China HP Building,
Henggqin Life Tower, Inner Peace, ICBC Building and Taiping
Financial Centre. All were erected on a parcel of land with a
total site area of 42,566.00 sq m completed in 1998.
TARMENEROR—EAREEERER  AAARK
[E - RARBNPAR L - 010454512 - BEHRITAE -
MEBEAE  BEASAE  KH108 FEIFHRITA
ERKTFemTOER - fEHEE RN —RENBERR
42,566.00°F FoRE) 13 1 » WHR1998F KT -

The property comprises various office and retail units of the
development. Detalils of the gross floor area (the “GFA”) and
gross lettable area (the “GLA”) are as follows:

ZMEBEERBENSERARTEEN - EHEERTH
ERmENFIEEINT :
Approx. Approx.
Use GFA * GLA*
BHEE BATHE
iikes HE wEE
(sam) (sam)
(F5K) (TR
Office 21,856.81 21,856.81
Commercial (L1-L4) 15,020.24 15,020.24
HE(F124E)
Commercial (Basement) 3,946.94 3,946.94
EES
Total 40,823.99 40,823.99
st

GFA relates to the area details as stated on title
document(s) while GLA relates to receivable rent.
IEEEAE TR ERE Pl EIERHE - eS8
AN HEREE -

The property also C(lmprises 528 car parking spaces.
ZIFE TR 528 Bl =L -

The land use rights of the property have been granted respective
terms expiring on 28 August 2034 for commercial use; and 28
August 2044 for office and car parking use.
ZMECERTERE - FHDHIR2034F8 28R (17
FME) R204458A28H (R AERFES AR ER °

Portion of the
property with a

total lettable area

of approximately
37,012.25 sq m has
been leased under
various tenancies with
the last term expiring
in May 2032, yielding
a total monthly rental
of approximately
RMB9,200,000,
exclusive of
management fee.
ZE—BD 2
HEREENA
3701225 7K ' B
BELEROIHR -
R MHN2032F55
38 5AHsEE
#5 AR 19,200,000
L MEEERE

The remaining portion
of the property is
currently vacant.
FOENR T AR

HEE -

RMB2,512,000,000
(RENMINBI

TWO BILLION

FIVE HUNDRED AND
TWELVE MILLION ONLY)
AE2 512,000,000
(AREEBEE
SFAEELE)

(please see note 4)
(B2 BMt4)
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BIET 61D BHEERE - ZWENEECRBREE
BMERZHROERAT - (ERFAERMFEN2034
F8A2HER : (ERRAEREESHENFEHN
20444F8 A28 H Em * FFBAT :

1. Pursuant to 6 Real Estate Ownership Certificates listed below, the title 1.
ownership of the Property was vested in Onward Science & Trade Center
Company Limited (& @MZEREZF 0B AR) for respective terms expiring
on 28 August 2034 for commercial use; and 28 August 2044 for office and car

parking use, details are as follows:

Certificate No. Issue Date Use Gross Floor Area
HER BHHAHY JiEes EEEE
(sam)
(F7K)
Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0110616 26 August 2016 Commercial, office, 24,434.12
multi-functional use
(2016)38F5 & T E E £ 5011061657 20168 H26H BER  BTE -
Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123247 22 September 2016 Commercial 3,073.00
(2016385 & T B EHE 501232475 20169 A22H [GE
Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123246 22 September 2016 Commercial, office 6,143.20
TR (2016)5A5 & B E#E 5012324657 201659 A228 AR BTE
Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123244 22 September 2016 Commercial 2,671.94
R(2016)38F5 (@ T EE 5012324457 20169 H22H [GES
Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123245 22 September 2016 - 554.79
(20163815 & B E#E 501232455 2016F9H22H
Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123183 22 September 2016 Car park (7,546.27 sq m) 11,493.21
Unspecified
(3,946.94 sq m)
R(2016)34F5 @ T EE#E 5012318357 201649 H22H (FE35(7,546.27F 77 K)
ER=L]
(8,946.94F 75 2K)
Total: 48,370.26
EEy




Notes: (continued)

Pursuant to the Result Notification of Real Estate Registration Information (1~ 2.
FEEEEEALERELE) No. Chao (2024) 0002268 (Chuang) dated 16
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RIE B EA2024F1 16 A MR B EE LG BB ML
R ANEE (8H(2024)0002268( %)) » EEEMFIELD

January 2024, details of the title search are as follows: N
Registered Owner Title Document No. Mortgagee
HEMEEA SRR BREA
Onward Science & Trade Center Company Limited Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0110616 Nil
(BERMEREHRLERDF) R(2016)FA5 [ M B EREE01106165% i3
Onward Science & Trade Center Company Limited Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123247 Nil
(FBERMEREFROERAT) TR (2016)3Ak5 @ T BN EHE 501232475 i3
Onward Science & Trade Center Company Limited Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123246 Nil
(BERMENEFRLBRAF) 1(2016)58k5 & T E) E 55012324657 i3
Onward Science & Trade Center Company Limited Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123244 Nil
(BRBRMEMEHLERAR) R (2016)8A5 & T B ERE5501232445F i3
Onward Science & Trade Center Company Limited Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123245 Nil
(R BRMEMERLERAR) R (2016)FR5 & T ENE#EE012324557 i
Onward Science & Trade Center Company Limited Jing (2016) Chao Yang Qu Bu Dong Chan Quan Di 0123183 Nil
(BrERMENEFRLBRAF) 7(2016)58k5 & T E E £ 5012318357 s

Our analysis of the existing tenancy profile according to the tenancy information 3. WBEEARREZHEOER  RMHERBAOERZ

provided by the Company is set out below:

DHEFIAT

Occupancy Profile 15 FARER

Type Approximate GLA % of total
BHTHEAER TREEENE D

(sqm)

(FEAK)
Leased B 37,021.25 91
Vacant TE 3,802.74 9
Total: et 40,823.99 100
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Notes: (continued) Hiat : (&)
3. (continued) 3. (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (48)
Tenancy Commencement Profile FRARBIABES
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F13 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BATHEE TRAE R SR 1RABEEN bz ot Y
RmEE Aok S B HAE AZt
(sqm) (RMB)
(FFK) (AR¥ETT)
2018 20184 3,114.86 8 485,881 5 4 9
2021 20214 2,110.14 6 656,526 7 3 6
2022 20224 1,805.08 5 402,461 4 5 11
2023 20234 8,672.99 23 1,819,815 20 17 36
2024 20244 21,318.18 58 5,868,600 64 18 38
Total: et 37,021.25 100 9,233,283 100 47 100
Tenancy Expiry Profile FHL B HARE SR,
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F5 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BHHEE {RBEEN SA 1RABEEMN bizE) LB 24y
BmEE Aok FHEe B A Aok
(sq m) (RMB)
(FFK) (ANR¥TT)
2024 20244 10,093.66 25 3,499,472 38 7 15
2025 20255 3,363.64 8 726,965 8 7 15
2026 20264 7,260.30 18 2,086,132 23 12 26
2027 20274 5,899.04 14 1,013,932 11 12 26
2028 20284 2,459.63 6 418,784 5 3 6
2029 2029%F 256.56 1 62,589 1 2 4
2032 20324 656.76 2 - - 2 4
2034 20344 7,031.66 17 1,425,409 15 2 4
Vacant =5 3,802.74 9 - - - -
Total: st 40,823.99 100 9,233,283 100 47 100
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Notes: (continued) Bist : (42)
3. (continued) 3. (&)
Occupancy Profile (continued) 1k AR (48)
Tenancy Duration Profile TRAFEIESR
Approximate Net Monthly No. of
Year F4 GLA % of total Rental % of total Tenancies % of total
BHEE TRABEEN gA IHBEEN A Y )
RmEE R4 FHe Elal=4 2 ¢E] Btk
(sgq m) (RMB)
(FFK) (AR¥T)
Up to 1 Year TiBiE14F 10,093.66 27 3,499,472 38 7 15
More than 1 Year and 1L B 4,957.32 13 1,074,023 12 7 15
up to 2 Years TiEoF
More than 2 Years and 24 LA H{B 6,019.99 16 1,380,469 15 15 32
up to 3 Years Ry EbERES
More than 3 Years and 34 LA H{B 726.89 2 233,989 3 1 2
up to 4 Years TEBBAEF
More than 4 Years and 44 A H8 5,166.83 14 1,324,631 14 9 19
up to 5 Years NEBBSF
More than 5 Years and 54 LA H{B 226.56 1 57,827 1 1 2
up to 6 Years TEBiB6TF
Over 7 Years 7TE 9,830.00 27 1,662,872 18 7 15
Total: et 37,021.25 100 9,233,283 100 47 100

4. According to the specific instructions by the Company, it is assumed that the
land use rights of the commercial (L1-L4) portion of the property expiring on
28 August 2034 will be extended to 28 August 2044 without any land premium
and/or any associated payments.

B, Further to note 4, we have also prepared our valuation based on the following
assumptions:

(i) the property has a proper legal title;

(i) all land premium and costs of resettlement and public utilities services
have been fully settled;

(i) the design and construction of the property are in compliance with
the local planning regulations and have been approved by the relevant

government authorities; and

(iv)  the property can be freely disposed of to local or overseas purchasers.

BIE BRTNERER  BRZVEDE(E1Z4
[ )&% #5114 203448 A 28 A Bl HAHY 1 1 {3 F #E 5 S HR
20448280 © HHBEX MEMMIE KSR
FRRARTER ©

IS - BPIRFFEERATRR :

() ZOEHEBESEERME

i) FAETHEEESUARMBEEBZEHREER
HEBHLES

(i)  EMERNRERRION A E RS KAARA
PIESK - W EBRRERATRrIEL « &

v) ZWEFNBREETEWIBIET
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB RS

KPMG

TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF CHINA MERCHANTS
COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

(a Hong Kong collective investment scheme authorised under
section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong))

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (“China
Merchants Commercial REIT”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 139 to 217, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in net assets
attributable to unitholders, the distribution statement and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and
notes, comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

BRERAEEHERECTESCESENE
A

(IRIE BB L HIFEE71 EEH R EIE XA E 104
a7 A 2 B B L FEIR B A1)
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Key audit matter

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide

a separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter

BRgE SR

BREITER
RRETFTRAREBRMANERAE - A RY
AHEERAVBRENBARASERNER
ZEENRPIET BB S P HRE Ml i
ABAKRREE  MEMTEHZEREHE L
BR e

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMHEFSF A REERETEE

Valuation of investment properties

REYRMEE

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policy note 2(2)(e).
B2 A MERERM 12 & BRI EE2Q)E) ©

The aggregate fair values of the Group’s investment
properties as at 31 December 2024 amounted to
RMB8,987 million, representing 89% of the Group’s
total assets as at that date. The decrease in fair values
of the Group’s investment properties recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2024 amounted to RMB393 million.
2024512 4310 - EEEKREMENAABEAERA
R¥8987TAETT MEEENZANAEESI N - BE
2024F 12 A1 B It FEAFAA ERRFGEEEREMER
AEBETYK  SEAARKIGEETT °

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of
investment properties included the following:

BARHEREDERGENEZREF B THIRA

e assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls over
the preparation and monitoring of valuation of the
Group’s investment properties;

e HMEAMGRHAEREERREMEMLENTIEN
TG - BHENEEMR

e evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external property valuers;

o FHBRSNEMIRMGEEMER - BN REEIML

e with the assistance of our internal property
valuation specialists, discussing with the external
property valuers their valuation methodology and
the key estimates and assumptions adopted in the
valuations;

o HERMHAIMEGEZERBGET - BINGEWEM
BRI R EEMETARANEERE  AREE
st RIRER




CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Independent auditor’s report ® ¥& 37 1 i Pl iR &

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE e ETTRE (&)
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RANBFT N IEEERETEE

Key audit matter

BRE SR

Valuation of investment properties

REWMEME

The Group’s investment properties, which are located
in the Chinese Mainland, mainly comprise a shopping
mall and office buildings. The fair values of the Group’s
investment properties were assessed by China Merchants
Land Asset Management Co., Limited, the manager of
China Merchants Commercial REIT (the “Manager”) based
on valuations prepared by external property valuers.
The determination of the fair values involves significant
judgement and estimation, including selecting the
appropriate valuation methodology and estimating the
term yield, reversionary yield and market rents.
EEEREMECNFEANMN - FEBFE—EFHUKRZE
BFE  c EEEREVEZ AL BERBEREERTER
WEEA ([BEA]) BEREMEEARAFREINGY
FHERMGRSINLEN L - BRI AR BESRERHEG KRG
it BREERESNMEREARMGTFHEREX - B85
HEARTISES

We identified valuation of the Group’s investment
properties as a key audit matter because of the
significance of investment properties to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and because the
determination of the fair values involves significant
judgement and estimation, including selecting the
appropriate valuation methodology and estimating the
term yield, reversionary yield and market rents.
BMBRNEREREMELELREREREE  RAKKE
MELHBEEEGESVBBRENEZY - ARTERETTAR
BEPREARAE NG - BEBEESNRETEALM
STFEHAEHRE BRI EEARTTISHES

with the assistance of our internal property
valuation specialist, evaluating the appropriateness
of the valuation methodology with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards and challenging the reasonableness of
key assumptions, i.e. term yield, reversionary yield
and market rents adopted in the valuations by
comparison with market data; and
EHFOADBYEEEZERBHT - 2EBITE
RN ERMAEBEIERTHEE - WHEBLR
5 8IRE A EPTERAE £ 2R ( BIF @R
E . ERRHREURTSHE ) 2568 &

comparing tenancy information, including
committed rents and occupancy rates, provided by
the Manager to the external property valuers with
underlying contracts and related documentation,
on a sample basis.

MEREBES O MBAX L REEER - BEE
ﬁ/\F»ﬂ&l\%ﬁ%%ﬁfﬁﬁﬁi%ﬁE’W%E%a’*ﬁ@&ﬂja’*ﬁ%ﬁ
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The Manager is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements

and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Manager for the consolidated
financial statements

The Manager is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and for such
internal control as the Manager determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Manager
is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Manager either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

In addition, the Manager is required to ensure that the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance
with the relevant provisions of the deed of trust dated 15 November
2019 (the “Trust Deed”) and the relevant disclosure provisions
set out in Appendix C of the Code on Real Estate Investment
Trusts (the “REIT Code”) issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong.

The Manager is assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AP MR ET RS ()
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Appendix C of the REIT
Code, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Manager.

e MR BT RS ()
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE e EHRRETTRE (&)
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager’s use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

?Z?}Eﬁﬁ%*ﬁ%éﬂﬁ%iﬁ%éﬁﬁﬁz,éﬁ
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Report on matters under the relevant provisions of the
Trust Deed and the relevant disclosure provisions of
Appendix C of the REIT Code

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Trust Deed and the relevant disclosure
provisions set out in Appendix C of the REIT Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Wong Chun Pong.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

17 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

= N2 /
n'/T\ ?
For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) | #Z2024%12 A31 H ILFE(AARBITLIIR)

Hit 2 H W= R

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETTT
Revenue Wz 4 529,359 489,159
Property operating expenses SES LG 5 (145,637) (133,929)
Net property income Y G Ve 383,722 355,230
Exchange losses bE 5 E51E (1,897) (1,194)
Other net income E AN FRE 6 16,043 25,244
(Impairment losses)/reversal of TEEEEEIEERT
impairment losses under expected CREER),REEE
credit loss model, net BEFER (261) 2,484
Decrease in fair value of investment KEMEN DR BERD
properties (393,219) (394,450)
Manager’s fee EEAEA 7 (17,422) (15,515)
Trust and other expenses EREREAMFAY (9,175) (11,789)
Finance costs BhE Ak AR 8 (131,846) (137,163)
Loss before tax and distribution to iﬁuﬂimlﬁ)}%/\ BRFEA
unitholders IR EE 9 (154,055) (177,153)
Income tax expenses FriSifsz 10 (24,295) (12,236)
Loss for the year, before Kt REESEMNIFTEADIKA
distribution to unitholders FREE (178,350) (189,389)
Distribution to unitholders ESBUIFERADIK (111,186) (94,647)
Loss for the year and total LT RESBEMNIFEAD KD
comprehensive income for the year, FAREEBRFANZE RSB
after distribution to unitholders (289,536) (284,036)
Loss for the year, before AR AR ARG R
distribution to unitholders E2BUHAADIKNFA
attributable to: fE518 -
Unitholders AEBLIFEA (184,774) (172,317)
Non-controlling interests FERE AR i A 6,424 (17,072)
(178,350) (189,389)
Total comprehensive income for the J/)(T/\iJT’ET{EZ‘“ B
year, after distribution to unitholders TEMNFFADIRNFEAN
attributable to: Iﬁu& AR
Unitholders EeBENFEBA (295,960) (266,964)
Non-controlling interests FEFEPRRE RS 6,424 (17,072)
(289,536) (284,036)
Basic loss per unit GRS EMEREE RMB(0.16) RMB(0.15)
11

The notes on pages 146 to 217 form part of these financial

statements.

o

AR¥(0.16)7t AR¥(0.15)7T

F146 =217 BB Z E T ISR A — 30
o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A MR R R

As at 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) | 74202412 8318 (LAARBETIHIR)

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR¥ET T AREFTT
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Investment properties REWME 12 8,987,000 9,251,000
Prepayments for construction works BETIZBNFIR - 4,070
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R 379 611
8,987,379 9,255,681
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables, B 5 REMBEWFIE -
and prepayments RIBNFOR 13 6,177 2,121
Amounts due from related companies JE 5 BB A R RIR 25 - 1,042
Time deposits TEBITF R 14 101,072 50,072
Cash and cash equivalents BeRRESEED 14 986,607 1,079,011
1,093,856 1,132,246
Total assets EEHRE 10,081,235 10,387,927
Current liabilities nREBRE
Trade and other payables B o RHEHME ﬁ*” 15 188,936 141,998
Amounts due to related companies ST REESE R 7 25 147,130 145,579
Amounts due to non-controlling interests T 3EIE Hﬂ&ﬁ:mk 25 18,748 19,754
Distribution payable FER 7K 49,168 45,541
Tax payable FEHTE 46,364 46,389
Secured bank borrowings BHHRITER 16 1,710,055 -
2,160,401 399,261
Non-current liabilities, excluding net ¥ RBAB(TEREESEN
assets attributable to unitholders RFEAEBLEEFE)
Secured bank borrowings BEARRITER 16 2,376,058 4,053,724
Rental deposits received from tenants BWEFHESES 15 - 7,087
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEAE 17 987,248 1,047,271
3,363,306 5,108,082
Total liabilities, excluding net assets BEEHE(TEFEESEN
attributable to unitholders BREARLEEFE) 5,523,707 5,507,343
Non-controlling interests FEEE 1,461,563 1,488,659
Net assets attributable to unitholders E£BUEFEAREEEFE 3,095,965 3,391,925
Number of units in issue ERTESENHE 18 1,127,819,549 1,127,819,549
Net asset value per unit attributable E£BVHFEARGESESEN 19 RMB2.75 RMB3.01
to unitholders NEEFE AR¥2.757T ARH3.017T

The notes on pages 146 to 217 form part of these financial  £146%217 B MR S B 53R i — 2P
statements. o)

o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
UNITHOLDERS AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

an\

ESBENVRAAIFERERBLREEFER DR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) | #Z2024%12 A31 H IEFE(AAREITLIIR)

Issued
units
BB
ELEf

RMB'000
ARETR

Other
reserve

Rtbfita
RMB’000
AEBTR
(note i)

Non-
controlling
interests

Net assets

Loss less attributable to
distribution unitholders
EEEUHAA
EEEERE
RMB'000
ARETR

Total

BEHATR
RMB'000
ARETR

FERRR
RMB'000
ARBTR

it
RMB'000
ARBTT

Net assets as at 1 January 2023 Ro03F1 A1REERE 3,391,629 379,499 (112,139) 3,668,389 388,379 4,047,268
Loss for the year, before distribution to unitholders 3t RES BB A ENEREE - - (172817) (172317) (17072)  (189,389)
Distribution paid and payable ERRERDR

- Interim distrioution paid -BAPEAR - - 49,106) 49,106) - (49,106)

- Final distribution payable -ERREAR - - (45,541) (45,541) - (45,541)
Total comprehensive income for the year EREENGEE - - (266,964) (266,964) (17072 (284,030)
Capitalisation of amounts due to a non-controlling ~ FET SRR ERTEN AL (HHi)

interest (note i - - - - 1188719 1,138,719
Dividends proposed to non-controling interests ~ BEmFEARERE KRS - - - - (21,367) (21,367)
Net assets as at 31 December and 1 January 2024 R2024512A31BRIAIBEERE 3,391,520 379499  (379,108) 3,301,925 1,488,650 4,880,584
Loss for the year, before distribution to unitholders - K& k&S BIEE AN RNFREE - - (184,774) (184,774) 6,424 (178,350)
Distribution paid and payable ENREFAR

~ Interim distribution paid -BRPEAE = - (62,018) (62,018) - (62,018)

- Final distribution required to be paid ~BXHREDR - - (49,168) (49,168) - (49,168)
Total comprenensive income for the year EREENGESE - - (2954960) (295,960) 6,424 (289,536)
Dividends proposed to non-controling interests B RIERERE RKOKE - - - - (33,520) (33,520)
Net assets as at 31 December 2024 RO045F12 A3 BAEFE 3,391,529 379,499 (675,063) 3,095,965 1,461,563 4,557,528
Notes: Kt -

(i

The

In 2019, China Merchants Commercial REIT acquired the property holding
companies established in the PRC held by a fellow subsidiary of a significant
unitholder of China Merchants Commercial REIT. The amount represents
excess of fair value of the acquired property holding companies over acquisition
costs amounting to RMB379,499,000.

Prior to 29 June 20283, China Merchants Commercial REIT (through its
subsidiary) and a non-controlling shareholder owned 51% and 49% equity
interests in a subsidiary respectively. On 29 June 2023, both shareholders of the
subsidiary passed a resolution to irrevocably waive and cancel their respective
shareholders loan to the subsidiary, in consideration as a voluntary capital
contribution to the subsidiary in an amount equal to the shareholder loans.
Upon completion of voluntary capital contribution, the shareholding of both
shareholders of such subsidiary remained unchanged.

notes on pages 146 to 217 form part of these financial

statements.

(i)

o

N

N2019% - HRRAXEAET RBERARBXE
AEE—RIBESEMHAEAN—HRRKBRR
FA MR BER IR MEER AR o 2 BERKE
MERBRATNRA BEBBEBR AN ARE
379,499,0007T °

20236 A29R A1 + B FEEETES CRBEM
BAR) R—RIEERIRE S RIS —EH B AR51%
T 49%H s © 1A202356 A29H - HiBRAFIHNMA
REBB—IERAZR - TAHERERIVERESESE
HHBARKNKRRER  (EAHHEBARMNAET
& PEBERFEERHEE - RERLETKE @ Z
BB A B 80 2 AR SR RO AR AR AT MR T o

S£146ZE217 AWM B2 Z M B kg — &P
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

GeBRIMNER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) | #%E2024F12A31BILFE(UAARKTIIR)

2023
20234
NOTES RMB’000
HtaF AR®ETIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReESEE
Loss before tax and distribution to KT RBMERESEMNIFEAD
unitholders Ik ET1E (154,055) (177,153)
Adjustments for: RATHIEELFE -
Decrease in fair value of investment WEWENDREBERD
properties 393,219 394,450
Depreciation e 97 123
Interest income from bank deposits REFRITFERRFEIA (11,236) (15,953)
Interest expenses FERX 131,846 137,163
Impairment losses/(reversal of TEREEEIBERAT
impairment losses) under expected SREETE  CRERE
credit loss model, net B[] ) FEE 261 (2,484)
Exchange losses b B8 578 2,558
Operating cash flow before movements &i8& & #EATHK LIRS RE
in working capital 360,710 338,704
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other &5 & B fth FEU ZRIE A K.
receivables, and prepayments TEN B (), R (4,056) 3,805
Decrease in amounts due from related  EURBFEE A )28 5 >
companies 1,042 8,772
Decrease in trade and other payables & 5 & H b e~ ZR 18R 2 (5,799) (7,997)
Increase in amounts due to related JE{ST RANE A B FIE N
companies 1,551 5,282
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to  JEN ZEERAEZR B ORA),/
non-controlling interests N (1,006) 304
Cash generated from operation KEEES 352,442 348,870
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) paid 2B {>2RE5H
([%mEH ) (71,048) (63,264)
Withholding tax paid EATEHORL (13,295) (10,693)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETHREBRESTHE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 268,099 274,913
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Interest received BUFIE 11,236 15,953
Additions to investment properties NBEREE (57,087) (98,450)
Purchase of property, plant and BEYWE  HENMRE
equipment (17) (39)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - R MEESHIE
plant and equipment 61 -
Increase in prepayments for FEREE T RR TR AL hI
construction works - (4,070)
Withdrawal of time deposits IREUE BT - 157,657
Placement of time deposits AT B (51,000) (152,439)
Refund of overpayment of IR R IR IR ST U
consideration for acquisition from KRB
non-controlling interests = 13,840
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REETBFAARES TR
ACTIVITIES (96,807) (67,548)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement ® 48R &R E %
For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) | #£2024512 31 HIEFE(AAREITIIR)

2023
20234
NOTES RMB’000
HtaF AREFT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Distribution paid BRI 22 (108,137) (181,952)
Interest paid EAFE 22 (131,087) (144,530)
New bank borrowings raised EERITIER 22 48,450 2,563,224
Repayments of bank borrowings RITEFER 22 (16,061) (2,562,139)
Receipt from Eureka for the distribution Bt IK#FEH R nEe 58
commitment - 66,948
Advance from non-controlling interests  FEEMRAEZR X 20 - 1,521
Repayment to non-controlling interests  [MFEEMRAEZRIE K 22 (1,521) -
Repayments to related companies MEERFIER 22 (491) (11)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests B JEZE AR AIAR B (54,887) (12,127)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RESEEFTAESEE
ACTIVITIES (263,734) (269,066)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRESEBEYRDFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (92,442) (61,701)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT F¥R&RREEEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,079,011 1,140,712
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE HNESHE BB 2 OB
RATE CHANGES 38 -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S XBE&RESEEY
THE END OF THE YEAR
represented by bank balances and cash BIER7 T4 RIS 986,607 1,079,011

The notes on pages 146 to 217 form part of these financial F146 2217 B M s E R X S SRR/ A —2
statements. 5 o

N
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DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT

7 ikER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) | #%E2024F12A31BILFE(UAARKTIIR)

Loss for the year attributable to

A RESEMRFEAD KN

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBETIT

unitholders, before distribution to HeBNEEAEBNERER

unitholders (184,774) (172,317)
Adjustments on amount that are attributable & B35 AR S FEAFHE

to unitholders:

Decrease in fair value of investment properties % & #2572 41 BER 354,635 314,862
Exchange losses [E 5 E5i8 1,623 1,603
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment EHEEEBEX TREEE

losses) under expected credit loss ORBEEERER) 558

model, net 255 (2,483)
Depreciation e 44 92
Deferred tax EAEFRIE (565,134) (47,110)
Total distributable income to unitholders T HEAELENIFEAD RN

(note (i) WA RBEE(HEE3) 116,649 94,647
Interim distribution, paid to unitholders (note (i) 2 E 4 BrrEFE ANTHDIE

(FfaE(i) 62,018 49,106
Final distribution, proposed by the Manager B AR HEAR DR (KA i)

(note (iii) 54,631 45,541
Total distribution for the year FRDIREEE 116,649 94,647
Payout ratio (note (i) DIREE R (B aE(i) 100% 100%
Distribution per unit (“DPU”) BEESBNDIK

Interim distribution per unit, paid

Final distribution per unit, to be paid to
unitholders

EfNEES BT DK

HRES BARA AZTH
BESEUREDIK

RMBO0.0550 RMB0.0435
AK#0.0550T AK#0.04357T
RMBO0.0484 RMB0.0404
ARK#0.0484T AKR¥0.04047T

RMBO0.1034 RMB0.0839
AK¥0.1034t AR¥0.08397T
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Distribution Statement ® 43k %

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) | #Z2024%12 A31 H ILFE(AAREITLIIR)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the total distributable income is profit for the
year, before distribution to unitholders as adjusted to eliminate the effects of
Adjustments (as set out in the Trust Deed) which have been recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
statement for the relevant year. China Merchants Commercial REIT is required
to distribute to unitholders not less than 90% of its distributable income of
each financial period. The Manager’s policy is to distribute to the Unitholders
an amount of 100% of annual total distributable income of China Merchants
Commercial REIT for each relevant period from 10 December 2019 (“Listing
Date”) to 31 December 2023, and at least 90% of the total annual distributable
income for each financial year thereafter.

The interim distribution per unit of HK$0.0600, equivalent to RMB0.0550
(six months ended 30 June 2023: HK$0.0475, equivalent to RMB0.0435)
for the six months ended 30 June 2024 is calculated based on the interim
distribution to unitholders of RMB62,018,000 (six months ended 30 June 2023:
RMB49,106,000) for the period and 1,127,819,549 (six months ended 30 June
20283: 1,127,819,549) units in issue as at 30 June 2024.

The proposed final distribution per unit of HK$0.0520, equivalent to RMB0.0484
(2028: HK$0.0450, equivalent to RMB0.0404) for the year ended 31 December
2024 is calculated based on the final distribution to be paid to unitholders
of RMB54,631,000 (2023: RMB45,541,000) for the year and 1,127,819,549
(2028: 1,127,819,549) units in issue as at 31 December 2024.

The final distribution to be paid to unitholders includes the minimum distribution
in accordance with the Trust Deed of RMB49,168,000 (2023: RMB40,987,000)
and a voluntary final distribution declared after the end of the reporting period
of RMB5,463,000. The voluntary final distribution has not been recognised as
distribution payable as at 31 December 2024.

The notes on pages 146 to 217 form part of these financial
statements.

Hiet

(i

(ii)

BIRIEERY - ADRRABE AR RES B
BADRKFEREF - WAFAELUERIIABBEE
e B RE MR FEREERN AR (R EERZORN)
WEE - BEREERTESERNESENREASD
IR E S E B B AR D A 90% M Al DRI » BIEA
NBSRAMESBNFEAD KBEBNEETES
FE2019F12 8108 ([ LT A H ) Z=20234F 12 A 31
B &8 HR100% FE AT DR KA B - MEBRE
B EREEZE DD IREE A IR KA BEEHI0% °

HZE2024F6 AR IEAEASESEMNTES
& 0.06007% 7t (18 & I A R #0.0550 7T ) ( & 2 2023
F6HA30B EANEA : 00475F L (HERARKE
0.04357T) ) IR EINE € B35 H AR EH KA
R#62,018,0007T (& 202346 A30H (- /<@ A :
AR #49,106,0007T ) & 12202446 A30H B 17K
1,127,819,549 (& (# £ 2023 F 6 A 30 H LE /<@ A -
1,127,819,549(E) E & BT H -

HE2024F12 A A ILFEBES S MEZRRH
9 &0.05207% 7t (#8E 74 A R #0.0484 7T ) (20234 :
0.04507%8 70 (B E R AR 0.04047T ) ) THARIEF WA
E S BABAAZTHOKRESIRAR54,631,0007T
(20234 : AR#45,541,0007T) FA2024F12 A31H
B317/91,127,819,5491E (20234 : 1,127,819,5491H)
ESBNATE -

MESBEMRAEAINORGS RBEETEZNE
THRES KA R%49,168,00070 (20234 : AR
40,987,0007T ) A R & EAARE SR E) B FEARE 5 R A
R#5,463,0007C ° M2024412 A318 * BEERIH
IR AR TR AN DR

F146E217 AR ZEH MK — &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M ERAR M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) | (R REEBESID - UARETIIR)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

China Merchants Commercial REIT is a Hong Kong collective
investment scheme authorised under section 104 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and its units are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKSE”). China
Merchants Commercial REIT is governed by the deed of trust
dated 15 November 2019, as amended from time to time
(the “Trust Deed”), entered into between China Merchants
Land Asset Management Co., Limited (the “Manager”) and
the Trustee, and the Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts
(the “REIT Code”) issued by the Securities and Futures

Commission of Hong Kong.

The principal activity of China Merchants Commercial REIT
is investment holding and its subsidiaries own and invest in
income-generating commercial properties in Shenzhen and
Beijing with the objective of generating stable and sustainable
distributions to unitholders and to achieve long term growth
in the net asset value per unit. The address of the registered
office of the Manager and the Trustee, are 22nd Floor, 308
Central Des Voeux, No. 308 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong
Kong and Level 60, International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin

Road, West Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the same as the functional

currency of China Merchants Commercial REIT.

—RER
BERREETEES S —HREFE XD
FET1EF 7 LI E GO F 104 1RERA]
MEERENEE HESBUNELS
BAaRFMARAR([EBBRM]) TR
Lt - BB ERAEERBRREL
BEARAR([EEA]EZFEANR2019
F11A15RFT L EFERA (ETRHERT)
(MEERN ) EBBRSFLPEEHER
ZEBEEMNEHERERFTEES T
([EEEEFRIDAHRE

BEREEETESN I BB AR ER
B MEWNBARNEEERAES RIT
BRFIRIEEZOAIRERAYE  BI25
MESEMNFEAREBEREND KK
EYBESEMNEEFENRELER
EIEARZEANEMRIREE IS B A
E S EEEP 3085 - EEER3085k221
RBEANENTABEEIRIRKE S ES
BOIE °

HAMBREAARB (AR 27
ARBTRAERAXERESNINEE
ﬂ'%z o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ® 454 B 73R < M 3T
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) | (Bx BHHEAEIN - MARKTIIR)

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

China Merchants Commercial REIT and the entities controlled
by it (collectively the “Group”) have entered into various
service agreements in relation to the management of China
Merchants Commercial REIT and its property operations. The
fee structures of these services are as follows:

U]

(1)

Manager’s fees

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager will receive:

(@)

On a semi-annual basis, a base fee of 10.0%
per annum of the distributable income. Base fee
distributable income is the amount of the total
distributable income calculated before accounting
for the Manager’s fee payable for the year; and

On an annual basis, a variable fee of 25.0% per
annum of the difference in DPU in a financial year
compared to the preceding financial year, multiplied
by the weighted average number of units in issue
for such financial year (for the purpose of calculating
the variable fee only, the DPU shall be calculated
before accounting for the variable fee but after
accounting for the base fee distributable income
for the relevant financial year). No variable fee shall
accrue or be payable for the period from the Listing
Date to 31 December 2022. The Manager did not
require China Merchants Commercial REIT to pay
any variable fee for the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Trustee’s fees

China Merchants Commercial REIT pays the Trustee a
one-off acceptance fee of HK$180,000 upon Listing.
Regular trustee’s fee is calculated and paid semi-
annually as an ongoing fee of not more than 0.0175% per
annum of the value of the investment properties (which
may be increased up to a maximum of 0.06% per annum
of the value of the investment properties) subject to a
minimum of RMB56,000 per month.

—RER(E

HERRERAES LEEHIER (5H
[F&EE ) ERARREEEAESNEE
MEYMZEEL N ZERB e - 2SR
BHERRBIT

(i) EBAEA

RIBEFERY - BERASKEUATE
A :

@ BFEFRAEIRBAGESTE
10.0%HERER o EAREBRHA
HEDRWA BT AFNEMNERR
AEBBRFTERN R HEHDRIIA LR
| R

(b)) BFERE-—VRFENTESE
7 kLR — (BB B E B R TR
B DIR 2 Z=FEFAZ I K
FEEBRITESEMAMNETF
BB B T EH25.0%H) 22 E F
(ERtstE 8 BRAmME - &
B BRI IRAS A AE R B E
FENVE TSR ERIERERE
EABAAHESIRBMAEITE ST
EIBEETE) B LMBEHREE
2022412 A31 B 1 B 42
ST EREBIER - EEANE
R PEEEETESHER
2024 [ 2023F 12 A31 B |
EXANEIEEER -

(i) ZEAEA
BEREEETESBR ETER
FF A — XM %32 2 180,000
BT REZTANBABSEFL
BERINEAFERBR  £81T%
RIEEYMHEBEBETF0.0175% (258
B A EMEREYEEENTE
0.06%) KB AREKESEEAAR
#56,0007T °




CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements o 434 B f& R 3% M 5F

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) | (R REEBESID - UARETIIR)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Operations manager’s fees

Under the operations management agreement,
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Management
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (REe D EEER ORI BRA
Al) (the “Operations Manager”) is entitled to receive
from the Chinese Mainland subsidiaries of China
Merchants Commercial REIT (“the Chinese Mainland
Subsidiaries”): (i) an amount equivalent to 5.0% of
the monthly rental income of the Chinese Mainland
Subsidiaries, payable on a monthly basis; and (ii) an
amount equivalent to 2.5% of the Subsidiaries semi-
annual capital expenditure for refurbishment and
renovation of the properties, payable on a semi-annual
basis.

Property manager’s fees

Under the property management agreements of
Shenzhen properties, Shenzhen China Merchants
Property Holding Management Co., Ltd.* (ZIIFEmE
BEIEAERAF) (the “Property Manager”) is entitled to
receive from the designated account jointly maintained
by the relevant Chinese Mainland Subsidiaries and
the Property Manager: (a) with respect to Shenzhen
Garden City Property Management Co., Ltd Garden City
Shopping Centre* (RYITTEEHREXEEBREER
Al), a fixed monthly fee of RMB54,167 (approximate to
RMB650,000 per annum); and (b) with respect to the
other properties, a monthly fee equivalent to 12.0% of
the sum of the fees and charges (except air-conditioning
charges and promotional fees) and car parking fees they
have collected.

Under the property management agreements of Beijing
property, China Merchants Property Management
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.* ((tRIBEABMEERBRAQF) (the
“Property Manager”) is entitled to receive from the
designated account maintained by the relevant Chinese
Mainland Subsidiary and the Property Manager: (a) with
respect to owner occupied lease, a fixed monthly fee of
RMB8,482 (approximate to RMB101,784 per annum);
(b) with respect to the vacant lease, a monthly fee of
RMB10.79/sg.m./month; and (c) with respect to the car
parking management fee, a monthly fee equivalent to
10.0% of the car parking fees they have collected.

The English names are for identification purpose only.

1.

—RER (A

(iii)

(iv)

EEEEANER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ® 454 B 73R < M 3T
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) | (Bx BHHEAEIN - MARKTIIR)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 2. HEVBBMRNEHEERS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AN £

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(1) Statement of compliance (1) &#=H
The consolidated financial statements have been LA MIEHRR IR R R et ELE
prepared in accordance with all applicable International o (B EAESSE|)ERT
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting FrEEm R BRI fSRE%ED « HEE
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter sHER(TERBEsER ) R3E (5
collectively referred to as the (“IFRS Accounting T [ BB AR A2 ERl | ) -
Standards”) issued by the International Accounting =EERAMEBIEY - BitEKREE
Standards Board (“IASB”), the relevant provisions of AEE TR SRCR BB ERE A
the Trust Deed, the relevant disclosure provisions set KBS RFTRE S LR BIFTRER
out in Appendix C of the REIT Code and the disclosures WELRE o
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the HKSE.
The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRS B et ElESe B ARG E T
Accounting Standards that are first effective or available EE AL A B XA AT R AT
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the R 4R B B BR B 7 i 5 SE Bl & 5T ZE B
Group. Note 2(3) provides information on any changes 1BETAR o MizE2Q) & A A & X FE A itk
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of SEBRREK ST BERNEMEFHE
these developments to the extent that they are relevant B LR ZENERR RN SR
to the Group for the current accounting period reflected STEAM AR EAERAE AR o
in these financial statements.

(2) Basis of preparation (2 wmHIEE

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 comprise China Merchants
Commercial REIT and the entities controlled by China
Merchant Commercial REIT.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis except investment properties which are stated at
their fair value as explained in the accounting policies set
out in note 2(4(e)).

HE2024F12A31 B I FEHZRA M
BRERBEREREEETES UK
B PR EE AN TR -

R A M RRTFANTEEE
BEL A - R E2@E)F e
STBURFTHREB R EME LR DR BE
BIBRERI o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements o 434 B f& R 3% M 5F

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) | (R REEBESID - UARETIIR)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 2. BEVBRRNEREELERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFHE(E)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(2) Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

The Manager has, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future, considering a new 5-year bank facility agreement
signed subsequent to the end of financial period as set
out in Note 16. Accordingly, the Manager continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing
the consolidated financial statements.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(8) Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following new and amended
IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IAS to these
financial statements for the current accounting period:

° Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current
or non-current (“2020 amendments”) and
amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Non-current liabilities with covenants
(“2022 amendments”)

e  Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in
a sale and leaseback

e Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —
Supplier finance arrangements

The new and amended IFRS Accounting Standards
applied for the year has had no material impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the current
and prior periods.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(4) Material accounting policies
(a) Basis of consolidation

Control is achieved when China Merchants
Commercial REIT:

* has the power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a controlled entity begins when
the Group obtains control over the controlled entity
and ceases when the Group loses control of the
controlled entity. Specifically, income and expenses
of controlled entities acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the date the Group gains controls until the date
when the Group ceases to control the controlled
entity.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

(a)
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(4) Material accounting policies (continued)

(b)

(c)

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional
concentration test, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, that permits a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities.
If the concentration test is met, the set of activities
and assets is determined not to be a business and
no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisition

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the
Group identifies and recognises the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to investment
properties which are subsequently measured
under fair value model and financial assets/financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated
to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on
the basis of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to
goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 2. BEVBRRNEREELERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFHE(E)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(4) Material accounting policies (continued) @) EXSTERERE)
(d) Non-controlling interests (d) SEERER

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in
the event of liquidation are initially measured at
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets or at fair value. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the unitholders and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
unitholders and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from net assets attributable
to unitholders, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon
liquidation.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(4) Material accounting policies (continued)

(e)

)

(9)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to contracts with customers is provided in
note 4.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rental and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values. All of
the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
purposes are classified and accounted for as
investment properties and are measured using
the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from
changes in fair value of investment properties are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s
carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the expenditure
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably.

Property, plant, and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible
assets that are held for use in the supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(4) Material accounting policies (continued)

(9)

(h)

Property, plant, and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

The depreciation rates for each category of
property, plant, and equipment are as follows:

18.00%-19.00%
18.00%-19.00%
4.75%-31.67%

18.00%-31.67%

Motor vehicles

Office equipment
Computer equipment
Furniture

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Leases
(i)  Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. For contracts
entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business
combination, the Group assesses whether
a contract is or contains a lease based on
the definition under IFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 2. BOUBRRNERELERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFTHER(E
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(4) Material accounting policies (continued) @) EREHBERERE)
(h) Leases (continued) (hy #HEE)
(i)  The Group as a lessor (i)  AEEBERHFAA
Classification and measurement of leases HMENDERTE
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are K%lf’ﬁ%ﬁfﬂ/\ﬁ%ﬂ%
classified as operating leases. NEAKERE
Rental income (including rental income from KEHEMSHESWA(R
office buildings and a shopping centre) from FEETEREYSLHE
operating leases is recognised in profit or loss WA RIEFERERZE
on a straight-line basis over the term of the KRN BIRIER o
relevant lease.
When a lease contract contains a specific HMEEAWIHERFTEIEX
clause that provides for rent reduction or FHE - EARBEEE(SHEE
suspension of rent in the event that the A &R ) B A &R B KA E A
underlying assets (or any part thereof) are AP 2 AR F i mE
affected by adverse events beyond the control i‘%&% S| H B EE
of the Group and the lessee so as to render B EEEEFERARE
the underlying assets unfit or not available for AIZAREREREAE -
use, the relevant rent reduction or suspension m A Z eI E Bz
of rent resulting from the specific clause is PR A TR B A
accounted for as part of the original lease BRI ABREEZ —25 -
and not as a lease modification. Such rent mIEREEFT - BEEMA
reduction or suspension of rent is recognised o B B M Th A A 8 35 R
in profit or loss in the period in which the event SNz EHHIBRESE
or condition that triggers those payments to AR AP B HERR ©
occur.
Rental income which is derived from the REREBHBEKBRE
Group’s ordinary course of business is WA A T2 AlEs
presented as revenue.
() Borrowing costs (i) B
All borrowing costs in relation to non-qualifying FiBEIESEEREEEBNEE
assets are recognised in profit or loss in the period XA TR EE A B A 1R 2 ERR

in which they are incurred.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(4) Material accounting policies (continued)

()]

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax and distribution to unitholders because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(4) Material accounting policies (continued)

()]

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through
sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 2. BEVBRRNEREELERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFHE(E)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(4) Material accounting policies (continued) 4 EXSHBEERE)
(k) Financial instruments k) £@mIA

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 2. BOUBRRNERELERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETTHE(E)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(4) Material accounting policies (continued) @) EXSHBERERE)
(k) Financial instruments (continued) (k) évﬂlﬂ(ﬁm)
(i)  Financial assets () E

Classification and subsequent measurement of CRMEEMN DB REBERT

financial assets =

Financial assets that meet the following FETIRENESREE

conditions are subsequently measured at BES IR GHA ANET = ¢

amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a e SRMEBEEREBEN
business model whose objective is to WEE - HEMAK
collect contractual cash flows; and MERBRERE &

e the contractual terms give rise on o ARG TE R
specified dates to cash flows that are EERERE %R
solely payments of principal and interest EREEATMEKE
on the principal amount outstanding. BARSENRNE KA

B o

All other financial assets are subsequently FreEEmtmeEEHEBIZ

measured at fair value. NREBERTE -

- Amortised cost and interest income - ESERARAEWA
Interest income is recognised using the BLEL 18 TR HE S A AN BT
effective interest method for financial EJEREEMS °
assets measured subsequently at B UL A To{E B R
amortised cost. Interest income is R SKRER o F B Uk
calculated by applying the effective ATVERESREE
interest rate to the gross carrying (BEELBEEEREZ
amount of a financial asset, except for ERMEE(RT XK
financial assets that have subsequently 9|\)Z%§Eﬁ'@f§fgﬁﬁﬁ
become credit-impaired (see below). For BRARZTE - GhEER
financial assets that have subsequently HIREEREZER
become credit-impaired, interest income EEmE @ FMEWA
is recognised by applying the effective BB eHEER
interest rate to the amortised cost of the B e 5 B 2 SR K
financial asset from the next reporting AEREBRFIET A
period. If the credit risk on the credit- R - WE FTEER
impaired financial instrument improves so BzemIAZEE
that the financial asset is no longer credit- Rkxiem - BEEE
impaired, interest income is recognised TREETHEERE
by applying the effective interest rate to BRE - BIR S A
the gross carrying amount of the financial NERENBREE
asset from the beginning of the reporting EMTITBELEEE
period following the determination that the VERIEKE el a= b
asset is no longer credit-impaired. B emEERERER

BEAERMNZET N
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2. BASIS OF

PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(4) Material accounting policies (continued)

(k) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Under the expected loss approach, the Group
assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its
financial assets. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk. The
impairment model under IFRS 9 applies to
financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The Group applies the simplified approach to
recognise lifetime expected losses for trade
receivables. As regards amounts due from
related companies, time deposits with maturity
over three months and bank balances, the
Group considers that they have low credit risk
and hence recognises 12-month expected
credit losses (“12m ECL”) for such items.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire.

Financial liabilities

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the
definition of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(4) Material accounting policies (continued)

(k) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

In accordance with the Trust Deed, China
Merchants Commercial REIT has a limited
life of 80 years less 1 day from the date
of commencement of China Merchants
Commercial REIT. In addition, China
Merchants Commercial REIT is required to
distribute to unitholders no less than 90% of its
annual distributable income for each financial
year in accordance with the Trust Deed.
Accordingly, the units contain contractual
obligations to pay cash dividends and also
upon the termination of China Merchants
Commercial REIT, a share of all net cash
proceeds derived from the sale or realisation
of the assets of China Merchants Commercial
REIT less any liabilities, in accordance
with their proportionate interests in China
Merchants Commercial REIT at the date of
its termination. The unitholders’ funds are
therefore classified as financial liabilities in
accordance with IFRS 9, Financial instruments.
It is shown on the consolidated statement of
financial position as “Net assets attributable to
unitholders”.

Other financial liabilities (including trade and
other payables, amounts due to related
companies, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, distribution payable and secured
bank borrowings) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(4) Material accounting policies (continued)

(k) Financial instruments (continued)

U]

(i)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments rather than for investment
or other purposes.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 2. HEVBBMRNEHUEERS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETHE (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(4) Material accounting policies (continued) @) EXSHBERERE)

(m) Foreign currencies (m) ShiE

In preparing the financial statements of each RiRESERIEEE R 2 TR
individual group entity, transactions in currencies R BRI EB AN
other than the functional currency of that entity B (INEVETZ R BIRR 5 E
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates BZBRITERER - RREH
of exchange prevailing on the dates of the R LAINESIME 2 IR B AR
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, T2 EREIIRE o L LA
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies LAINESH B 2 IEEHIER T TE
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. FE o

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement HEEEMIEE REFRE IR
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of BFEECERZR REESE
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in HARIfE B P AR o
the period in which they arise.
(n) REEEER
(n) Related parties () WERATHIER  BlZE
() A person, or a close member of that person’s AT B ATHIRK
family, is related to the Group if that person: BREWHGRAEAEERE
B
-  has control or joint control over the - HAREEBEGIRE
Group; FERE SR
-  has significant influence over the Group; - HAEEBEATE
or 73k
— is a member of the key management - AAKEZAKER
personnel of the group or the Group’s NAMEEERAE

parent. T
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(4) Material accounting policies (continued)

(n) Related parties (continued)

(it

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

The entity and the group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(4) Material accounting policies (continued)

(n)

(o)

Related parties (continued)

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (continued)

— A person identified in (i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

— The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

4) EXSHEHEEHGE)

(n)

(0)

B (&)

(i) @A TNIHERBER - Bl
ZEBERREANEESR
BRE : (&)

- ROPTEBBALE
HZERBEEATEN
SRR ER(HRER
SRENEIZEEA
Bz—o

- ZEBIZERME
SEZEMKERA
RAEE L AEEH
SRRREERER
ABRTS °

X—ATHERFBRE
BRI ZEZATEE
BETEEINEERR

ZANTHENEBERENX

2 EBERE
LE D BP &) BEIR B IR 15 R

K2 BN BT A AEH
FBEGHTEREES MR
AR LR BIBGE S
AR R A RR B E
SEIR

EREXREEDFTEEAHEHR
EMETES - EEDRABERR
AR - DA S EE am B AR A%
MEE - EEBENEE - BF
BEISAR R - D HEmSIREAR
BRANIEREERENEE
B RIEERERSN o ER NBEXR
HVEE D BMEFT B BB D L

RERIABEEITRS o



CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements o 434 B f& R 3% M 5F

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) | (R REEBESID - UARETIIR)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 2, the Manager is required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

The following is the critical judgment, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Manager has
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the Manager has reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that the
Group’s investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group’s deferred tax on investment
properties, the Manager has determined that the
presumption of investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised deferred
tax on changes in fair value of investment properties
using EIT rate at 25%.
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3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 3. BITHETRMEE(E)
ESTIMATES (continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty

(b) fEEFREABAE R ZHRIR

The following is the key assumption concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
engages an independent qualified professional valuer
(the “Valuer”) to perform the valuation. The Manager
works closely with the Valuer to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The
valuation report and findings would be reported to the
directors of Manager half yearly to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

Investment properties are stated at fair value at the end
of the reporting period based on the valuation performed
by the Valuer. In determining the fair value, the Valuer has
based on a method of valuation which involves certain
estimates as described in note 12.

Where the actual future market data varies, a material
adjustment on the fair values of investment properties
may arise. In relying on the valuation reports, the
Manager has exercised its judgment and is satisfied that
the method of valuation and the inputs to the model is
reflective of the current market conditions.
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue recognition

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT

Rental income from office buildings and BEENLEYHOES KA

a shopping centre 467,899 441,166

Revenue from contracts with BEEEZINKREEFSLON
customers recognised over time Wz

Management fee income EEEWA 40,967 29,733

Carpark income B A 9,812 8,100

Advertising and air-conditioning income B R ZEA A 10,681 10,160

61,460 47,993

529,359 489,159

The Group’s investment properties are leased to tenants
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. Lease
payments for some contracts depend on shopping centre’s
turnover pursuant to the terms and conditions as set out in
respective rental agreements.

The gross rental income from investment properties includes
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate of RMB1,275,000 (2023: RMB1,498,000) for the current
year.

KEIH’]Tﬁé{%%@Tﬁ%% HEmEFE
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PEt5I B R S Mkt - BB D& RV E
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group had minimum lease payment receivables on lease
of office buildings and a shopping centre are as follows:

IAAREETTIIR)

Wk o ESER (&)

W TR (4F)
AEEREERFRE—RBYT LOK
ERE N EUGRIRINT

Within 1 year 1R
Between 1 and 2 years 1524
Between 2 and 3 years 2E3F
Between 3 and 4 years 3E44F
Between 4 and 5 years 4EB5F
Over 5 years 5% LA F

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETT
353,212 301,801
213,578 259,323
140,137 135,151
98,124 77,970
60,153 51,730
112,921 63,473
978,125 889,448

All services within the scope of IFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” (“IFRS 15”) are for period of
one year or less, except for management fee income and
others which are provided for a period of one year or more.
For management fee income and others, the Group applied
the practical expedient in IFRS 15 to recognise revenue in
the amount that the Group has the right to invoice based
on the terms of the relevant agreements in which the Group
bills a fixed monthly amount. As permitted under IFRS 15,
the transaction price of all these services allocated to the
remaining performance obligations as at the end of each
reporting period is not disclosed.

Segment information

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the Manager, being the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM”), that are used to make strategic
decisions. The Group’s reportable segments are classified as
six investment properties, which are individual office buildings
namely New Times Plaza, Cyberport Building, Technology
Building, Technology Building 2 and Onward Science and
Trade Center, and a shopping centre namely Garden City
Shopping Centre.

BIRR B s = RIS 55% [ R P A KMk ]
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WERDEER(E)

(continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities DEELE BEERAEE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results AT B2 s S n B EB WS R E
by reportable segment. EDHT °

The year ended 31 December 2024 B E2024F12831HILFE

Onward Garden
New Science City
Times Cyberport Technology Technology and Trade Shopping
Plaza  Building  Building Building 2 Center Centre Total

M g
HERRE BEAR MEAE  AE-H  MERL REE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®BTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTn ARMTR

Rental income from office buildings 5718 &7 1)

and a shopping centre HEWA 94,199 49,018 65,907 56,689 121,711 80,375 467,899
Revenue from contracts with BEEERRERF

customers recognised over time A #7#Mias 17,457 6,378 5,421 7,300 - 24,904 61,460
Segment revenue AEE 111,656 55,396 71,328 63,989 121,711 105,279 529,359
Segment results PEEE (26,0700 33,629 60,346 38,701 31,926 (134,510) 4,022
Exchange losses EHEE (1,897)
Other income HipA 1,168
Manager's fee EEABH (17,422)
Trust and other expenses EEREMHES (9,175)
Finance cost BENA (130,751)
Loss before tax and Rt RBERESEN

distribution to unitholders B A2RNER (154,055)
Income taxes FriEH (24,295)
Loss for the year, before R REGENEBA

distribution to unitholders ~ 2RMENEE (178,350)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
The year ended 31 December 2023

4. WERDEHERE

DEELE EERAE(Z)
HE20235F12A31 B ILEE

New
Times ~ Cyberport
Plaza Building

EREE  HBAE
RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTT ARETR

Technology

RMB'000

Onward Garden

Science City
Technology ~ and Trade ~ Shopping
Building 2 Center Centre Total
B g

AR=ZH  MERL  EM it
RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTR ARETL ARETR

Rental income from office buildings  E 718 &7 1)

and a shopping centre LA 107,771 49,569 61,834 54064 116,315 51613 441,166
Revenue from contracts with BEEERNTaRF

customers recognised over time A 474 17,308 6,079 5,246 6,081 - 13,279 47,993
Segment revenue P 125,079 55,648 67,080 60,145 116,315 64,892 489,159
Segment results PEEE 6,429 48,114 72,279 24445 (44315)  (121439)  (14,487)
Exchange losses EHEE (1,194)
Other income HigA 2,020
Manager’s fee EEAEBH (15,515)
Trust and other expenses EREREMHS (11,789)
Finance costs RERA (136,188)
Loss before tax and RTRBERESEN

distribution to unitholders B A HIRMIEE (177,153)
Income taxes FiEH (12,236)
Loss for the year, before RTRESENREEA

distribution to unitholders ARBNERESR (189,389)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 2.
Segment profit represents the profit before tax earned by
each segment without allocation of exchange losses, certain
other income, other unallocated operating expenses and
other unallocated finance costs. This is the measure reported
to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

EHmDE 2 B RR A T2 AR AR E
HE SRR o 2 &P e & o) i
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WERDEER(E)

/=

(continued)
Segment assets and liabilities SHEEREE
As at 31 December 2024 A2024%F12831H
Onward Garden
New Science City
Times Cyberport Technology Technology and Trade Shopping
Plaza  Building  Building Building 2 Center Centre Total
R E
FRAES HBEAE  NEAE  AECH NERD TR b
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETrn AR%TR
Segment assets PHEE 2,139,589 1,163,548 1,069,791 1,182,814 2,816,351 1,534,799 9,906,892
Unallocated assets ROREE 174,343
Consolidated total assets GREEE 10,081,235
Segment liabilities NHEE 328,880 211,664 185390 217,643 132,686 268,934 1,345,197
Unallocated liabilties Fokak 4,178,510
Consolidated total liabilities LRfsf 5,523,707
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%F12H31H
Onward Garden
New Science City
Times  Cyberport  Technology Technology ~ and Trade  Shopping
Plaza Building Building  Building 2 Center Centre Total
B S
FRREE  HBAE  BRAE  KECH BB TEEH 5y
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
Segment assets PHEE 2,222,625 1,163,397 1,058,828 1,181,060 2,925,151 1,617,450 10,168,511
Unallocated assets ROREE 219,416
Consolidated total assets DABEE 10,387,927
Segment liabilities NHEE 358,487 214,591 189,986 220,873 163,156 259,398 1,406,491
Unallocated liabilities FARERE 4,100,852
Consolidated total liabilities LRfsf 5,507,343
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources, the Group’s assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segments are allocated on

Wit K o &P E R ()
THEERAEE)

RERDHBRRENEER  S2HD
RIEAREEEEN BB TIIEEDR
DHEEREMERENE W%  BE

the following basis. Segment assets include all investment LkEE - B EWRE IE&%:Fﬁ{’@JELIQM

properties, property, plant and equipment, trade receivables
and certain of other receivables, amounts due from related
companies, bank balances and cash managed directly by
the segments. Segment liabilities include all trade payables,
tax payable, amounts due to non-controlling interests and
certain of deferred tax liabilities, other payables, amounts
due to related companies and secured bank borrowings

TH - EREHARIRUE c DA EEEEN
IRITHMKIAD © “%Eﬁ&%%ﬁ?
FERIFRIA ~ FEAFRIE ﬁﬁ#?h%fﬁ
ﬁ&%?LLMEEE HAb R
FESREEE A A EM&“%E%E@ME
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm HmrEEERBE(R
FEATE M DIR)ADER °

are managed directly by the segments. Other corporate
assets and liabilities, including all distribution payable, are

unallocated.

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Hith 2RE
BE20245F12A31BLFE

New
Times
Plaza

HERRE
RMB'000
ARBTR

Addition to investment properties JRERE % 12,349

Decrease in fair value of REMENLLBERD
investment properties (107,349)
Depreciation I 22

il

Onward Garden
Science City

Cyberport Technology Technology and Trade Shopping
Building  Building  Building 2 Center Centre Total

BB Lk

BBAR MBEAE AR MERL REE fat
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR

104 - 258

116,508 129,219

(10,104) - (13,258) (72,0000  (190,508)  (393,219)

- - - 57 18 97
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All of the Group’s revenue is derived from activities and
customers located in Chinese Mainland and all of the Group’s
non-current assets are located in Chinese Mainland.

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue of
RMB85,135,000 (2023: RMB95,167,000) was derived from
the related companies which are group of companies under
China Merchants Group Limited (“CMG”).

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WRRDEHER(E)
(continued)
Other segment information (continued) HittppER(EZ)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 B E2023F 12 A1 HILFE
Onward Garden
New Science City
Times  Cyberport  Technology Technology — and Trade  Shopping
Plaza Building Building  Building 2 Center Centre Total
B S
FRREE  HBAE  BRAE  KECH BB TEE @zt
RMB'000  RVMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
Addition to investment properties JRERE Y% 7,523 - - 11 2,513 88,403 98,450
(Decrease)/increase in fair valug &é%%ﬁ@’&ﬁ BE
of investment properties 1) /510 (91,523) 3,000 15,000 (24011)  (148,513)  (148,403)  (394,450)
Depreciation %ﬁ% 23 - - - 58 42 123
Geographical information I E R

REBRFTA YR K B A o B A A
EBREP  MAKENMAFFRSDEE
BRI B A o

FHEFEEFHNER
HE2024F12A31 B ILFE - WS AREE
85,135,0007T(2023% : AR #95,167,000
) REREE AR ZE AR AERERE
EERAR([BERERDETH—HA
al o
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PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES 5. MEKERX
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARKETTT
Advertising and promotion BEERIEE 7,051 3,147
Agency fee REE 857 3,432
Property management expenses MEEEE 59,902 51,801
Operations manager’s fee LEEBEANER 28,020 23,808
Other taxes Hib A 48,238 49,967
Others HAith 1,569 1,774
145,637 133,929

OTHER NET INCOME 6. HU A F5E
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Interest income from bank deposits RERITFEREF LA 11,236 15,953
Compensation income (note) HEWA (K2 5,117 9,109
Others EHAb (310) 182
16,043 25,244

ISSe———

Note:

The amount represents compensation income arising from the tenants’

cancellation of rental contracts in relation to breach of the contract terms by

such tenants.

Biet -

ZeREAMARERANOERMEBUEEER LATE
EREREIRA
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MANAGER’S FEE

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Manager is entitled to receive
10% per annum of the base fee distributable income for the
year ended 31 December 2024 as remuneration. Base fee
distributable income is the amount of the total distributable
income calculated before accounting for the Manager’s fee
payable for the year.

7.

EEAEH

RIFEFEIRA) B E2024F12 A31H IEF
B EEAGRSFREERNERHES
IRIRABI10%1E AN E - EARBRAIHS
IR BFFAFAENEIEABRATE
KR]3R B3R o

Manager’s fee: EEAEH :

In the form of cash AR % S 15

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETIT
17,422 15,515

The Manager may elect at its sole discretion to receive the
Manager’s fee in the form of cash or entirely or partly in the
form of units. If no election is made, the most recent valid
election made by the Manager in a prior calendar year (if any)
shall apply and, if there is no such prior calendar year election
by the Manager, the Manager’s fee shall be paid in cash.
Since there is no prior calendar year election by the Manager,
the Manager’s fee is 100% in the form of cash for the both
years.

BEAAZEBHRBEEEEARE SR
FEEHE AR BT ARIEEA
ER - INELIEE - AIEBARNBER
FB)EENEORBAREZ/ER -
MEEEARBEEFL BEFELGRE
B AEEAZRBAREM - ARE
BARBERFYEELERE  RMEF
EEBEAERKEBAR AN -
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FINANCE COSTS 8. BEEMAS

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT

Interest expense on bank borrowings RITEFRAIF EHZ 131,846 137,163

LOSS BEFORE TAX AND DISTRIBUTIONTO 9. KR RBERESBEMEE A

UNITHOLDERS DIRHEE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFT
Loss before tax and distribution to RETRBIBERASEMFEA
unitholders has been arrived at IR ESE TR T 51 =218
after charging: 1BEER
Auditors’ remuneration RN & 1,330 1,830
Depreciation e 97 123
Trustee’s remuneration SEEAEEA 1,968 1,849
Principal valuer’s fee BAILERE A 550 170
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 10. Fr{SHiBA %
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARKEFT
Current tax BRERTSIE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) PRI ZEFTS R
([EEmREH )
- Current year —ARFE 71,425 65,873
— Under/(over) provision in respect —BAFERETRS
of prior years (FRRERE) 203 (7,715)
Withholding tax TEFIR
- Current year —ARFE 12,690 16,672
84,318 74,830
Deferred tax (note 17) EIERIB(AY3E17) (60,023) (62,594)
24,295 12,236
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided as A 7N £ (B A R & 4 2 A2 &8 I 4 (- {a]
the Group has no estimated assessable profits in Hong Kong SHERRUSEA - R E BB EREL
in both years. B -
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin BERBELHE([XEELZEE |)E
Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income tax in B0 » REFBHBEHN TN EBREK
the BVI. BEMEH -
Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise BEPEARIMECEMERIA([HE
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation FREHE ) RO ERERES A -
of the EIT Law, the statutory income tax rate of the Chinese B A B A BN AR E B KB EERE
Mainland subsidiaries is 25% for the current year and prior T8 & A25% °
years.
The PRC EIT Law requires withholding tax to be levied on PP EMEFERETRANBERE RS
distribution of profits earned by Chinese Mainland entities for BERDENEERBRELHE M
profits generated after 1 January 2008 at rate of 5% for Hong NP ERERBFMEIETNFTEREE
Kong resident companies, or at rate of 10% for companies ROEREENLE(AREURENE R
incorporated in the BVI or Hong Kong that do not fulfil the B A)FE20084E1 A1 H 1% FrE A B % K3
requirement as a Hong Kong resident company, which are TP IRBFZBEANTEFIEL © TR D B E5% %
the beneficial owners of the dividend received. The Chinese 10% - RAFEENBAEFE - AEBRH
Mainland entities of the Group are subject to a withholding tax A B B A R R A10%R T HFT o

at the rate of 10% for the current year and prior year.

Details of the deferred tax are set out in note 17. EIER IS S A7 o
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax and distribution to unitholders as follows:

10. FRGHiBA ()

AEEREHRASERGFERARESE
LA AD KRB IREERINT

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETTT
Loss before tax and distribution to Ret RBELRESBEAIFEA
unitholders papi:o] Sti=! (154,055) (177,183)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate BN FTE R R25% 5T & FTHIE
of 25% (38,514) (44,288)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries [t BRI E b R EE R & &Y
operating in other jurisdictions TRBE z o2& 383 558
Tax effect of income not taxable for BEERIE 2 MARBRAZ
tax purpose Db 2 = (619)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for — FhEtEFIEZ A ZFHZ 2
tax purpose B8 41,892 43,041
Withholding tax TR 20,331 21,131
Under/(over) provision in respect of BRFERETE (BEEE)
prior years 203 (7,715)
Others EAtb = 128
Income tax expense for the year FRPISHFAX 24,295 12,236

11. BASIC LOSS PER UNIT BEFORE
DISTRIBUTION TO UNITHOLDERS

The calculation of the basic loss per unit before distribution
to unitholders is based on the loss for the year, before
distribution to unitholders attributable to unitholders of
RMB189,995,000 (2023: RMB172,317,000) and the number
of units of 1,127,819,549 (2023: 1,127,819,549) in issue
during the year.

1. RS RESEMEEA DK
SESENEAFR

R RESEURBEADKHNEBESE
UEAEEDNREESEUFEAR
ARG ERESEUFEADKNER
B 18 A R # 189,995,000 JT ( 2023 4
AR #172,317,0007T) R FAE ZE1TH
1,127,819,5491# (20234 : 1,127,819,549
&) BELBAaTE -
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

12. REY

FAIR VALUE AV

At the beginning of the year F47

Additions during the year FRRE

Fair value changes on investment KREMEN AR BEE
properties

At the end of the year FR

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMET T ARETIT
9,251,000 9,547,000
129,219 98,450
(393,219) (394,450)
8,987,000 9,251,000

The Group’s office buildings and a shopping centre are
investment properties which are located in Shenzhen and
Beijing, Chinese Mainland and are measured using the fair
value model.

Investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023 by Knight Frank Petty Limited (the
“Valuer”), an independent and professionally qualified valuer.
The Valuer has appropriate professional qualifications and
experience in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant
locations.

The Valuer adopted income approach — income capitalisation
method to arrive the valuation of investment properties as at
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

The income capitalisation method adopted by the Valuer has
taken into account the net rental income of a property derived
from its existing leases and/or achievable in the existing
market with due allowance for the reversionary income
potential of the leases, which has been then capitalised to
determine the fair value at an appropriate capitalisation rate.

There were no transfer into or out of Level 3 during the year.

AREORTERBH L RRENE -
R AR (RIIRILR) - LARSE
BRI -

B %A 2024412 A 31 B 2023412
A31BmE kEESBRGERMFA
EMITARAR ([{HEM ) ETER - (&
B A R 2 S B T E
ZEBBEEER NS -

2024912 531 H K&2023%12 8318 -
HEMEFEARAE — W B AR AEE
TEMEME o

fREMRANESEEAMMOEAEF RARE
BAFMER K, ZRRAETSFARGFZ
MEBESWAFRE - TEHBEZEREW
NEAELEERE - B/ZAS AT
BMEAEERNEEREREUABEERAA(E
8o

REEAWEEEAREHE =R
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

“EOMEFR | BEREERTES

B H5 R M ot

12. REWX (&

IAAREETTIIR)

TREHRINAEEZSRENENLAE
BCLE R A e A ERM R ARUR)
AR ARREBEAABEFENRAR
BRRBREEEAABEFELETIR
MARBESR(E-BRHIEE=HH)

Investment properties held by

' . . 2024
the Group in the consolidated Fair value 20U
statement of financial position hierarchy RMB'000
REERGRMBINREE  DAER
MRENE £h AR®TT
Property 1 - Garden City Shopping  Level 3 1,486,000

Centre
VEIRR] =15 1,486,000

203 Relationship of
o003 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
RVBI0op and key input(s Significant to fair value
R R unobservable input(s (GEECI
ARETT BARE EXTABEEARE RABENEE
1,560,000  Income capitalisation
method
1560000 Wm&AAE
The key inputs are
Bg ) \aEA
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
generated by market average selling the lower the fair value.
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions and locations of the
shopping centre of 5.00% (2023 6.00%)
(1) FRERE EHORR(GHRAANFNTATIE FHOREEE  ArB

(2) Reversionary yield

(3) Monthly term rental

(QAES

ERmATIRSEENORE YA
B RBEDR LR R ) B5.00%
(2023% : 6.00%) °

Reversionary yield, taking into account of
yield generated by market average selling
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 5.50% (2023: 6.50%).

EEDRE (G RILBNENTZTHE
ERTETHREEFNORETERE
NRBREARESEBNER)K5.50%
(2023 : 6.50%) °

RMB48-2,663/sq.m./month
(2023 RMB42-1,343/sq,m./month)

NRH48Z2,663T/ T %/ B
(20235 : \RB4251,34370/
Thk/R)

e -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

EERREER DB
e -
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. REWHE(E
Investment properties held by 2004 2023 Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated Fair value 20U o0 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position hierarchy Ol RVBI000 and key input(s) Significant to fair value
AEERGRMBIIRRE  DABE AR R unobservable input(s) ABEGAIBE
HRENE £h ARETT NSy EXTABEEARS M EENEE

(4) Reversionary rental Reversionary rental is derived from the The higher the
average of the rental as stated inthe new  reversionary rental, the
rental agreements (note a) and market higher the fair value.
average rental from comparable properties
and adjustments to reflect the conditions
and locations of the shopping centre of
RMB333/s9.m./month (2023 RMB360/
sg.m./month.
() EEf2 BERe(REFRERA (M) MINT EBReHs AAEE
UReRmtanENTA TR TE MR-
AR RBBNRORARSH) BAR
13337/ T AR/ B(203% - \RHE

307/ FAn/A) o
Property 2 - Technology Building ~ Level 3 942,000 942,000 Income capitalisation
method
nE-BEAE E=RH 942,000 942,000 WEEMILE
The key inputs are
BREAZER
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
generated by market average selling the lower the fair value.

price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions and locations of the
office buildings, of 4.50% (2023: 4.50%).

(1) FHEHE EHDRE(EHRILINENTZTY  FHDREER  DAR
ERRMATOREELNERELE (B -
FRHRBETENN Rt ) Re.50%

(2003 : 450%) °

(2) Reversionary yield Reversionary yield, taking into accountof ~ The higher the
yield generated by market average seling  reversionary yield, the
price and the market average rental from — lower the fair value.
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 5.00% (2023: 5.00%).

() EREHE EEOREZ(EIRILBNEANTRTIE RELHRZER  DAE
ERTETIESEENOREISRE  EHE-
DRMEATE S BB ER) 25.00%

(2023 :5.00%) °
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

“EOMEFR | BEREERTES

12. REWX (&

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position
AEBRGRMBINREA
HRENE

2024
Fair value 20U
hierarchy RMB'000
DiEE
e AEETR

Property 3 - Technology Building 2 - Level 3

ME-HRARH

1,076,000

E=H5 1,076,000

A
N

B H5 R M ot

IAAREETTIIR)

203 Relationship of
o003 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
RVBI000 and key input(s) Significant to falr value
R R B unobsenvable input(s ABEE B
ARETT BABE EXTABEEARE RABENEE
(3) Monthly term rental RMB116-166/sq.m./month -
(2023: RVB87-156/s0.m./month)
() Al ARB116Z 1667/ T Ak /(20235 -
AREg721567L/F A%/ B)
(4) Reversionary rental Reversionary rental is derived from the The higher the
average of the rental as stated inthe new  reversionary rental, the
rental agreements (note a) and market higher the fair value.
average rental from comparable properties
and adjustments to reflect the conditions
and locations of the office buildings of
RMB129/s9.m./month (2023 RMB127/
sg.m./month).
() EEf2 gEEe(RaFEERE (Mt MY RHESER DARE
BRERABMENTATIRSY MR-
BREIRBETERR LR AAR
B2/ Thk/ B(20085 : \R%
121/ Fhk/R) °
1,089,000  Income capitalisation
method
1,089,000 YEAALE
The key inputs are
BREAUEA
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
generated by market average seling the lower the fair value.
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions and locations of the
office buildings, of 4.50% (2023: 4.50%).
(1) FEERE EHDRE(EIRILBNENTETY  FHOREER  DAE

EERTETRAELHER R
FRNRMETFERRIE) B4.50%
(20035 = 4.50%) °

g -
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. REWHE(E
Investment properties held by 2004 2023 Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated Fair value 20U 2023 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position hierarchy Ol RVBI000 and key input(s) Significant to fair value
AEERGRMBIIRRE  DABE AR R unobservable input(s) ABEGAIBE
HRENE £h ARETT NSy EXTABEEARS M EENEE

(2) Reversionary yield Reversionary yield, taking into accountof ~ The higher the
yield generated by market average selling ~ reversionary yield, the
price and the market average rental from — lower the fair value.
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 5,00% (2023: 5.00%).

[ EHOHE EEDRE(EHRILBNENTZTHE REOREMER DAE
BROATOHCELOERETARE  (EHE.
NRBERRA2EBOER)R5.00%

(20235 : 5.00%) °

(3) Monthly term rental RMB83-332/sq.m./month -
(2023: RMB84-325/s0.m./month)

(3AES NRH83Z3327L/ Tk /B (20235 -
ARB84Z3057/Th%/R)

(4) Reversionary rental Reversionary rental is derived from the The higher the
average of the rental as stated inthe new  reversionary rental, the
rental agreements (note ) and market higher the fair value.

average rental from comparable properties
and adjustments to reflect the conditions
and locations of the office buildings of
RMB129/sq.m/month (2023: RMB129/
sg.m./month).

(¢ G5 EERe(REMEERR(MT)MilNT BBELHR ArEE
BRERA BN TIRSY MR-
BRENRBRETERR R RAR
1201/ Thk/ B20035 : \R%

1201/ Fh%/B) -
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. REWHE(E
Investment properties held by 2004 203 Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated Fair value 20U 2023 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position hierarchy SO RIBI000 and key input(s) Significant to fair value
REERGRMBINRRE  DABR AR R unobservable input(s) AEREAZER
MRENE £h ARETT NSNS EXTABEEARE MEBENEE
Property 4 - Cyberport Building ~ Level 3 1,066,000 1,076,000 Income capitalisation
method

nE4-FEAE F=RA 1,086,000 1076000 WiEEME

The key inputs are

Bg\EEA

(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,

generated by market average selling the lower the fair value.

price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions of the office buildings
and locations of 4.50% (2023: 4.50%).

(1) FEEHE EHDRE(EHRILENENTETY  FHORLES  DAE
EERMATHREEENEREDE (B -

R RBETRMNRILE) B4.50%
(20235 : 4.50%) °

(2) Reversionary yield Reversionary yield, taking into account of  The higher the
yield generated by market average seling ~ reversionary yield, the
price and the market average rental from  lower the fair value.
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 5.00% (2023: 5.00%).

() EREHE EEORE(EIRILBNENTETIE REORZES RAE
ERmATREEENDRETEEE  HHE-
NRBREAKESEBNER)B5.00%

(20235 + 5.00%) °

(3) Monthly term rental RMBB0-437/sq.m./month -

(2023: RMB84-400/s0.m./month)

(3 B4 NRHB0Z4377L/F K / (20235 -
AREBAZA00T/ T/ B)
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

12. REWX (&

Investment properties held by

2024

the Group in the consolidated Fair value 20U
statement of financial position hierarchy RMB!000
AEERGRMBIIRRE  DABE

HRENE £h ARBTT
Property 5 - New Times Plaza Level 3 1,905,000
Mxo-HERER =00 1,905,000

2003 Relationship of
o003 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
RVBI000 and key input(s) Significant to falr value
EERTRER unobservable input(s ABRE A S ES
ARETT BABE EXTABEEARS M EENEE
(4) Reversionary rental Reversionary rental is derived from the The higher the
average of the rental as stated inthe new  reversionary rental, the
rental agreements (note a) and market higher the fair value.

WEsES

2,000,000  Income capitalisation
method
2000000 YmERLE
The key inputs are
BREAZER
(1) Term yield

(1) EHERE

average rental from comparable properties
and adjustments to reflect the conditions
and locations of the office buildings of
RMB129/sq.m./month (2023: RMB1268/
sq.m./month).

EEES(REFRERA (W) iINT ERESER DABE

BRERILINFNTETIREY #ae
BREIRBETERR LR AAR
81201/ Thk/ B20035 : \R%
12870/ Fhk/R) e
Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,

generated by market average seling the lower the fair value.
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions of the office buildings
and locations of 3.50% (2023: 3.75%).
EHDRE(EIRILBNENTETY  FHDREER  DAR
ERRMATOREELNERELE R
ARNRREFEINRIH) 53.50%
(2023 : 3.75%) °
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. REWHE(E
Investment properties held by 2004 203 Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated Fair value 20U o003 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
statement of financial position hierarchy ol RVB000 and key input(s) Significant to fair value
REERGRMBINRRE  DABR AR R unobservable input(s) ABES\IBE
HRENE £h ARETT NSNS EXTABEEARE RABENEE

(2) Reversionary yield Reversionary yield, taking into account of ~ The higher the
yield generated by market average selling ~ reversionary yield, the
price and the market average rental from — lower the fair value.
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 4.00% (2023: 4.25%).

() EREEE EEDRE(EHRILINENTRTHE REOREER DAE
ERmSTIRSEENDRETLEE  HHE-
NRBERRA2EBNER)A4.00%

(2023% : 4.25%) °
(3) Monthly term rental RMB30-398/sq.m./month -
(2023: RMB102-376/s0.m./month)
(3 Al ARB0Z308T/ THA/ B(20235 :
AEB10223767/F A%/ B)

(4) Reversionary rental Reversionary rental is derived from the The higher the
average of the rental as stated inthe new  reversionary rental, the
rental agreements (note a) and market higher the fair value.
average rental from comparable properties
and adjustments to reflect the conditions
and locations of the office buildings of
RMB169/s9.m./month (2023 RMB174/
sq.m./month).

WEsES EERs(RaFRERE (MY EEHSHR DAEE
YRS RUEENENTE TR =g
BRI RBEETRRARME) BAR
B1607/F %/ B(2023% : ARE
14/ %5k /8)
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

12. IREWE (B

Investment properties held by

the Group in the consolidated Fair value

statement of financial position hierarchy

AEERGRMBIIRRE  DABE

Property 6 - Onward Science And ~ Level 3
Trade Center

nxR6-AEBHERIPD =47

2024
20245

RMB'000
ARRTR
2,512,000

2,512,000

2023 Relationship of
o003 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
RVBI000 and key input(s) Significant to falr value
AR R unobservable input(s) AEREAGEE
ARETT BABE EXTUERGANE M EENEE
2,584,000 Income capitalisation
method
2564000 WHEEA{LE
The key inputs are
BREALEA
(1) Term yield Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield,
generated by market average selling the lower the fair value.
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions of the office buildings
and locations of 3.50% (2023: 3.75%).
(1) FHEHE EHORR(FHRAANFNTATY  FHOREEE - AAB

(2) Reversionary yield

() EEDRE

EERmE TR NERETE
R RBE TR RS B350%

(20235 : 3.75%) °

Reversionary yield, taking into account of
yield generated by market average selling
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental, of 4.00% (2023: 4.25%).

BEERE(m R BEOTETYE

ERTETHREENORETAEE
HRBEARESEBOER)B4.00%

(20032 - 4.25%) °

B -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

EEIERRES 4B
B -
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

IAAREETTIIR)

12. REWX (&

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position
AEBRGRMBINREA
HRENE

2024
Fair value 202
hierarchy RMB'000
DiEE
EH] AEETR

2003 Relationship of
o003 Valuation technique unobservable inputs
RVBI0op and key input(s Significant to fair value
BRI R unobservable input(s) AIBEGAHER
ARBT 8AHE EXTABEEARE MAEENERE
(3) Monthly term rental RMB38-595/s.m./month -
(2023 RMB70-331/s0.m./month)
(3 Al ARBBEE6T/ THR/ B(20235 :
ARE023317L/FA%/ B)
(4) Reversionary rental Reversionary rental is derived from the The higher the
average of the rental as stated inthe new  reversionary rental, the
rental agreements (note a) and market higher the fair value.

[ E5Ee

average rental from comparable properties
and adjustments to reflect the conditions
and locations of the office buildings of
RMB201/sq.m./month (2023 RMB393/
sq.m./month).

EERe(RENRERZ (M) AANT RHEESHS LrEE
e RALENENTE TR REE
BRENRBEFERA %) BAR
B0/ Fh%/ B (20035 - ARE
3087/ Thk/B) o

Note a:

New rental agreements represent tenancy agreements, including renewal
agreements, which are to be signed or negotiated after the end of the year.

Hita :

AR EREE AR TR RN EE RN
THEWE -
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13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, AND 13. BEG R EHAMEWFIE - RFA(T

PREPAYMENTS FIE
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETIT
Trade receivables B S EWGIR 2,405 3,113
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEERRE (932) (1,614)
1,473 1,499
Other receivables and prepayments H b el T8 A I8 4,704 4,692

Total trade and other receivables, B 5 R EMEWEIE - TBRFRIE

and prepayments kL] 6,177 6,191

Less: prepayments for construction works & : JEREVAETE FT MRS

shown under non-current assets TEFEREIE = (4,070)
6,177 2,121
Trade receivables represent lease receivables. Lease Z S RWGIEEHERWIE - BTIER
receivables under rental of office buildings and shopping By OHEENTHEERKFIE—RAETE
centre are generally required to be settled by tenants within 30 REENBI0BANBBEFLE °

days upon issuance of demand note.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of AT AIREBEWESERBEIZYMNE S EW
allowance for credit losses, presented based on the date of FIE (IR E EEEEE) MERA D AT

revenue recognition:

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARETIT

Within 1 month 1EABR 644 464
More than 1 month but within 3 months HBiE1E A ERIEAR 642 792
Over 3 months HBiE3E A 187 243
1,473 1,499
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14. TIME DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balance comprises cash and short-term bank
deposits, with original maturity date less than three months
and carry variable interest rates ranged from 0.10% to 1.15%
per annum as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 0.20% to 1.90%
per annum).

Time deposits as at 31 December 2024 carry fixed interest
rates of 0.15% to 2.75% (2023: 2.20%). The deposits
of RMB51,000,000 (2023: nil) were pledged to the bank
to secure bank borrowings. The remaining balance of
RMB50,072,000 was pledged as security for a bank loan
of the Group prior to the reporting year. The Group is in the
process of releasing the pledge following the settlement of the
loan.

Analysis of cash and bank balance and time deposits
denominated in currency other than the functional currency of
the entities of the Group which they relate:

14. ERER RERREEEY

R2024F 12 431 B HIRE MIRTTHARE
ER e MEHRITER 2S5 FRNRE
BETRE=@A RIZENF010%ZE1.15%
(20234F : 0.20% %= 1.90% ) HY ;% B) & 7| &
AT e

202412 831 H HE 877 20 A B iE F| =R
0.15%%2.75%=1/5. (20234 : 2.20%) ° 17
KA R #51,000,0007T (20234F : ) JyiK
FFIRIT - AAIRITERIEERR - 8 T4
& AR #50,072,000T AR EFE ZRIE
BEHEAREBRITERZER - 256H
EEBEEEMRERER -

UAREE BB GRS ERETHED
MRS MRITHEERIA R SEHIF R DA -

Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”)
United States dollars (“USD”)

B([Bx])
E(EV R

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETIT
3,675 11,102
2,695 2,641
6,370 13,743

As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents situated
in Chinese Mainland amounted to RMB980,237,000 (2023:
RMB1,065,268,000). Remittance of funds out of Chinese
Mainland is subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control.

R2024%F12 A31H » (AR BERH AR
e RIB2EEYW A ARE980,237,0007T
(20234 : AR ¥1,065,268,0007T) ° #
& < VE T HP B A b 7B 3 ST NG B 1 A A
RESE -
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15.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 5. B5 R EAMENTRIEA
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARKEFT
Trade payables B S ENF0R - 5,815
Other taxes payables H A EiIE 919 922
Rental received in advance FElES 6,289 14,549
Receipts on behalf of tenants (note) RERBPUER(HTE) 8,671 11,112
Rental deposits received from tenants HEPWRNHESIZS 85,391 75,775
Payables for renovation and decoration BIGER Y i) AN/ 61,718 -
Accruals and other payables FERHE AR R H A ERFRIE 25,948 19,645
Dividend payable to a shareholder of BN —RENB A RRENE
a subsidiary - 21,367
188,936 149,085
Less: rental deposits received from tenants 3 : FERBIEEIE FFT/REMAE
shown under non-current liabilities PUREINESES - (7,087)
188,936 141,998
ISSS——
Note: Bt

The Group collected the turnover of tenants, which operate food and beverage
business in a shopping centre, on behalf of them and is obligated to remit to
them every half month.

The credit period granted by suppliers to the Group ranges from 30 to 90 days.
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based on the
invoice date at the end of each reporting period:

AEERZEF IR By T L2 ER M MR ES
HEMERE - WASHEARBFER

BB A SR K0 (5 BB FB0E00R © Tl
Bt 2 WAARSE A 252 B HE SRR
BAY

Within 1 month 1EAR
Over 3 months Bim3E A

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTFT
- 508

- 5,307

- 5,815
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16. SECURED BANK BORROWING

16. BIKHIRITER

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T ARETIT

Current e 1,710,055 -
Non-current IERED 2,376,058 4,053,724
4,086,113 4,053,724

The maturity of the secured bank borrowings are as follows:

BEMBITERNDHABOT

2024 2023

20244 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T R ARETT

Within a period of one year —FHA 1,710,055 -
Within a period of more than one year but i —F B FEAA

not exceeding two years 2,376,058 1,710,055
Within a period of more than two years but iBREENRTELR

not exceeding five years - 2,343,669

4,086,113 4,053,724

As at 31 December 2024, the secured banking borrowings
bear interest at rates ranging from 2.65% to 4.75% per annum
(2023: 2.93% to 3.55% per annum).

Certain loan agreements of the Group include a covenant
that requires the total debts of the Group over the net assets
attributable to unitholders plus non-controlling interest of the
Group to be less than a required ratio. As at 31 December
2024 and 2023, none of the covenants had been reached.

Bank borrowings of RMB4,007,600,000 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: RMB4,017,200,000) were secured by the
shareholdings of certain subsidiaries.

2024512 A31 8 - HIEMARITEIRE
FZ2.65E 24,758 (20234 : 37 F F K
2.93[EE3.55E )R ©

AEBEETERBZBEIE—IBRE  EK
AEBEMEBRRERNSENES B
A AEGEEFEMIEIERESA L REK
PRI TE LR o 7A20244F 22023412 A 31
B - BEAEER RIS -

R2024F 12 A31H @ RITERAR
#& 4,007,600,000 7T (2023 &F : A R #&
4,017,200,0007T ) A& T KT 8 A 5 2 A%
{EHEIR o
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16. SECURED BANK BORROWING (continued)

17.

Bank borrowings of RMB4,037,663,000 (2023:
RMB4,053,724,000) were secured by investment properties
with an aggregate carrying value of RMB6,475,000,000 as
at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB6,667,000,000) together
with the assignments of sales proceeds, insurance proceeds,
rental income, revenue and all other income generated from
these properties have been pledged to the bank.

Bank borrowings of RMB48,450,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil) were secured by time deposits.

In January 2025, the Group entered into a 5-year facility
agreement with certain bank amounted to RMB4,008 million.
The facility has been fully drawn to repay certain loans of the
Group as at 31 December 2024.

DEFERRED TAX

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, the deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the major deferred tax
liabilities (asset) recognised and movements thereon during
the reporting period:

16. BIRMRITER(E)

MN2024F 12 A31 B @ BITHEK
¥ 4,037,663,000 7T (2023 &£ : A
4,053,724,000 7t ) LA BR E 42 B &
# 6,475,000,000 T ( 2023 F : A R #&
6,667,000,0007T ) K% & W EIEE A - &
FHERMSIE - REEER - HEBA R
EMEEEANBSI LA EMRA 28
RO FIRIT 0

AR
R %
AR

M2024F12 A31H ' RITERARKE
48,450,000 (20234 : ) LA ERTE 1
A o

R2025F1 A+ AEBEE TIRITRI VA
HI54F - £ R A ARK4,008E BTHRE
s o 20245128318 » ZBpEE e
EIREUABEREBETER

17, IEFER IR

SRR A M BARKR 25N E - BLEHIA
BERBBCDEEHE - LT ARKREHE
ROETEREHARE(BE) LA

Withholding
tax on
retained Change in
eaningsto  Provisionfor ~ fair value of
Depreciation  be distributed expected investment
and others (Note)  credit losses properties Total
BToE
ol
ORIt BHEE RENE
RERKM (Hiit) BRERE QAEEE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT  AREBTT ARETR ARETT ARETn
At 1 January 2023 120235 1A1H 249,768 16,724 (1,288) 844,661 1,109,865
Charged/(credit) to profit or loss BRENIR/GIA) 30,939 21,131 621 (98,613) (45,922)
Release upon distrioution of eamings M7 REFIF - (16,672) - - (16,672)
At 31 December 2023 120235124318 280,707 21,183 (667) 746,048 1,047,271
Charged/(credit) to profit or loss BRENIR/GIA) 30,704 20,331 (65) (98,308) (47,333)
Release upon distriution of eamings M7 REFIF ik - (12,690) - - (12,690)
At 31 December 2024 2024 12A318 311,411 28,824 (732) 647,745 987,248

Note: Deferred tax is provided in full in respect of the undistributed earnings as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Bifat : 20244 2023512 A31H * iA D EEAF 2
HEHRBEER AR -
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18. ISSUED UNITS

18. BER1TEEE{

Issued and fully paid BEITRETE
At the beginning of year and

at the end of year

REFRREFR

Number of
units RMB’000
ESBENEE AREFTT
1,127,819,549 3,095,965

19. NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT
ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS

The net asset value per unit is calculated by dividing the net
assets attributable to unitholders as at 31 December 2024
of RMB3,095,965,000 (2023: RMB3,391,925,000) by the
number of units in issue of 1,127,819,549 units as at 31
December 2024 (2023: 1,127,819,549).

20. NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s net current liabilities,
calculated as current assets less current liabilities, amounted
to RMB1,066,545,000 (2023: net current assets of
RMB732,985,000).

21. TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s total assets less
current liabilities amounted to RMB7,920,834,000 (2023:
RMB9,988,666,000).

10. 2BV SEEARGEBESE
NHEEFE
BESEMNEEFENIENR20245F12
ASIRESBUBEAREEEFEA
X #3,095,965,000 7T (2023 F : A K #&
3,391,925,000 7T ) Bk LA 722024 £ 12 A 31
H B 217 891,127,819,549 f ( 2023 £F :
1,127,819,6498 ) K& BT E -

20. REN(EE) EEFH
R2024F 12318 » AEER R EEF
HRRBEERTDAGTE) BARE
1,066,545,0007T (20234F : &&= %58
AR #E732,985,0007T) °

21. EEREBERARSERE
R2024F 12 A31H * NEBREERER

mENAE A ARKET7,920,834,0007T (2023
£ 1 AR#09,988,666,0007T) °
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22. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES AND 2. MEITHEEANEEREBEE

RELATED ASSETS ARISING FROM ENEER
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Amounts Amounts Amounts
due from dueto  due to non- Interest
related related  controlling payable
companies  companies interests Secured (included
(non-trade  (non-trade  (non-trade  Distribution bank in other
nature) nature) nature) payable  borrowings payables)
FEf
El Eff  #ERER ERRIE
BHARGE BRARNE 8 (GtARA
(FEZHE) (FEAKE) (FEHME) Effak BERBOER  EARE) gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT  ARMTz ARMTr ARz ARMTr ARETz ARETx
At T January 2023 R2023F1A18 67,407 (120509 (1,125586)  (130040)  (4,052,639) (11,858  (5,873218)
Financing cash in BEREHEA (66,948 - (1,521) - (2563229) - (2631,69)
Financing cash out BERERH - 11 - 181,952 2,562,139 144,530 2,888,632
Distribution declared EERAK - - - (04,647) - - (04,647)
Interest expenses ST - - - - - (137,163 (137,163
Exchange difference EREE (459) - 707 2,808) - - (2,558)
Capitalisation of amounts ~ TETIEIRER AN
due to a non-controlling ER
interest - - 1,138,719 - - - 1,138,719
Refund of overpayment of ~ BFEERERRESN
consideration for acquisition ~ YEMBAAIAE
of subsidiaries from
non-controling interests - - (13,840) - - - (13,840)
At 31 December 2023 202312318 - (120,491) (1,521) (45541)  (4,063,724) (4491)  (4,225,768)
Financing cash in BERLEA = = = = (48,450) = (48,450)
Financing cash out BERERT - 491 1,521 108,137 16,061 131,087 257,297
Mandatory distribution e St
proposed = = = (111,186) = = (111,186)
Interest expenses MERR - - - - - (131,846) (131,846)
Exchange difference EAEE - - - (578) - - (578)
At 31 December 2024 2024512318 - (120,000) - (49,168)  (4,086,113) (5,250)  (4,260,531)
23. CAPITAL COMMITMENT 23. BEANEIE
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARKETT
Capital expenditure in respect of the DETAE M RN GR A SRR
improvement works of investment WNEHEB R EME S E
properties contracted for but not provided THEaYE AR
in the consolidated financial statements 4,604 76,286
ISSS——
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
entered into the following transactions with connected and

related parties:

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) | (BB AEIN

X5

IAAREETTIIR)

24. BEATRBEH RS

H E 2024 F 202312 A31 B IEFE
A - AN B RS A £ N REEE S 1T A

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Name of connected/related party BEALT B S BB RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% TR ARETT
Rental income A
The immediate holding company and BEEERARIREWB AR
its subsidiaries (the “CMSK Group”), BIEOKEHE]) AECEREE
joint venture and associates NS 51,486 40,133
The ultimate holding company and SRR R R EWB AR (18
its subsidiaries (the “CM Group”), BREE ) REBERRNREE
and its associates and joint ventures TEBERRENEE)
(excluding the CMSK Group) 23,952 44,617
75,438 84,750
Carpark income FEZIPA
The CMSK Group and its associates and i AEE R HBE AT RE
joint ventures mNE 149 68
Building management fee income BFEEEKRA
The CMSK Group and its associates and  #BEgie O &= E R HEBEEA N E RE
joint ventures BEE 5,733 4,055
The CMG and its associates and joint HEREEREBREARIRE &
ventures (excluding the CMSK Group) GCETEEREROEE) 3,373 5,725
9,106 9,780
Other revenue A A
The CMSK Group and its associates and @ AEEMHBE AT LA
joint ventures B 442 569
Manager’s fee EHEANEH
The Manager BIEA 17,422 15,515
Trustee’s remuneration KEEAF B
The Trustee ZEEA 1,968 1,849
Property management expense YMEEHE
The CMSK Group and its associates and RO EB LKEBE NI LA
joint ventures EIE 59,847 51,801
Operations manager’s fee 2EEHEAEH
The CMSK Group and its associates and B AEE K HBA AT RS
joint ventures B 28,020 23,808
Other expense HEiFs
The CMSK Group and its associates and Rt AEBE LK EBE N R LKA
joint ventures B 87 250
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24,

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

24. BEATRBEH ARG ()

2024 2023
20244 20234
Name of connected/related party BIEAL B BB Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaF AR¥ T ARBETIT
Amounts due from JEYWLA T AL50E
Trade nature =
The CMSK Group and its associates  BEg# O &£ E [ &N T
and joint ventures REEDE @ = 1,042
Amounts due to JETLA T AL50E
Trade nature =
The CMSK Group and its associates AR O EE R EBE AT
and joint ventures R&E&hE @)&(e) 26,465 25,088
The CMG and its associates and HrEREEREBENT X
joint ventures (excluding the aetE(TBEEREE
CMSK Group) O%E) @) 162 -
Non-trade nature IFEZIE
The CMSK Group and its associates AR O &= E & 4N T
and joint ventures REERE (b) 120,503 120,491
147,130 145,579
Rental deposits placed with the BHEAREEYER A EE
Group for the lease of the FHREESIEES
Group’s properties
The CMSK Group and its associates AR O EE R EBE AT
and joint ventures REeEhE ) 8,495 5,980
The CMG and its associates and HrEREEREBE N X
joint ventures (excluding the AELE(TEERREE
CMSK Group) n&EE) (o) 162 -
8,657 5,980
Amounts due to JEF L TA L3505
Trade nature 25148
Non-Controlling Interests FEEARE S (@] 18,506 18,233
Non-trade nature IEE S ML
Non-Controlling Interests Eealib g £ b) 242 1,521
18,748 19,754
I
Notes: HiaF -
(@)  The Group’s non-trade amounts due from/to related companies are @ AEEmMEYRTEMEHARIEE S HEERE
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand or within one year. REER - RERERERIN—FAEE -
(b)  The amounts due to related companies are deposits placed with the (o) ENEEHMARREARAERNEEMENNE

Group for the lease of the Group’s properties.

BEROZESE

(c)  The trade amounts due to related company represent expenses paid on (©) FENBEM AT ESFEIIREAER L2
behalf of the Group. Yo
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to unitholders through the optimisation of the debt and net
assets attributable to unitholders. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged throughout the current year and prior
period.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which includes secured bank borrowings and amounts due
to related companies with non-trade nature, net of cash
and cash equivalents, and net assets attributable to the
unitholders of the Group, comprising issued units, other
reserve and profits less distribution.

The Manager reviews the capital structure regularly. As part
of this review, the Manager considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Manager, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the distributions or, issue of
new units as well as the issue of new debts or the redemption
of existing debts.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the group’s business. The group
is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity
investments in other entities and movements in its own equity
share price.

The group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the group to
manage these risks are described below.

25.

26.

IAAREETTIIR)

EXEREE

FEBEBRHEER - AEREEHEER
Bre  WERB(EBRESEMRFEA
ABIEEEFERESEUREATEER
REH - NEEZ BRRERAFE B
EHAR S o

AEBENENEBEBRLHRAS LIRS
EEYNEHFR(BRERMRITER
RENBBMAREEZUERE) UK
AEEESBEUBEARGEEFE(R
RERTESEN - HWREBRENRD
) °

EEATHRFMELRERE - (FREHN—
R BEAZREANRARESEEANE
BER - EREEANERER - A5E
KB BN - BITHESEMREITHE
FBOIREER - FEEBRERNGEE -

TRUEMEE

AERE-REBEETHEEEE - KB
e MXEEERR AEETEER
Hiv B BERENEARFREERZ
EPmELREERRALR

T Xam i 78 = B AT S 0 % F R M AR S
EAAEEZ SRR B EREEBR
RIEHY -
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

(b)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
borrowings issued at variable rates with amount of
RMB30,063,000 (2023: RMB36,524,000). At 31
December 2024, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of one basis point in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would have decreased/
increased the Group’s profit after tax by approximately
RMB226,000 (2023: RMB274,000).

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy in relation to its cash flow interest rate risk
and fair value interest rate risk. However, the Manager
monitors interest rate exposure on an on-going basis and
will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

Foreign currency risk

Certain subsidiaries of China Merchants Commercial
REIT have foreign currency denominated monetary
item, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the Manager monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
currency risk should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets
and monetary liabilities, denominated in currencies other
than RMB at the end of each reporting period are as
follows:

26. TEIERER(F)

(a)

(b)

== = s
REENFREREZRE UES
F B A 18 51 A R #5380,063,0007T
(20234 : A R#36,524,0007T) °
MN2024F12 8318 » EHMEHE
HESTEOBRT  HrrflxL
RN, RS — ARG ERAEE
BBk Bt 1% 0 AR A N 49 A R
226,0007T (20234 : AR ¥274,000
JT) °

ZX%@Eﬁﬁ%jﬁﬂﬁF%ﬁiﬁi/mgﬁj
’R/‘tf S (BRI R E f 2 F| &= b

ﬁ Rifn - BIRAFEERFIERE

B LHRE R S R E A

e
SN LB

RERAXEREESE THEB AR
BLINETHENEBIRE - ©AKHE
[Ep e N SE R

EARISNE SRR R EEAE
ERINER - TEERRTERER

HHEAEREER -

REREIR - KEEAARELSN
MEETIENEBSEEREBAED
BREET :

Assets BE 2024 2023
20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETIT

HK$ BT 3,675 11,102
UsD ETT 2,695 2,641
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk (continued)

26. TRUEREE (&)
(b) SNERBR(AE)

Liabilities aE 2024 2023
20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ET T ARETT

HK$ T - 165,541

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of
exchange rate of the relevant foreign currency against
RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 2%
(2023: 1%) increase and decrease in the relevant foreign
currency against the functional currency of the relevant
group entities. 2% (2023: 1%) represents the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates if currency risk
is to be assessed by key management. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding relevant foreign
currency denominated monetary items. The sensitivity
analysis adjusts their translation at the year end for a 2%
(2023: 1%) change in foreign currency rates. A positive/
negative number below indicates a decrease in post-
tax loss where the relevant foreign currency weakens
by 2% (2023: 1%) against RMB. For a 2% (2023: 1%)
strengthening of the relevant foreign currency against
RMB, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the post-tax loss.

AEEERZEBINELARBES
MBS ©

TR AL B ARINE KA E

EERNNREEENER EART
B¢2%(2023¢ P1%) ZBRRE © 2%
(20234 : %)E‘IEEEMWT
& [ P R P SR AT g S AE Y R PR
BRED ﬁ@@%ﬁﬁmuw\%ﬂﬁ
E’ﬁﬁﬁ%fﬁma I A R I R B R
"""""" BEN2% (20234 : 1%)FARE H i -
TROES R REBBEINES
AR K [E R T PE2% (20234  1%)
BF - BREEEEA TR - BiREINE
HARBRER | F2% (20234 :
1%)6 - SERBEREBREELASER
FHREFE -

HK$ impact B e
USD impact ETTE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETIT
(74) 1,544

(54) (26)

203
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade
receivables, amounts due from related companies, time
deposits and bank balances. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations at the end of the reporting period in relation to
each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying
amounts of these assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Other than concentration of credit risk on amounts due
from related companies, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spreads over
a number of counterparties and customers.

(i) Trade receivables

Trade receivable consists of rental income
receivables from tenants. The Manager monitors
their balances on an ongoing basis. Credit
evaluations are performed by the Manager before
rental agreements are entered into with tenants
or counterparties. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
receivables individually or collectively. In this regard,
the Manager considers that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

The Manager has applied the simplified approach
in IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
Except for credit-impaired tenants which are
assessed individually, the Manager determines
the expected credit losses on these items on a
collective basis.

As part of the credit risk management, the
Manager uses trade receivables’ aging to assess
the impairment because these trade receivables
consist of a large number of small customers with
common risk characteristics that are representative
of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms.

26. TRAEPREIE (&
(c) FERRK

EERBRIERAEERHH T RERET
HENETEHAKEESUHER
MRk - AEBEEERRMOEEH
RE SRR - U R R]50R
ZEHF R R RITAERR - AEEA &
FAEAERRREAMIEEERE - A
e A T REERBNEERR -

HRREMRZHE F REBITRE
MEE  MAKERSHECER TR
BENSANEERRSHIINGE M
BIRARAZEEEMNREE

B e B R R R R E B S AR
S AEBYEEREEEHRAR -
MERDBERZEIHHFRES -

() EBZEWHKE

B2 RYGRBERKES 2
TWA - EEASRKEERES
FEWCKIREN A ER - BIEA RN
MR ZEF I LM E %A
EITEERHE © B ARER
BREMESEEEEN  HEZE
WA TT B Sk SR R MR (E T
o B E - BEEARSANE
B2 EERRE AKRE

EIEACRRBERT RG]
FORE R T APHBTTER
B2 RYGRZENEREES
B EBERE - RELREE
REMNEFETEBNGEI - &
BARSEEEETZFHAN
BEHEEEE -

EREERREEN—IR - B
AERE 5 UG IR AR AR
B R&FESRBFARBEAX
BRAAHBRAREHENNEE
P AIRREFRIE A KRR
AR HAFRIRRIBE S ©
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

26. S RIEREIE (&)

) FERERE)

() Trade receivables (continued) i) EZEIEWFEE)
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on st B = TR IR P TR ]
historical observed default rates over the expected FHANBAEBRENLXRE
life of the tenants and are adjusted for forward- 5t WA EBIE BB LKA
looking information that is available without undue TIBIAT S Ay RTHE M ERHEL 3
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by B BENENTEHREEES
management to ensure relevant information about Bl - AREIRE B ER P aIERE
specific tenant is updated. BRI ES T -
To mitigate the risk of financial loss from default, R KEDNEN 2 M BB KR
tenants of the rental properties are required to pay b - HEWHEZHFERFIE
two months deposits upon entering into leases. The M AME L 2 e - WaEf
Group has the right to offset the deposits against FHixA®  AEEEENEZS
the outstanding receivables should the tenants AR 2 FEURGAIE ©
default rental payments.
Tenants of the rental properties is required to settle HEMENHEPL FEI0ORANLE
the demand note within 30 days. Rental is payable HIEWE - FA - HEATELEX
in advance and interest is charged immediately on 384 - mA B ptA IR e
overdue balance at the rate of 1% per day during HFZ19%BNEFULER o thoh - &
the year. In addition, the Manager is responsible B ABE R T EUREIREE
for follow up action to recover the overdue debt. 1% o BIE AINER E e &8
The Manager also reviews the recoverable amount 18 5l & 5 & W AR 3k 2 7T 1 el &
of each individual trade debtor regularly to ensure 2 BREMEEWE 2 EIERE
that adequate impairment losses are recognised for REHMBEEE - BIEFEHE
irrecoverable debts. Based on the ECL assessment, EEEE - RELE 2024512
impairment losses for trade receivables of AR IEEEEHRRE SR
RMB261,000 had been recognised (2023: reversal RIEREEE AR E261,0007T
of impairment losses of RMB2,484,000) for the year (20234 : JFEBERDARK
ended 31 December 2024, 2,484,0007T) °

(i) Time deposits and bank balances (i) EHFRRBITEE

The Group mainly transacts with banks with high
credit ratings. The credit risk for time deposits
and bank balances is considered as not material
as such amount is placed in reputable banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL on
these balances are by reference to probability of
default and loss given default by credit rating grades
published by international credit rating agencies
and concluded that the expected credit losses
are insignificant and thus no impairment loss has
recognised.

AEETEHESGEEFRDRT
ETR D ° EMERMIRITES
ZIEERBERBBEIEX R
RREZELEFRREERIA
EEREETERBETSEER
AR ZIRTT - ARE TR ERER
EEFNABBLAMNEETNRE
2 BB R RB ER R A%
SHEBM1I2EATEREEER
BT B ATRBEEER
WAEX - I EERRE R

B e
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26.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Time deposits and bank balances (continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

26. S RIEEEIE (&)

) FERRE)
(i) EMFRRBITEERE)
AEERBEERBRAHFEE
EATHER

Trade receivables/ Other financial

Internal credit rating Description contract assets assets/other items
g5 RBERR HitemEE
REBIEE TR S BREE HuiE R
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and  Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
ey RZUFHNENRRAE  TEEBHFE  2HEHEEEE—- 12@AEREEEE
AEBREERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but  Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
usually settle in full not credit-impaired
BRAE BEAKTREPARERETE BRF2H 2HEHEEBE—- 12@AEREEEE
C AEREERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources
A &R EERRBEVRRARBBEABEESING 2HEREEBHE- 2HRBEEEE-
HOREVE K K81 N AEREERE REREERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
B ERBETEECHREERE cHEHEEEE- 2HESBEEEE-
HREERE HBREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtoris  Amount is Amount is
in severe financial difficulty and the Group written off written off
has no realistic prospect of recovery
i/ BEBBRTEBALREAMBRE  MAK FIADME FIED M

B3 8 W [0 SROE RO B R AT
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 26. £REMEIE (&)

(c) Credit risk (continued) (c) EERRE)
(i) Time deposits and bank balances (continued) (i) EHFERRBITEERE)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TR EENSREENE
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ERk - B#ETIEREEEET
ECL assessment: il :

2024 2023
Gross Gross
Credit rating assessed carrying carrying
Notes by management 12m or lifetime ECL amount amount
ERETEN 128 A5 2 HiEH 2024 2023%F
Mt EEFR EEER HREAE FEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETT
Trade receivables 13 Low risk Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 1,508 1,529
B S ENGIA KRR (collective assessment)
PHRBEERE-REREERE
(8ATHE)
Loss Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired 897 1,584
g (individual assessment)

PHEREEBR-LREERE
(fERIF¥(E)

2,405 3,113
Amounts due from related 25  Low risk 12m ECL - 1,042
companies KRR 12EABHEEEE
YN SE
Time deposits 14 AAA 12m ECL 101,072 50,072
EHER AAA 12EARHREEER
Bank balances 14 AAA 12m ECL 986,607 1,079,011

RITER AAA REARBEERR
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 26. & RREMSEIR (&

=]
PN I
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that TREVRESE S RAME FEWFIBRE
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified A EFEH = B AR S
approach:

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
2HEH 2HRH
EEEE FEBE
(RHREE (HREE
HE) HAE) et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AR%ETR ARMET T
As at 1 January 2023 720231 A18 70 4,857 4,927
Changes due to financial R2023F1F1BHER SR
instruments recognised TEMES) :
as at 1 January 2023:
Impairment losses recognised ~ HER R EE 1B 13 8 21
Impairment losses reversed BEE B (53) (2,452) (2,509)
Write-offs i - (829) (829)
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12H31H 30 1,584 1,614
Changes due to financial R2024F1 A1 BER S E
instruments recognised T EME
as at 1 January 2024:
Impairment losses recognised R EE TR 955 - 955
Impairment losses reversed B 5 18 (7) (687) (694)
Write-offs b (943) - (943)
As at 31 December 2024 72024F12 A31H 35 897 932
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
and its relationship with finance providers, to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities, which has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. The undiscounted amount is calculated

26. TRIEREE(E)
(d) FREBELERE

AEENBREEHESRERDESR
FR - BTHERBNBEANERE
et 2 RMRER - UHREERR
BT -

TRAMAEEARELIFTETESR
BENFBREOIER - HERIRE
REBE A ERNFTNRT BHPNE
BB RURRESBEFTESL -
Tﬁ@*ﬁ%”«%&i‘@iﬁiumi ﬂiaﬁ
REMIHERNREHARNER MR

s
= o
Ean

209

based on effective interest rate at the end of the reporting

period.
Weighted Within 1 Total
average year or undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  on demand 1-2years 2-5years cash flows amount
—ER AEBRE
il S=VIES HREX 1228 2255 REER HEfE
% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTR ARETR ARETTR ARETT ARETTR
2024 2004%
Trade and other payables g5 &HWEH?AIE - 182,647 - - 182,647 182,647
Amounts due to related companies  JER BB a3 - 147,130 - - 147,130 147,130
Amounts due to non-controling  JEFT £ Tféi?&
interests - 18,748 - - 18,748 18,748
Distrioution payable EADE - 49,168 - - 49,168 49,168
Bank borrowings RTER 320 1840562 2422447 - 4263009 4,086,113
2238255 2,420,447 - 4660702 4,483,806
2023 2023%
Trade and other payables B RAMERNE - 107,086 2,334 4753 114,153 114,153
Amounts due to related companies  ERERE A FIZUE - 145579 - - 145579 145579
Amounts due to non-controllng BN IRERFUR
interests - 19,754 - - 19,754 19,754
Distribution payable EADE - 45,541 - - 45,541 45,541
Bank borrowings BIAER 3.18 128,929 128,929 4,182,663 4,440,511 4,053,724
446,869 131,263 4,187,406 4,765,638 4,378,751
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

The fair values of the financial assets and financial
liabilities have been determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on a
discounted cash flow analysis.

The Manager considers that the carrying amounts of
the financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

27. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS
COMMERCIAL REIT

At the end of reporting period, China Merchants Commercial
REIT has direct and indirect shareholdings/equity interests in
the followings subsidiaries:

26. TRIEREE (&)
) SMIEZAREENE

TREELRERBENQABETIR
BERERREREDTOAREE
BEEE

%iiAu/u;% u\féﬁﬁﬁﬁz’xnaﬁﬁ/\i"fm
I HRERNERMEERSHAENER
EEEEQLBERS

7. BERRERTES 2 ETEN
BARFE

RFERR - FARBREEESRNUT

Bﬁ

>

BLRREREEREERERARE

Particulars of
Place of Place of issued and Attributable equity Principal
Name of subsidiaries Notes incorporation operation paid up capital  interest held by the Company  activities
BETRER
L PEE2: lif MR BERY ERE FATBENELERAES  TEER
2024 2023
0245 A%
% %
Directly held:
EERE
Treasure Supreme International Limited @ BVI Hong Kong USD1 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
EERREE Bk 1% AR
Indlrectly held:
FERE
Frontier Shekou Gommercial (@) BVI Hong Kong USD1 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
Holdings Limited ERRAEE (35 %7 RERK
Shekou Times Limited (@) BVI Hong Kong USD1 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
EERAEE Bk 1% REER
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 7. B RABEERES 2T EM
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS BATEIE(E)
COMMERCIAL REIT (continued)
Particulars of
Place of Place of issued and Attributable equity Principal
Name of subsidiaries Notes incorporation operation paid up capital  interest held by the Company  activities
BRARAR
KEARZR i3 AmRIHE EEHY ERiHE FRRGENELRAEE  TEER
2024 2023
N24F 203F
% %
Indlrectly held: (continued)
BERE  (8)
Shekou Garden City Limited (@ BVI Hong Kong USD1 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
EBRUES B B3 RERR
Shekou Net Valley Technology Limited (a) BVI Hong Kong USD1 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
EBRUES B B3 RERR
Shekou Net Valley Technology 2 Limited (g BVI Hong Kong USD1 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
EBRUES B B3 RERR
Shekou Net Valley Garden City Cyberport (g BVI Hong Kong USD1 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
Limited ZBRAES Bk E3 RERR
Shekou Times (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong RMB 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
$OHER(BE)ERAT B B ARBIT RERR
Shekou Garden City (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong RMB 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
$OEEN(BE)ERAT B B ARBIT RERR
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27. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 2. R R EEAE S 2T EMN
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS BRGNS (E)

COMMERCIAL REIT (continued)

Particulars of

Place of Place of issued and Attributable equity Principal

Name of subsidiaries Notes incorporation operation paid up capital  interest held by the Company  activities
BERAR

HEARLR Wit ARKIEE EENY BRGHE FRRGENELRAER  TERE

2024 2023
045 NBE
% %

Indlrectly held: (continued)
BERE (8

Shekou Net Valley Technology Hong Kong Hong Kong RMB 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited B B AR RARR
LORAMR(ER)BRRA
Shekou Net Valley Technology 2 Hong Kong Hong Kong RMB 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited B B AR RARR
LRAARRCE(BR)BRAR
Shekou Net Valley Garden City Cyberport Hong Kong Hong Kong RMB1 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited B B AREIT RARR
RORATENEE(ER)ARART
MImEONEREZERERAT b) ThePRC  Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 100.00 100.00  Investment properties
hE RERE  ARE2,0000007 holding
HERENE
R RN EZERAREM LA (b) ThePRC  Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 100.00 100,00 Investment properties
hE mERE  AKE2,000,0007 holding
HERENE
RITHAEEERER DA (b) ThePRG  Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 100.00 100.00  Investment properties
hE mERE  AKS2,000,0007 holding

RERENE
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. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 2. R R EEAES 2T EMN
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS BATE(E)

COMMERCIAL REIT (continued)

Particulars of

Place of Place of issued and Attributable equity Principal

Name of subsidiaries Notes incorporation operation paid up capital interest held by the Company  activities
BEARAR

KEAREZRE it ARKIEE EENY ERiHE FRRGENELRAREE  TEER

2024 2023
045 N0F
% %

Indlrectly held: (continued)
BERE (8

RITHA—HELERERAA) (b) ThePRC  Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 100.00 100.00 Investment properties
HE mERE  AK$2,0000007 holding
RERENZ
MITEEAREXRRAR (b) ThePRG  Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 100.00 10000 Investment properties
HE mERE  AR$2,0000007 holding
RERENZ
SA Venice | Cayman lslands Hong Kong USD1 51.00 51,00  Investment holding
REHS (30 E3 REBR
SA Venice Il Cayman lslands Hong Kong USD1 51.00 51,00 Investment holding
REHS (30 E3 REBR
Vast Joint Limited (a) BVI Hong Kong USD1 51.00 51,00 Investment holding

RBRAES 3 B3 L
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27. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF CHINA MERCHANTS
COMMERCIAL REIT (continued)

BAFEEREETZEEW

2z%ﬁn
INGIEES A=)

E/

Particulars of
Place of Place of issued and Attributable equity Principal
Name of subsidiaries Notes incorporation operation paid up capital  interest held by the Company  activities
BERAR
HEARLR it RIS EENY BRGHE FRRGENELRAER  TERE
2024 2023
0245 A23F
% %
Indlrectly held: (continued)
FiHE - ()
EREEEE(LR)ERAA (d) Hong Kong Hong Kong HKD1,000,000 40.80 40,80 Investment holding
B B 1,000,007 RERR
Ming Yuan Property (Hua Bej) Corporation  (c)é(e) Panama Hong Kong 1SD20,000 45.90 4590 Investment holding
BEY B 20,000%7 REBR
REBMENERLERAT (b)é() ThePRC  Chinese Mainland ~ USD66,000,000 46.41 4641 Investment properties
hE RERE 66,000,005 holding
HERENE

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year.

Notes:
(@  These entities are limited liability companies established in the PRC.

by BEEEMEZE(LR)AMRAAF is held under SA Venice | by 80.00%
with effective shareholdings/equity interests attributable to the Group of
40.80%.

(c) Ming Yuan Property (Hua Bei) Corporation is held under SA Venice | by
90.00% with effective shareholdings/equity interests attributable to the
Group of 45.90%.

d HEERMEREFLHERRA A s held under SA Venice | by 91.00%
with effective shareholdings/equity interests attributable to the Group of
46.41%.

RAERR - S WHBA AR TEAES
&% -

Mzt
@ HEERAETEKINEREEAR -

(o) SAVenice IFFEBABERMEXULR)BRAA
80.00% 1 z= 1M A~ & [ # & 40.80% & £ ik
1/ B AHERS

(©  SA Venice | £ 5 Ming Yuan Property (Hua Bei)
Corporation 90.00% # z= + il A & B # B
45.90% B R R AN -

(d SAVenice |BERBERMEREFLERA
F191.00% 2 « A% B H46.41% R IR
7/ B A HERS
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DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED B.HEEEAFERERZHFEE
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL EEPNGIEA
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned TRV A EAFEIER R 2 RNEFIE
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling 2 EWBATIFE -
interests:
Proportion of
Place and date ownership interests and
of incorporation/ voting rights held by (Loss)/profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiaries establishment non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
e/ FERERIEN PEE gt
KEARZRE RABER A FrEERERRATRLA FERERN (BB % FERER
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 2023%F 224 2003%F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T NEETT ARETT ARBTT
SAVenice I Cayman Islands 49% 49% 4,802 (24,087) 1,268,462 1,291,051
REHS

Non-wholly owned subsidiary
of SA Venice |
SA Venice |2 k2 BB LA

PEBMENERLERAT  ThePRC 9% 9% 2,516 7,806 244,380 242,364
i
Ming Yuan Property (HuaBe) ~ Panama 10% 10% (654) (501) (32,146) (31,492)
Corporation* EeE
BEEREX(LR)BRAF  HongKong 20% 20% (240) 290) (19,633) (13,764)
B
6,424 (17,072) 1,461,563 1,488,659

I 2020292922 °2 BaSaSaSaSaSaSaSaaaaa_a__S °2°2°2°9°2° S 9209090909000

* excluding non-controlling interests of SA Venice I's subsidiaries o TEFESA Venice IMTB A B FEEARHERS

# excluding non-controlling interests of SA Venice | # TBIESA Venice |HFE1E R RS
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28.

DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

e M BHRRMEE

SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL T
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is
set out below. The summarised financial information below

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

SA Venice | and subsidiaries

SA Venice IRHiB A T

BFRASERAEAFER S FEE
MBARZMEERREEHINMNT « AT
AR EZ2NREBAEHATZ S8

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R AREETT
Current assets MENVEE 426,390 451,832
Non-current assets IEMBEE 2,482,279 2,584,320
Current liabilities wEBE (188,936) (225,825)
Non-current liabilities EREARE (545,197) (613,694)
Equity attributable to owners of the NARIHER AEIL R
Company 712,973 707,974
Non-controlling interests of SA Venice | S A Venice |2 FE1E& 7 1,268,462 1,291,551
Non-controlling interests of SA Venice I's  SA Venice IMi /&8~ &)~ FE1 8%
subsidiaries pr 3y 193,101 197,108
Revenue Wz 121,711 116,315
Expenses A (110,288) (148,540)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FERER (B8 ) R 2 mEWR
income for the year 1aEE 11,423 (32,225)
Loss attributable to owners of RABGEAR AELEE
the Company 4,999 (15,153)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling SA Venice |2 JEFERE RS FE(L
interests of SA Venice | E518 4,802 (24,087)
Profit attributable to the non-controlling SA Venice I /@A 52 FJE15R%
interests of SA Venice I's subsidiaries FERS R R A 1,622 7,015
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FREF (BB REEKE
income for the year ek 11,423 (32,225)
Net cash inflow from operating activities KRR FTRIR S AT 73,107 70,162
Net cash outflow from investing activities & EEFFSIR SR L 58 41 (15,634)
Net cash outflow from financing activities @& )EBFTISIR &7 L5558 (102,726) (26,000)
Cash (outflow)/inflow Ba(rd),/mA (29,578) 28,528

L
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29. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following which
may be relevant to the group.

Lack of Exchangeability — Amendments to IAS 21
R AT R — B R ERIE215RER] A

Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
— Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7
SRTEDE RS — BB H R & 2R F 955 & B B 753 &

Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

BIFR e S R & e R 2 FECE — 111

IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

BRI IS S XERI 18R - B R 2 25 R

IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures
BIFR B TSRS 2ERIZE105% « IERARZTAEENMB AR : #EE

Sales or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

Associate or Joint Venture — Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

REFHREBENARAECEZANEELEITE - BRMKRE

F10R R BB 2 2R ZE285R £ ] A

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial Statements.

HERIETHRIEETR

HEZSHBHRRTIEBE S
NEEBMZEF ] SIS THER] - %
ZEFTREE2024512 A31 B IEFE A
£ B ARZEMBREPERA - A
N AR REEAEEAEENZEER

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after
RT3 B Eisk 2 & BRE &
ETHARMIAERK

1 January 2025
2025%1 A1H

1 January 2026
202651 H1H

1 January 2026
202651 H1H

1 January 2027
202751 A18

1 January 2027
202751 A18

Available for optional
adoption/effective date
deferred indefinitely

ZE8| AR IR, A
R AR

AEBEEFEZFEREBERERBHE
BHEL 2FE - REBRAKER SRR
ZERRIAM GG EMBHRRERE

B/ aR
R E -

217
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PERFORMANCE TABLE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 2023%F 20205 20214 20204
As at 31 December: R12A31R :
He BB AREE
Net assets attributable to Unitholders  &E/%(E
(RMB million) (AE%EET) 3,096 3,392 3,659 4,007 3,910
Hp BfisE A RS
b
Net assets per unit attributable to FhEEFE
Unitholders (RMB) (AR®T) 2.75 3.01 3.24 3.55 3.47
(Equivalent to HK$) (e 2.97 3.32 3.63 4.34 412
Gearing ratio BEARX 40.5% 39.0% 37.4% 29.2% 27.9%
Market capitalisation’ (HK$ million) ~ /&' (AE#T) 1,376 1,511 2,244 2,944 2,763
Units issued BEIEGEN 1,127,819,549 1,127,819,549  1,127,819,549  1,127,819,649  1,127,819,549
|
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 2023% 2022 20215 2020F
For the year ended 31 December: ZZ12A31ALEE :
Highest traded unit price (HK$) EEKRER(ET) 1.38 2.26 2.96 3.04 3.36
Highest premium of the traded unit  F X BEEGES B
price to the net asset value per BEFEZS2HE
unit? - - - - -
Lowest traded unit price (HK$) FENREE(ET) 0.96 1.20 1.63 2.37 2.03
Highest discount of the traded unit i BEREGES Bfr
price to the net asset value per unit  BEFEZ HEiTE 46.5% 63.9% 55.1% 45.5% 50.7%
FEESENDK
Annualised distrioution per unit yielo® Yz &3 9.2% 6.9% 7.0% 7.1% 7.0%
|
Notes: Hiaz -
1. Market capitalisation is calculated based on the closing unit price of the period 1. MERHHAESEMNTERAPREETESEM

times the unit outstanding as at the end of the period.

2. The highest traded unit price is lower than the net asset value per unit
attributable to unitholders. Accordingly, premium of the traded unit price to the
net asset value per unit has not been recorded.

3 The annualised net yield per unit is calculated based on the total distributable
income per unit for the period and the closing unit price as at the end of each
period.

BEHE -

2. EBERREBEEERESBUFAEARGESESEMZ
BEFE Bt TESSRREERGESENE
EFEZEE -

3. HFEBESEMFREREANSHRSESEMAH
DR ABF SRR S ERLR M (ERTE o
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

THE MANAGER

China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited
22ND FLOOR,

308 CENTRAL DES VOEUX,

NO. 308 DES VOEUX ROAD CENTRAL,

HONG KONG

Tel: (852) 3976 5300

BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE MANAGER

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Zhiliang (Chairman)(appointed on 06 August 2024)
Mr. Li Yao

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Jin
Mr. Zhong Ning

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Chen
Ms. Wong Yuan Chin, Tzena
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund

RESPONSIBLE OFFICERS OF THE MANAGER

Mr. Guo Jin

Mr. Zhong Ning

Mr. Choo Chong Yao, Patrick
Mr. Zhang Zhe

COMPANY SECRETARY OF THE MANAGER

Victon Secretarial Services Limited

AUDITOR

KPMG
Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the
Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

NEEF

&EIE A
BREREMEERRAT
BB

=8+ 30855
=28+ 3085%

2212

B 5 (852) 3976 5300
EBEACESS

FHITES

FRER L (L /E)(FR2024F8 H6 HEZ L)
AT

HITES

ES e

BYFHTES
HRIEE

BRELL
E{RIRLEE
BEAZBEAE

S
BRI
SRifZEsL
S p
EEAZRAWE
R ERBERA

R EREM

ESE Gt S
RCEF R EERBIEG) TEEM AR &=
BERZEED
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INTERNAL AUDITOR
Ms. Chen Yan

TRUSTEE
DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited

PRINCIPAL VALUER
Knight Frank Petty Limited

LEGAL ADVISORS
Baker & McKenzie

UNIT REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Ltd.
17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road,

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
01503

WEBSITE

WWww.cmcreit.com

WHISTLE-BLOWING

https://www.cmcreit.com/en/contact_whistle.php

AR T EM
BRA#L
ZEEA
EESER(EE)BRAF
I%IL‘:\{EEETI]-
HOTRIERITAR AR
R

Ao o BRI RAMEHA
BEEBEUERTRE
BERSFERARAR
BB

ERE165%
ERERIAPOT7IE

R ALSR
01503

Ak
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